Induced representations of the modular group $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and the transfer operator for its subgroups of finite index

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Naturwissenschaften

> vorgelegt von Arash Momeni aus Abadan/Iran

genehmigt von der Fakultät für Natur- und Materialwissenschaften der Technischen Universität Clausthal

Tag der mündlischen Prüfung 30.07.2014

Vorsitzender der Promotionskommission: Prof. Dr. Peter Blöchl Hauptberichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Dieter Mayer Berichterstatter: Prof. Morten S. Risager

Abstract

In the transfer operator approach to Selberg's zeta function for a subgroup Γ of finite index in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) and character χ the space $F(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of eigenfunctions of the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ for the eigenvalue 1 with certain asymptotics at zero is in bijection with the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma, \chi)$ of Maass cusp forms of Γ and χ respectively the space $\mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of period functions of Lewis and Zagier. Selberg's zeta function $Z(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ gets thereby expressed in terms of the Fredholm determinant of $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$. We extend this approach to the case χ an arbitrary unitary representation of Γ . We show that also the symmetries of the transfer operator with unitary representation can be related to the automorphisms of the corresponding Maass cusp forms.

According to the Jacquet-Langlands correspondence the space $S(s; \mathcal{O}_n)$ of Maass cusp forms for \mathcal{O}_n , the unit group of an indefinite quaternion devision algebra of discriminant n, is in bijection with the space $S^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ of new forms for the Hecke congruence group $\Gamma_0(n)$, when n is square free and a product of an even number of primes. The expectation, that the restriction of the transfer operator to the corresponding subspace $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ of the eigenfunctions, coincides with this operator corresponding to one of the irreducible components of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ is not true as we show in the case $\Gamma_0(6)$.

By a result of Millington, the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ of $\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ appearing in the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and induced from the trivial representation of $\Gamma_0(n)$, can be identified with a permutation representation of the finite group $Q(n) = \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(n)$ with $H(n) = \ker U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$. By applying results of the theory of finite groups it follows that for coprime n and m, $U_{\Gamma_0(nm)} = U_{\Gamma_0(n)} \otimes U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$ and for p prime $U_{\Gamma_0(p)} \cong U_t \oplus U_p$ where U_t is the trivial 1-dim. representation and U_p is a certain p-dimensional irreducible representation of $\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. This leads to a decomposition of the transfer operator and the space of its eigenfunctions. In the special case n = 6 the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ contains the irreducible representation $U_2 \otimes U_3$, which characterizes a subspace of $F(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ describing a mixture of old and new eigenfunctions including the space $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$. In the case of the principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(2)$ the induced representation $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ on the other hand contains a 1-dim. subrepresentation U_{sgn} characterizing exactly the space $F^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$.

Finally it is proved, that a character χ on Γ is congruence iff the representation ρ_{χ} of PSL(2, Z) induced from χ is congruence. Applying this to the representation $\rho_{\chi_{\alpha}}$ induced from Selberg's family of characters χ_{α} , for $\Gamma_0(4)$, yields besides the α -values for which χ_{α} is congruence, also certain non-congruence subgroups to which Zograf's criterion can not be applied.

Acknowledgement

I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Dieter Mayer for giving me the opportunity to start my PhD studies in his institute, also for his useful hints during my research work, and for his valuable critiques of the thesis.

I would like to thank my coadviser Professor Alexei Venkov for his patient guidance and enthusiastic encouragement, also for providing me the opportunity to visit "Centre for Quantum Geometry of Moduli Spaces" in Aarhus several times which was very important for my education and research work.

I would like to thank Professor Morten Risager for his refree report and his remarks improving the text.

I wish to express my gratitude to "Centre for Quantum Geometry of Moduli Spaces" for kind hospitality and providing good working conditions and also for partly financial support of this work.

Last not least, I would like to offer my special thanks to my wife Farzaneh Fattahi for her patience and support during my PhD studies.

Contents

Chapte	er 1. Introduction	1
Chapte	er 2. Spectral theory of automorphic functions	15
2.1.	The hyperbolic plane and its isometries	15
2.2.	Fuchsian groups	16
2.3.	Spectral decomposition of the automorphic Laplacian	17
2.4.	Selberg's trace formula	22
2.5.	Selberg's zeta function	23
Chapter 3. Mayer's Transfer operator approach to the spectral		
	theory of automorphic functions	27
3.1.	Mayer's transfer operator	27
3.2.	The Lewis-Zagier correspondence	31
3.3.	Eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator	40
3.4.	Automorphisms of periodlike functions	45
Chapte	er 4. Induced representations of the projective modular	
	group	53
4.1.	Preliminaries	53
4.2.	The representations of the projective modular group	
	induced from the Hecke congruence subgroups with trivia	1
	character	60
4.3.	Tensor products of induced representations	63
4.4.	Subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$	65
4.5.	Irreducible decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$	67
4.6.	Number of irreducibles in the induced representation	71
4.7.	Multiplicity-free property of induced representations	93
Chapte	er 5. Atkin-Lehner type theory of old and new	
Chapte	eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator	99
5.1.	Decomposition of Mayer's transfer operator and Atkin-	00
0.1.	Lehner theory	99
5.2.	Decomposition of Mayer's transfer operator for $\Gamma_0(6)$	102
5.2.	The space of new eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer	102
0.0.	operator for $\Gamma(2)$	113
	- ()	
Chapter 6. Congruence properties of the induced representation		
6.1.	Congruence representations, Selberg's character and its	
	induction to $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$	125

CONTENTS

6.3.	The kernel of the induced representation U_{α} Determination of the α -values for U_{α} to be congruent Zograf's criterion	$128 \\ 134 \\ 137$
Bibliog	0	139

VIII

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

In the theory of quantum chaos the main problems are to quantize chaotic classical Hamiltonian systems in analogy to the Bohr, Sommerfeld, Einstein, Keller, Maslov (BSEKM) semiclassical quantization of completely integrable systems and to find some connections between the classical and quantum descriptions of such systems (see [2] and the references there).

The motion of a free particle on a surface of constant negative curvature of the form $\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{H}$, \mathbb{H} the Poincaré upper half-plane and Γ a Fuchsian group of the first kind, is a highly chaotic classical dynamical system [21] which is described by the geodesic flow on the unit tangent bundle of the surface, that is,

(1.1)
$$\phi_t : S(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{H}) \to S(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{H}).$$

Selberg's zeta function and Selberg's trace formula, which are well known tools in the "spectral theory of automorphic functions", provide partial answers to these questions of quantum chaos for the aforementioned system [30]. Later, Mayer developed another approach to the theory of quantum chaos on the modular surface via his transfer operator which is assigned to the geodesic flow (1.1) for Γ a finite index subgroup of the projective modular group [32, 12].

The quantum description of a free particle on the quotient surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ with a unitary representation χ of Γ is mathematically closely related to the "spectral theory of automorphic functions" which originated in the work of Selberg (see [57] and the references there). In this theory, the discontinuous action of Γ on \mathbb{H} leads to automorphic functions and operators on \mathbb{H} defined through their transformation properties under the action of Γ .

The automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$, acting on the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ of automorphic functions with respect to Γ and χ and square integrable on \mathbb{H} , has in the regular case (see Definition 2.4) a continuous and maybe a discrete spectrum [**57**, **16**]. The continuous part of the spectrum is described by the Eisenstein series, automorphic eigenfunctions of the Laplacian on $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ not belonging to the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$, which are the scattering states of the system [**57**, **55**]. Part of the discrete spectrum is described by the Maass cusp forms, which are the solutions in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ of the Schrödinger equation

1. INTRODUCTION

on $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$

(1.2)
$$\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)\mathfrak{f} = s(1-s)\mathfrak{f},$$

and vanish exponentially fast at each open cusp (see Definition 2.2) of the surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$. For such solutions the spectral parameters *s* define a discrete set of points lying on the line $\Re(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ and may be on the segment $[\frac{1}{2}, 1)$ [57, 28, 23]. In addition to this, the discrete spectrum of the automorphic Laplacian can contain finitely many other points $\lambda = s(1-s)$ for which the spectral parameter *s* is a pole of an Eisenstein series in the interval $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$. The residue of the Eisenstein series at this pole *s* is an eigenfunction of $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ in the Hilbert space with eigenvalue s(1-s). The eigenfunctions of $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ in the Hilbert space are often called Maass wave forms [57, 23], which describe the bound states of the system.

On the other hand, Selberg's trace formula relates the spectrum of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ to the geometry of the surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$. More precisely, Selberg's trace formula is an identity, which for certain test functions h (see [57] and the references there) has the form

(1.3)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h(\lambda_k) + C = I + H + E + P$$

where the λ_k 's are the eigenvalues of $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ and C denotes the explicitly known contribution of the continuous spectrum. The terms I, H, E, and P denote the explicitly known contributions of the identity element, the hyperbolic conjugacy classes, the elliptic conjugacy classes, and the parabolic conjugacy classes, respectively (see theorem 2.3).

Selberg's zeta function for Γ and χ is defined in the domain $\Re(s) > 1$ by an absolutely convergent infinite product given by ([49], see also [57])

(1.4)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \prod_{\{\gamma\}_{\Gamma}} \det(1_V - \chi(\gamma)\mathcal{N}(\gamma)^{-k-s})$$

where $\{\gamma\}$ runs over all primitive hyperbolic conjugacy classes of Γ , $\mathcal{N}(\gamma) > 1$ denotes the norm of γ and 1_V denotes the identity operator on the representation space of χ . A part of the nontrivial zeros of Selberg's zeta function coincides with the spectral parameters of the Maass wave forms and hence yields the quantized energy levels $\lambda = s(1-s)$ of a free particle on $\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{H}$.

Coming back to the chaotic classical Hamiltonian system in (1.1), it is known that there is a one to one correspondence between the primitive hyperbolic conjugacy classes γ of Γ of norm $\mathcal{N}(\gamma)$ and the prime periodic orbits γ_{ϕ} of ϕ_t of period $l(\gamma_{\phi})$ where $\mathcal{N}(\gamma) = \exp(l(\gamma_{\phi}))$ (see [6], Chapter 6 and references there). Therefore, Selberg's zeta function can be written in terms of the length spectrum of the closed

 $\mathbf{2}$

orbits of the geodesic flow, that is,

(1.5)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \prod_{\gamma_{\phi}} \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \det \left[1_V - \chi(g_{\gamma_{\phi}}) \exp(-(s+k)l(\gamma_{\phi})) \right],$$

where γ_{ϕ} is a periodic orbit of the geodesic flow ϕ_t of prime period $l(\gamma_{\phi})$ and $g_{\gamma_{\phi}} \in \Gamma$ is an hyperbolic element with $g_{\gamma_{\phi}}\gamma_{\phi} = \gamma_{\phi}$ [14]. Hence, in this classical context Selberg's zeta function can be interpreted as a dynamical zeta function of the classical dynamical system described by the geodesic flow in (1.1). Hence, Selberg's zeta function connects the quantum spectrum of the system (nontrivial zeros) to the length spectrum of ϕ_t which is a classical object and therefore this function can be considered as some kind of quantization procedure for this chaotic system analogous to the BSEKM (Bohr, Sommerfeld, Einstein, Keller, Maslov) quantization of integrable Hamiltonian systems [30].

The contribution of the hyperbolic classes in the right hand side of Selberg's trace formula can be written for a certain test function and some regularization as the logarithmic derivative of Selberg's zeta function (see [57], Chapter 7). Selberg's trace formula hence connects also the eigenvalues of the Laplacian and the length spectrum of ϕ_t [30].

In [32], D. Mayer introduced a new dynamical approach to Selberg's zeta function for the projective modular group $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ by applying the transfer operator method of the thermodynamic formalism in the theory of dynamical system, which has its roots in classical statistical mechanics (see [6], Chapter 7 and [47]). Thereby one tries to express the Ruelle dynamical zeta function

(1.6)
$$\zeta(z) = \exp(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^m}{m} \sum_{x \in Fix\tau^m} \prod_{k=0}^{m-1} g(\tau^k x))$$

for a weighted dynamical system $\tau : M \to M$ with weight function $g: M \to \mathbb{R}$, where $Fix \tau^m$ is the set of fixed points of τ^m , in terms of the Fredholm determinant of the Ruelle transfer operator \mathcal{L} defined by

(1.7)
$$(\mathcal{L}f)(x) = \sum_{y \in \tau^{-1}\{x\}} g(y)f(y)$$

and acting on functions on M. This way the spectral properties of the transfer operator could yield, among other things, results on the analytic properties of the dynamical zeta function and also some information about ergodic properties of the dynamical system $\tau: M \to M$.

It turns out that this idea works very well for the geodesic flow on the surfaces of constant negative curvature. In the case of the geodesic flow on the modular surface

(1.8)
$$\phi_t : S(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash \mathbb{H}) \to S(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\backslash \mathbb{H}),$$

1. INTRODUCTION

D. Mayer considers Ruelle's transfer operator for the Poincaré map on a certain Poincaré section of the unit tangent bundle $S(\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\setminus\mathbb{H})$ and the weight function $g(x) = x^{2s}$, which for $\Re(s) > \frac{1}{2}$ is explicitly given by [32]

(1.9)
$$\widetilde{\mathcal{L}}_s := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{L}_s \\ \mathcal{L}_s & 0 \end{pmatrix} : B(D) \oplus B(D) \to B(D) \oplus B(D)$$

with

(1.10)
$$\mathcal{L}_s f(\zeta) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{\zeta+n})^{2s} f(\frac{1}{\zeta+n}),$$

where B(D) denotes the Banach space of holomorphic functions on the disc

(1.11)
$$D = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z - 1| < \frac{3}{2} \right\}$$

and continuous on the closure of D. This operator turns out to be trace class and it extends to a meromorphic family of operators on the entire complex s-plane [**32**]. Selberg's zeta function Z(s) for the modular group is expressed in terms of the Fredholm determinant of the transfer operator \mathcal{L}_s [**32**] as

(1.12)
$$Z(s) = \det(1 - \mathcal{L}_s) = \det(1 - \mathcal{L}_s) \det(1 + \mathcal{L}_s),$$

where the determinant is defined in the sense of Grothendieck (see [6], page 218). Therefore, the s-values for which \mathcal{L}_s has an eigenfunction $f \in B(D)$ with eigenvalues $\lambda = \pm 1$,

(1.13)
$$\mathcal{L}_s f(z) = \pm f(z), \quad f \in B(D),$$

determine the zeros of Z(s). Hence condition (1.13), which is related to the classical system of the geodesic flow, determines the spectral parameters for the Maass forms, that is, the quantization of the energy levels of the system.

In addition to this, the eigenfunctions $f \in B(D)$ in (1.13) for the spectral parameters s are directly related to the corresponding Maass forms. This is a consequence of the Lewis-Zagier theory of period functions [29]. By definition, a period function $\psi : \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0] \to \mathbb{C}$ is a solution of the functional equation

(1.14)
$$\psi(\zeta) - \psi(\zeta+1) \mp (\zeta+1)^{-2s} \psi(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) = 0$$

which in the case of Maass cusp forms fulfils the asymptotics $\psi(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{1,2\Re(s)\}})$ as $\zeta \downarrow 0$ and $\psi(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{0,2\Re(s)-1\}})$ as $\zeta \to \infty$, where the limits are taken along the real axis. It is known, that there is a one to one correspondence between Maass cusp forms with spectral parameter s and the period functions ψ_s in (1.14).

4

1. INTRODUCTION

The Lewis-Zagier theory of period functions can be extended to the space of all automorphic eigenfunctions of the Laplacian with polynomial growth at infinity ([29], Chapter III, page 226). This is the space spanned by Maass wave forms and Eisenstein series. The solutions of the functional equation (1.14) corresponding to automorphic eigenfunctions of the Laplacian not belonging to the Hilbert space are called periodlike functions. Moreover, the period(like) function ψ_s is given in terms of an integral transform of the corresponding Maass cusp form u,

(1.15)
$$(\mathcal{I}u)(\zeta) := \int_{L_{0,\infty}} \eta(u, R^s_{\zeta})(z),$$

where $R_{\zeta}(z) = \frac{y}{(\zeta - x)^2 + y^2}$ with z = x + iy is the hyperbolic Poisson kernel, η is an explicitly known closed 1-form (see (3.47)) and $L_{0,\infty}$ denotes a path homotopic to the path from zero to infinity along the imaginary axis.

For the group $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ there is one Eisenstein series E(s, z) which has a pole at s = 1 with the constant function as its residue. In [12], by using this integral transformation it is shown that the constant function corresponds to the period function $\psi(\zeta) = \frac{1}{\zeta}$ and also the periodlike function corresponding to the Eisenstein series E(s, z) is given explicitly.

On the other hand, for the spectral parameters s of the Maass cusp forms the eigenfunctions $f \in B(D)$ in (1.13) are in bijection with the period functions in (1.14). Indeed, for a period function $\psi(\zeta)$, the function $f(\zeta) = \psi(\zeta + 1)$ restricted to D is an eigenfunction of Mayer's transfer operator \mathcal{L}_s in B(D) with eigenvalues ± 1 and vice versa.

This way the transfer operator describes a classical correspondence for the eigenvalues and eigenfunctions of the Laplacian and hence yields in principle a full description of the quantum behaviour of this classical system of a free particle. In the more general case of subgroups of finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ with some representation, the transfer operator approach has lead to other usefull results in the spectral theory of automorphic functions. For example for the Hecke congruence subgroups $\Gamma_0(n)$ with the trivial representation it lead to a new proof of the Venkov-Zograf factorization of Selberg's zeta function [14], or allowed to calculate Selberg's zeta function numerically [18], which has recently also been applied to the Phillips-Sarnak conjecture on the existence of Maass cusp forms for arbitrary cofinite groups [41].

To formulate the problems we consider in this thesis, we need some further notations. For a subgroup Γ of finite index μ in the projective modular group with a unitary representation χ of Γ , Mayer's transfer operator is defined by [14]

(1.16)
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,+} \\ \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,-} & 0 \end{pmatrix} : \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2\mu \dim \chi} B(D) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2\mu \dim \chi} B(D),$$

with $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm}$ given in the domain $\Re(s) > 1/2$ by

(1.17)
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm} : \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D)$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm} f(\zeta) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{\zeta+n})^{2s} \rho_{\chi}(ST^{\pm n}) f(\frac{1}{\zeta+n})$$

where ρ_{χ} is the representation of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ induced from χ . Selberg's zeta function for Γ and representation χ has a determinant expression in terms of this transfer operator [14] as

(1.18)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \det(1_{V\oplus V} - \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}),$$

where the determinant is defined in the sense of Grothendieck (see [6], page 218) and $1_{V\oplus V}$ is the identity operator on $V \oplus V$ with V the representation space of χ .

For a symmetry operator $P: V \to V$ with $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+} = \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,-}P$ and $P^2 = id_V$, Selberg's zeta function $Z(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ in (1.18) can be written as

(1.19)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \det(1_V - P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}) \det(1_V + P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}).$$

We extend the notion of the Lewis-Zagier period functions to a subgroup Γ of finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and a unitary representation χ of Γ from [15]. The period functions $\psi : \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0] \to V$ for Γ and χ are the holomorphic solutions of the functional equation

(1.20)
$$\psi(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\psi(\zeta+1) - (\zeta+1)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(STS)\psi(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) = 0$$

whose components ψ_i fulfil the asymptotics $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{1,2\Re(s)\}})$ as $\zeta \downarrow 0$ and $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{0,2\Re(s)-1\}})$ as $\zeta \to \infty$, where the limits are taken along the real axis (see Definition 3.6). We denote the space of these period functions by $\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$. Then we show that this space is in bijection with the space $F(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ of eigenfunctions $f \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D)$ of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma;\chi,+}$ with eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$. This last bijection is described by the map (see theorem 3.10)

(1.21)
$$\mathcal{P}:\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)\to F(s;\Gamma;\chi)$$

given explicitly by

(1.22)
$$f(\zeta) = \mathcal{P}\psi(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1})\psi(\zeta+1)|_D$$

Next, we show that the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of Maass cusp forms for Γ and χ is isomorphic to the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ of V-valued Maass cusp

forms for $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and the representation ρ_{χ} of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ induced from χ . This isomorphism is described by the map

(1.23)
$$B: \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi}),$$

given by

(1.24)
$$B\mathfrak{f}(z) = (\mathfrak{f}_1(z), \mathfrak{f}_2(z), \dots, \mathfrak{f}_\mu(z))^t, \quad \mathfrak{f}_i(z) := \mathfrak{f}(r_i z)$$

with ^t denoting the vector transpose and $\{r_i \mid i = 1, \ldots, \mu\}$ is a set of representatives of the right cosets of Γ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}). By extending the integral transform \mathcal{I} in (1.15) to act on vectors componentwise, it follows that the map

(1.25)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

or equivalently the map

(1.26)
$$\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi}) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

is well-defined (see lemma 3.5).

Let us recall now the generalized version of Lewis-Zagier correspondence for period functions. We extend a result of Hilgert and Deitmar (see theorem 3.6) on the Lewis-Zagier correspondence to the case of a representation χ of Γ , for which the kernel of the induced representation ρ_{χ} is of finite index: there is a bijection between the space of Maass cusp forms $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ and the space of period functions $\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$, that is, the maps (1.25) and (1.26) are bijections (corollary 3.2). To explain this in more detail we need some notations. Let Λ be a normal subgroup of finite index in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) and ρ_{Λ} be the representation of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) induced from the trivial representation of Λ . This yields the regular representation ρ'_{Λ} of the finite group PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})/ Λ by

(1.27)
$$\rho_{\Lambda}(g) = \rho'_{\Lambda}(g\Lambda), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

Moreover, let η' be an irreducible subrepresentation of ρ'_{Λ} which gives an irreducible subrepresentation η of ρ_{Λ} by

(1.28)
$$\eta(g) = \eta'(g\Lambda), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

Then according to Hilgert and Deitmar [15], the map

(1.29)
$$\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta)$$

is a bijection. For an arbitrary unitary induced representation ρ_{χ} of PSL(2, Z), according to the "fundamental theorem on homomorphisms" ([1], page 10) the epimorphism

(1.30)
$$\rho_{\chi} : \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \to \rho_{\chi}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$$

yields the group isomorphism

(1.31)
$$\rho_{\chi}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) \cong \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda, \quad \Lambda = \ker \rho_{\chi}$$

We remark that this isomorphism has been already derived by Millington in [34] for ρ_{χ} the special case of the representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial representation of any subgroup of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ of

1. INTRODUCTION

finite index. Then the representation ρ'_{χ} of the finite group $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda$ is given by

(1.32)
$$\rho'_{\chi}(g\Lambda) = \rho_{\chi}(g), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

It is decomposed into its irreducible subrepresentations as follows

(1.33)
$$\rho'_{\chi} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \eta'_i$$

where N denotes the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations and m_i denotes the multiplicity of the irreducible subrepresentation η'_i . This yields the decomposition of the induced representation ρ_{χ} into its irreducible subrepresentations,

(1.34)
$$\rho_{\chi} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \eta_i$$

where N denotes the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations and m_i denotes the multiplicity of the irreducible subrepresentation η_i and where

(1.35)
$$\eta_i(g) = \eta'_i(g\Lambda), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

Then we have for the space of vector valued Maass cusp forms

(1.36)
$$\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi}) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i).$$

By applying the aforementioned result of Hilgert and Deitmar to each subspace in this decomposition and using the linearity of \mathcal{I} and the bijection

(1.37)
$$\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z});\eta_i),$$

it follows that the map \mathcal{I} in (1.26) and hence the map $\mathcal{I} \circ B$ in (1.25) is a bijection (see corollary 3.2). From this it follows that the map

(1.38)
$$\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B : S(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to F(s; \Gamma; \chi).$$

is also a bijection (see theorem 3.11).

In [19] it has been shown for χ a unitary character, that the integral transform $\mathcal{I} \circ B$ induces an automorphism of the space of period functions from the one of the space of Maass cusp forms and that this automorphism is related to a symmetry of Mayer's transfer operator. We extend this result to the case where χ is an arbitrary unitary representation. If J is an automorphism of the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of Maass cusp forms, given by

(1.39)
$$J\mathfrak{u}(z) = \mathfrak{u}(jz),$$

then the integral transformation $\mathcal{I} \circ B$ induces an automorphism \mathcal{J} of the space $\mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of period functions given by

(1.40)
$$\mathcal{J}\psi(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)\zeta^{-2s}\psi(\frac{1}{\zeta})$$

where $\pi(J)$ is a certain matrix which in particular for a one dimensional representation χ is a monomial matrix. Moreover if $j^2 \in \ker \chi$ it turns out that $\pi(J)$ is indeed a symmetry of Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi}$, that is, it fulfills the following conditions:

- 1) $\pi(J)^2 = id_{\mu_{\Gamma}\dim\chi}$, where id_n denotes the $n \times n$ identity matrix.
- 2) $\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(S) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J).$ 3) $\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(T) = \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J).$

From these equalities one can show that $\pi(J)\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,+} = \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,-}\pi(J)$ (see Lemma 3.13).

The decomposition of the induced representation in the transfer operator $\mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}$, with $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}$ given in (1.17) and P a symmetry, into its subrepresentations yields a decomposition of this operator into the transfer operators for PSL(2, Z) and the aforementioned subrepresentations (for an example see (5.18)). This leads for example to a factorization of Selberg's zeta function for Γ a subgroup of finite index in PSL(2, Z) and χ a unitary representation of Γ (see (5.20)). In particular, we study the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ of PSL(2, Z) induced from the trivial representation of the Hecke congruence group $\Gamma_0(n)$ and the representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ of PGL(2, Z) induced from the trivial representation of the extension $\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ of the Hecke congruence subgroups to PGL(2, Z). The representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ appears in Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(n)}$ for $\Gamma_0(n)$ and the trivial one dimensional representation, whereas $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ appears in Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma_0(n),+}$ with the special symmetry operator P given by

(1.41)
$$P = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}(M), \quad M = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

According to Millington [34], the group generated by the elements $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(S)$ and $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(T)$ with S and T the generators of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is isomorphic to the factor group $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ modulo the maximal normal subgroup H(n) of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ contained in $\Gamma_0(n)$, that is,

(1.42)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(n) \cong U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})).$$

It turns out that H(n) is indeed the kernel of the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$.

Based on this we show that for $n \mid m$ there is a permutation representation $\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}$ of the finite group $Q(m) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(m)$ associated with its action on the finite set $X(n) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)$ such that for any g in $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ (see Lemma 4.5),

(1.43)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g) = \pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m)), \quad n \mid m,$$

where in particular n can be equal to m. This way the decomposition of the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ into its irreducible subrepresentations is reduced to that of $\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}$. Using the properties of X(n) as a Q(m)-set we show that for $n \mid m \; \pi_{Q(m),X(n)}$ is a subrepresentation of $\pi_{Q(m),X(m)}$ and therefore we conclude that $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ is a subrepresentation of $U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$. Moreover, for coprime m and n we show that $\pi_{Q(nm),X(nm)} \cong$ $\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)} \otimes \pi_{Q(nm),X(m)}$ and hence $U_{\Gamma_0(nm)} = U_{\Gamma_0(n)} \otimes U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$. Thus the problem of decomposing $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ reduces to that of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ with $q = p^e$ a prime power. With the same arguments we get similar results for $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ (see Lemmas 4.6, 4.8, and 4.7).

In the particular case p a prime, we show that the group $K(p) = \Gamma_0(p)/H(p)$ acts doubly transitively on X(p) (see Lemma 4.9). From this we conclude that the permutation representation $\pi_{Q(p),X(p)}$ associated with X(p) contains two non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations, namely the trivial one dimensional representation and a certain p-dimensional representation (see Lemmas 4.9 and 4.11). This yields also the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ into its irreducible subrepresentations,

(1.44)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(p)} = U_t \oplus U_p$$

where U_t is the trivial one dimension representation of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and U_p is a certain *p*-dimensional representation of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ (see Lemma 4.12). We obtain a similar decomposition for $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ (see Lemma 4.13).

By applying the Gelfand pair method we prove that for a prime power $q = p^e$ with $e \ge 2$ the representation $\pi_{Q(q),X(q)}$ and hence $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ is multiplicity-free (see lemma 4.27 and corollary 4.1). From this and by using Wielandt's theorem (see lemma 4.14) it follows that $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ and $\pi_{Q(q),X(q)}$ are also multiplicity-free (see lemma 4.29).

Since $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ and $\pi_{Q(q),X(q)}$ are multiplicity-free representations, according to Wielandt's theorem the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(q),X(q)}$ and hence that of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ is equal to the number of orbits of the group $K(q) = \Gamma_0(q)/H(q)$ in X(q). Similarly, the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\overline{U}_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ is equal to the number of orbits of the group $\overline{K}(q) = \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)/M(q)$ in $\overline{X}(q) = \text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ where $M(q) = \ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ is a known group. We determine the number of these orbits by calculating the order of the stabilizer of each point of the sets X(q) and $\overline{X}(q)$ respectively, from which we derive the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ respectively $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ (see lemmas 4.23 and 4.26 and remark 4.2).

According to the Jacquet-Langlands correspondence the space of Maass cusp forms $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathcal{O}_n)$ for \mathcal{O}_n , the unit group of an indefinite quaternion devision algebra of discriminant n, is in bijection with the space $\mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ of new forms of Atkin-Lehner for the Hecke congruence group $\Gamma_0(n)$ [54, 7] where the discriminant n is a product of an even number of different primes [54]. We introduce the subspace $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n)) \subset F(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ of new eigenfunctions of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(n)}$ as $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n)) = \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B\mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$. The expectation, that the restriction of the transfer operator to the corresponding subspace $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ of eigenfunctions coincides with this operator corresponding to one of the irreducible components of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ with a singular representation (see Definition 2.3) is not true as we show in the case $\Gamma_0(6)$. Indeed, the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ has a decomposition into irreducibles given by

(1.45)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(6)}U_{\Gamma_0(6)}M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1} = U_t \oplus U_2 \oplus U_3 \oplus U_2 \otimes U_3$$

where $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ is some known matrix and where the irreducible subrepresentations in the right hand side are all regular (see Definition 2.4). This yields the following decomposition of the transfer operator for $\Gamma_0(6)$

(1.46)
$$M_{\Gamma_{0}(6)}P\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma_{0}(6),+}M_{\Gamma_{0}(6)}^{-1} = P_{1}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),+} \oplus P_{2}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2},+} \oplus P_{3}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{3},+} \oplus P_{2\times 3}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2}\otimes U_{3},+},$$

where the symmetry P of the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(6)}$ corresponding to the automorphism $J\mathfrak{u}(z) = \mathfrak{u}(-\overline{z})$ of the Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(6)$ is decomposed into the operators P_i as

(1.47)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(6)} P M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1} = P_1 \oplus P_2 \oplus P_3 \oplus P_{2\times 3},$$

which themselves are symmetry operators of the transfer operators $\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}, \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2}}, \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{3}}$, and $\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2}\otimes U_{3}}$ respectively. The space of eigenfunctions $F(s;\Gamma_{0}(6))$ of $P\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma_{0}(6),+}$ is then decomposed as (1.48)

$$F(s; \Gamma_0(6)) \cong M_{\Gamma_0(6)}F(s; \Gamma_0(6)) = F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})) \oplus$$
$$F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2) \oplus F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_3) \oplus F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3).$$

It turns out that the space $F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$ is in bijection with a subspace of $F(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ which besides $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ contains part of the old subspace $F^{old}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ in $F(s; \Gamma_0(6))$. Contrary to this, for the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2)}$ for the principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(2)$ the representation $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ contains a certain singular subrepresentation U_{sgn} such that the corresponding transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{sgn}}$ describes exactly the space of new eigenfunctions, that is, $F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_{sgn}) \cong$ $F^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$.

We introduce finally a method to determine the congruence property of a representation χ of a subgroup Γ of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) via its induction to PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), which seems to be more suitable for the transfer operator approach to the spectral theory of automorphic functions. The representation χ is known to be congruence if its kernel is a congruence subgroup of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), that is, its kernel contains a principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(n)$ of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) for some n. The spectrum of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ is known to depend strongly on such a congruence property of χ [5, 40]. On the other hand, this spectrum is connected to the spectrum of the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma;\chi}$, and hence depends on the congruence property of the representation ρ_{χ} of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) induced from χ . Indeed, we prove that χ is congruence if and only if ρ_{χ} is congruence. By applying this to Selberg's family of characters χ_{α} of $\Gamma_0(4)$ we rederive the result (see [8] and the references there), that in the interval $[0, \frac{1}{2}] \chi_{\alpha}$ is congruence only for $\alpha = 0, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{2}{8}, \frac{3}{8}, \frac{4}{8}$.

Moreover, for non-congruence representations $\rho_{\chi_{\alpha}}$ we show that the Fuchsian group ker $\rho_{\chi_{\alpha}}$ for infinitely many values of α does not satisfy Zograf's hypothesis, namely that the hyperbolic area of their fundamental domains is smaller than $32\pi(g_{\alpha} + 1)$, where g_{α} denotes the genus of the group.

In detail this thesis is organized as follows:

In chapter 2 we recall for a Fuchsian group Γ of the first kind with an arbitrary unitary representation χ the basics of the spectral theory of automorphic functions, namely

- The spectral decomposition of the automorphic Laplacian,
- the Eisenstein series,
- Selberg's trace formula,
- Selberg's zeta function.

In chapter 3 we recall a generalized version of Mayer's transfer operator for a subgroup Γ of finite index μ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) and an arbitrary finite dimensional unitary representation and introduce its symmetry operators. We recall a generalized version of the Lewis and Zagier theory of period functions for finite index subgroups Γ of the modular group and a unitary representation χ . We show that the period functions for Γ and χ can be expressed as an integral transform of the corresponding Maass cusp forms. Using a result by Hilgert and Deitmar we also show that the space of eigenfunctions for eigenvalue ± 1 of the generalized transfer operator of Mayer with a symmetry operator P, satisfying certain asymptotics at zero, is in bijection with the corresponding space of period functions and hence with the corresponding space of Maass cusp forms.

We show that the symmetry operators P of the space of period functions are induced from the automorphisms of the space of Maass cusp forms via the aforementioned integral transform.

In chapter 4, we study the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial representation of the Hecke congruence subgroup $\Gamma_0(n)$ and the representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ of $PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial representation of the extension $\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ of the Hecke congruence subgroups to $PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. In particular, we show that

• For coprime n and m,

(1.49)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(nm)} \cong U_{\Gamma_0(n)} \otimes U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$$

respectively

(1.50)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(nm)} \cong U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} \otimes U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(m)}$$

where \otimes denotes the tensor product of representations.

• For $n \mid m$ the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ are subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(m)}$, respectively.

12

1. INTRODUCTION

• The representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ are multiplicity-free, that is, each irreducible subrepresentation appears once in the representation. We determine also the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ respectively of $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$.

Concerning the Jacquet-Langlands correspondence, we decompose in chapter 5 the representations $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}$ into their irreducible subrepresentations, which leads to a decomposition of Mayer's transfer operator for $\Gamma_0(6)$ respectively the space of its eigenfunctions with eigenvalues ± 1 . In this decomposition each subspace is characterized by an irreducible subrepresentation of $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$. We study the correspondence between these subspaces and Atkin-Lehner's theory of old and new Maass cusp forms. In particular we show with this example, that one cannot characterize the space of new Maass cusp forms respectively the corresponding space of new eigenfunctions of the transfer operator by an irreducible singular subrepresentation of $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$. Contrary to this we recall in the case of the transfer operator for the principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(2)$, that the space of new eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator corresponding to the space of new Maass cusp forms is characterized by a singular subrepresentation of $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ which especially leads to a transfer operator holomorphic in the entire s-plane [13].

In chapter 6 we recall the notion of a congruence representation and study the congruence properties of a family of characters χ_{α} for $\Gamma_0(4)$, introduced by Selberg, via its induction to $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. We find, that ker $\rho_{\chi_{\alpha}}$ for a non-congruence representation $\rho_{\chi_{\alpha}}$ is a group which does not satisfy the hypothesis of Zograf's criterion for the existence of small eigenvalues of the automorphic Laplacian (see theorem 6.9), which together with Selberg's lower bound for the eigenvalues of the automorphic Laplacian for congruence subgroups showed immediately, that χ_{α} can be congruence only for a finite number of α -values.

CHAPTER 2

Spectral theory of automorphic functions

In this chapter we fix some notations and recall briefly some definitions and results from the spectral theory of the automorphic Laplacian which we need in the sequel.

2.1. The hyperbolic plane and its isometries

We denote the hyperbolic plane by $\mathbb H$ and realize it as the upper half plane,

$$(2.1) \qquad \{x + iy \in \mathbb{C} \mid y > 0\}$$

equipped with the Poincaré metric,

(2.2)
$$ds^2 = \frac{dx^2 + dy^2}{y^2}$$

and corresponding Poincaré measure,

(2.3)
$$d\mu(z) = \frac{dxdy}{y^2}.$$

The Laplace operator $-\Delta$ on \mathbb{H} associated to the Poincaré metric has in Cartesian coordinates the following explicit form,

(2.4)
$$-\Delta = y^2 \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2}\right).$$

The operator Δ is called the hyperbolic Laplacian. The group of all orientation preserving isometries of \mathbb{H} is identified with the group

(2.5)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R}) := \left\{ g = \pm \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \mid \det g = 1, \quad a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{R} \right\},$$

acting on \mathbb{H} by linear fractional transformations,

(2.6)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R}) \times \mathbb{H} \longrightarrow \mathbb{H}$$
$$(g,z) \mapsto gz = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$

The elements of $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ different from the identity are classified into three disjoint classes according to their traces as matrices. An element $g \in PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ is called elliptic, parabolic or hyperbolic if |tr(g)| < 2, |tr(g)| = 2 or |tr(g)| > 2, respectively. Since the action of $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ can be extended by continuity to $\mathbb{H} \cup \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$, this classification can be reformulated as follows: elliptic elements have only one fixed point in \mathbb{H} , the parabolic ones have one unique fixed point on $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$, and the hyperbolic elements have two distinct fixed points on $\mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$.

2.2. Fuchsian groups

A discrete subgroup Γ of $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ is called a Fuchsian group. A cusp of a Fuchsian group Γ is defined to be the fixed point of a parabolic element of Γ . A fundamental domain F_{Γ} for a Fuchsian group Γ is defined to be the closure of a domain $U \subset \mathbb{H}$ containing all Γ inequivalent points of \mathbb{H} , such that

$$\mathbb{H} = \bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \gamma F_{\Gamma}.$$

The volume of the quotient space $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ or what is the same, the fundamental domain F_{Γ} is given by

(2.7)
$$vol(\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}) := |F_{\Gamma}| := \int_{F_{\Gamma}} d\mu(z).$$

A Fuchsian group of the first kind is a Fuchsian group Γ for which the volume of $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ is finite. If the surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ is compact, the group Γ is called cocompact. We refer to [**35**] for more details about the definitions above. A Fuchsian group Γ of the first kind is determined by [**55**]

- 1. a finite number 2g of hyperbolic generators, $A_1, B_1, \ldots, A_q, B_q$
- 2. a finite number l of elliptic generators, R_1, \ldots, R_l
- 3. a finite number h of parabolic generators, S_1, \ldots, S_h

such that the following relations hold

(2.8)
$$[A_1, B_1] \dots [A_g, B_g] S_1 \dots S_h R_1 \dots R_l = id_{q_1} \\ R_1^{m_1} = id_{q_1} \dots R_l^{m_l} = id.$$

Here *id* is the identity element of the group, $m_j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $m_j \geq 2$ is the order of the elliptic element R_j , and [,] denotes the commutator which for two elements A and B of the group is defined by $[A, B] = ABA^{-1}B^{-1}$. The signature of a group Γ , determined by the set of generators, is defined to be the set of numbers

(2.9)
$$(g; m_1, \ldots, m_l; h),$$

which is a topological invariant of the group like the fundamental group of the corresponding surface. We note that the genus g of the surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ is half the number of hyperbolic generators of Γ and h is the number of inequivalent cusps of the group Γ . Moreover, the group Γ is cocompact if and only if h = 0. For a Fuchsian group of the first kind with signature as in (2.9), the volume of $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$ is given by the Gauss-Bonnet formula [57],

(2.10)
$$|F_{\Gamma}| = 2\pi \left(2g - 2 + \sum_{j=1}^{l} (1 - \frac{1}{m_j}) + h \right).$$

2.3. SPECTRAL DECOMPOSITION OF THE AUTOMORPHIC LAPLACIAN 17

The projective modular group is an example of a Fuchsian group of the first kind. It is defined by

(2.11)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) = \left\{ \pm \left(\begin{array}{c} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \mid ad - bc = 1, \ a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z} \right\}.$$

This group has signature (0; 3, 2; 1) and it is generated by the parabolic element

(2.12)
$$T = \pm \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and the elliptic element

$$(2.13) S = \pm \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with the relations $S^2 = (ST)^3 = \pm id$.

2.3. Spectral decomposition of the automorphic Laplacian

The notion of automorphic functions and operators on \mathbb{H} is defined by their transformation property under the action of Fuchsian groups. Let V denote a finite dimensional Hermitian space and χ be a unitary representation of Γ on V. Then a vector valued function $\mathfrak{f} : \mathbb{H} \to V$ such that

(2.14)
$$f(\gamma z) = \chi(\gamma)f(z), \quad \forall \gamma \in \Gamma$$

is called an automorphic function with respect to Γ and χ . We denote by $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ the Hilbert space of square integrable automorphic functions on F_{Γ} with the scalar product given by

(2.15)
$$(\mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{h}) = \int_{F_{\Gamma}} \langle \mathfrak{f}(z),\mathfrak{h}(z) \rangle_{V} d\mu(z), \quad \mathfrak{f},\mathfrak{h} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma;\chi),$$

where F_{Γ} is the fundamental domain of Γ and \langle, \rangle_V denotes the Hermitian form on V.

The action of the Laplace operator on a *n*-dimensional vector valued function $\mathfrak{f} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$ is defined to be componentwise, namely $\Delta \mathfrak{f}$ is a *n*dimensional vector valued function with components given by $(\Delta \mathfrak{f})_i =$ $\Delta f_i, 1 \leq i \leq n$. Let \mathfrak{D} be the dense domain in $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ consisting of the functions \mathfrak{g} which are restrictions of functions \mathfrak{f} on \mathbb{H} to F_{Γ} , such that

• $\mathfrak{f} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{H})$

•
$$\mathfrak{f}(\gamma z) = \chi(\gamma)\mathfrak{f}(z), \ \gamma \in \Gamma$$

• \mathfrak{f} and $\Delta \mathfrak{f}$ both are uniformly bounded for $z \in \mathbb{H}$

Then an operator Δ is defined by

(2.16)
$$\Delta \mathfrak{g} = \Delta \mathfrak{f}, \quad \mathfrak{g} \in \mathfrak{D}, \quad \mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{f}|_{F_{\mathbf{I}}}$$

which is symmetric and non-negative definite. It turns out that this operator is essentially self adjoint [55, 16]. The automorphic Laplacian

 $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ is defined as the unique self-adjoint extension (Friedrichs extension) of the operator $\widetilde{\Delta}$ on $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$. Thus the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ is a self-adjoint, non-negative definite, unbounded operator. For more details and proofs of these assertions see [55, 16].

Let Γ be a Fuchsian group of the first kind with inequivalent cusps x_{α} , $1 \leq \alpha \leq h$. An element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is primitive if it can not be written as a power of another element of the group. Let S_{α} be a primitive parabolic element leaving the cusp x_{α} invariant, namely $S_{\alpha}x_{\alpha} = x_{\alpha}$. Then S_{α} is the generator of the stabilizer group of the cusp x_{α} , denoted by Γ_{α} .

DEFINITION 2.1. A finite dimensional representation χ of Γ is called singular in the cusp x_{α} if

(2.17)
$$\dim \ker(\chi(S_{\alpha}) - 1_V) = 0,$$

where 1_V is the identity operator in V. Otherwise we say that the representation χ is regular in the cusp x_{α} .

DEFINITION 2.2. If χ is regular at a cusp x_{α} , we say that the cusp is open, otherwise the cusp is closed.

DEFINITION 2.3. A representation χ is called singular if it is singular in all cusps.

DEFINITION 2.4. The representation χ is called regular if it is regular at least in one cusp, that is, if at least one cusp is open.

REMARK 2.1. The definition of singularity of a representation is opposite to Selberg's definition (see [49], [57]). It is more reasonable from the point of view of mathematical physics as argued by E. Balslev ¹: if the spectrum of the hyperbolic Laplacian on a non-compact surface is purely discrete, this situation is rather singular. In the regular situation, we have in general a continuous spectrum and maybe a discrete one.

For cocompact groups and also for cofinite groups with singular representation the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ has only a purely discrete spectrum in $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ (see [57] pages 17 and 18).

For cofinite groups with a regular representation χ the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ in $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ has a continuous spectrum and maybe a discrete one. The continuous spectrum is described by the Eisenstein series [57, 55]. To define them, we need some notations. The subspace $V_{\alpha} \subset V$ for x_{α} a cusp with $S_{\alpha}x_{\alpha} = x_{\alpha}$ is defined by

(2.18)
$$V_{\alpha} := \{ v \in V \mid \chi(S_{\alpha})v = v \},\$$

its dimension is denoted by $k_{\alpha} := \dim V_{\alpha}$. We denote furthermore an orthonormal basis of V_{α} by $\{e_l(\alpha)\}_{l=1}^{k_{\alpha}}$.

¹Private communication between Alexei Venkov and Erik Balslev

DEFINITION 2.5. The degree of regularity of the representation χ is defined as

(2.19)
$$k := k(\Gamma; \chi) := \sum_{\alpha=1}^{h} k_{\alpha}.$$

Let P_{α} be the orthogonal projection of V onto V_{α} and χ^* the adjoint representation of χ in the Hermitian space V. For an open cusp x_{α} , take $\sigma_{\alpha} \in \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ such that $\sigma_{\alpha} \infty = x_{\alpha}$. The Eisenstein series $E_{\alpha}(., s) :$ $\mathbb{H} \to V_{\alpha}$ for $\Re(s) > 1$ is defined to be a k_{α} -dimensional vector whose components $E_{\alpha,l}$ are given by

(2.20)
$$E_{\alpha,l}(z,s) = \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma_{\alpha} \setminus \Gamma} (\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\alpha}^{-1}\sigma z))^{s} \chi^{*}(\sigma) e_{l}(\alpha), \quad 1 \le l \le k_{\alpha}.$$

This is an absolutely convergent series in the domain $\Re(s) > 1$ and it is uniformly convergent in z on any compact subsets of \mathbb{H} . In the half-plane $\Re(s) > 1$, the Eisenstein series has the following properties [57, 55]:

- 1. $E_{\alpha}(z,s)$ is holomorphic in s.
- 2. For fixed s, $\Delta E_{\alpha}(z,s) = s(1-s)E_{\alpha}(z,s)$.
- 3. For fixed s, $E_{\alpha}(z,s)$ is automorphic relative to Γ and χ .
- 4. The zero-th order term of the Fourier expansion of $E_{\alpha}(z, s)$ at a cusp x_{β} , that is, the constant term of the Fourier expansion of $P_{\beta}E_{\alpha}(\sigma_{\beta}z, s)$ with $\sigma_{\beta}\infty = x_{\beta}$ has components given by

(2.21)
$$\delta_{\alpha,\beta} y^s e_l(\alpha) + \phi_{\alpha l,\beta}(s) y^{1-s}.$$

For the complete description of the Fourier expansion of an Eisenstein series see ([55], page 45, Theorem 3.1.2 and page 47, Theorem 3.1.3).

The entries of the automorphic scattering matrix

(2.22)
$$\Phi(s) = \Phi(s; \Gamma; \chi) := \{\Phi_{bd}(s)\}_{b,d=1}^{k(\Gamma;\chi)}$$

are given by

(2.23)
$$\Phi_{bd}(s) = \Phi_{\alpha l,\beta k}(s) = \langle e_k(\beta), \phi_{\alpha l,\beta}(s) \rangle_V$$

The indices b and d are defined by

(2.24)
$$b = k_1 + k_2 + \ldots + k_{\alpha-1} + l, \quad d = k_1 + k_2 + \ldots + k_{\beta-1} + k$$

such that

(2.25)
$$1 \le \alpha, \beta \le h, \quad 1 \le l \le k_{\alpha}, \quad 1 \le k \le k_{\beta}.$$

THEOREM 2.1. **a)** The scattering matrix $\Phi(s)$ and the Eisenstein series $E_{\alpha}(z,s)$ admit meromorphic continuations to the entire s-plane.

- **b)** In the half plane $\Re(s) \geq \frac{1}{2}$, $\Phi(s)$ and $E_{\alpha}(z,s)$ have only a finite number of common simple poles $s_j \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ such that $\lambda_j := s_j(1-s_j)$ is a real eigenvalue of $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$.
- c) The scattering matrix fulfills the functional equation

(2.26)
$$\Phi(s)\Phi(1-s) = Ia$$

it is unitary on $\Re(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ and hermitian for real s which follows from $\Phi(s) = \overline{\Phi(\overline{s})}^T$ for arbitrary s.

d) The Eisenstein series satisfies the following functional equation,

(2.27)
$$E(z,s) = \Phi(s)E(z,1-s)$$

where

(2.28)
$$E(z,s) = (E_1(z,s), \dots, E_h(z,s))^t$$

and t denotes the vector transpose.

DEFINITION 2.6. An element $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ is called a cuspidal automorphic function with respect to Γ and χ iff for each open cusp x_{α}

(2.29)
$$\int_0^1 \langle \mathfrak{f}(\sigma_\alpha z), v \rangle_V \, dx = 0$$

for any y > 0 and $v \in V_{\alpha}$. We denote by $\mathcal{S}(\Gamma; \chi)$ the space of all cusp forms of Γ and χ .

DEFINITION 2.7. An element $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(\Gamma; \chi)$ is called a Maass cusp form with spectral parameter s of Γ and χ if it is an eigenfunction of the automorphic Laplacian with eigenvalue s(1-s), that is,

(2.30)
$$\Delta(\Gamma;\chi)\mathfrak{u} = s(1-s)\mathfrak{u}, \quad \mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(\Gamma;\chi).$$

We denote by $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ the space of Maass cusp forms with spectral parameter s of Γ and χ .

The spectral parameters of the Maass cusp forms define a discrete set of points s, lying on the line $\Re(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ and in the interval $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ [57, 55, 28].

For the stabilizer group Γ_{α} of the cusp x_{α} , and $\sigma_{\alpha} \in PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ an element such that $\sigma_{\alpha} \infty = x_{\alpha}$, one has

(2.31)
$$\sigma_{\alpha}^{-1}\Gamma_{\alpha}\sigma_{\alpha} = \{\pm T^n \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

For simplicity we assume that (otherwise we should consider a matrix conjugation of χ for each cusp)

(2.32)
$$\chi(\sigma_{\alpha}T\sigma_{\alpha}^{-1}) = \operatorname{diag}(e^{2\pi i\xi_{1}(\alpha)}, \dots, e^{2\pi i\xi_{\dim\chi}(\alpha)})$$

with $0 \leq \xi_j(\alpha) < 1$, $1 \leq j \leq \dim \chi$, and where $\operatorname{diag}(a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ denotes the diagonal matrix with entries a_1, \ldots, a_n . Then for each component \mathfrak{u}_j , $1 \leq j \leq \dim \chi$, of $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ we have

(2.33)
$$\mathfrak{u}_j(\sigma_\alpha(z+1)) = \exp(2\pi i\xi_j(\alpha))\mathfrak{u}_j(\sigma_\alpha z).$$

20

Since \mathfrak{u} is in the Hilbert space and the components \mathfrak{u}_j are real analytic, \mathfrak{u}_j has at the cusp x_{α} a Fourier type expansion of the form (see [57], Chapter 5)

(2.34)
$$\mathfrak{u}_j(\sigma_\alpha z) = \sum_{m-\xi_j(\alpha)\in\mathbb{Z}} \rho_j(m,\alpha) \sqrt{y} K_{s-\frac{1}{2}}(2\pi |m|y) \exp(2\pi i m x)$$

with z = x + iy and where the $\rho_j(m, \alpha)$ are complex numbers and $K_{\nu}(r)$ is the K-Bessel function.

Since $\mathbf{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ is real analytic, it is bounded in any compact domain in the fundamental domain of Γ . But the exponential decay of the *K*-Bessel functions in the Fourier type expansion (2.34) as $y \to \infty$ shows that the domain on which \mathbf{u} is bounded can be extended to infinity and hence \mathbf{u} is bounded on the whole fundamental domain. Then from Theorem 5.5 in ([57], page 33) it follows that

(2.35)
$$\rho_j(m,\alpha) = O(|m|^{\frac{1}{2}}), \quad m \neq 0, \quad 1 \le j \le \dim \chi.$$

This estimate and the fact that the K-Bessel functions in the Fourier type expansion of \mathfrak{u} decay exponentially fast at infinity yields the fact that the Maass cusp form $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma, \chi)$ decays exponentially fast at each cusp of the group Γ .

For $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}([0,\infty))$ a smooth function with compact support on the positive real line the so called incomplete theta series assigned to an open cusp x_{α} is defined by

(2.36)
$$\theta_{\psi,\alpha l}(z) = \sum_{\sigma \in \Gamma_{\alpha} \setminus \Gamma} \psi(\Im(\sigma_{\alpha}^{-1} \sigma z)) \chi^{*}(\sigma) e_{l}(\alpha)$$

where z = x + iy and Γ_{α} is the stabilizer group of x_{α} . We denote by $\Theta_1(\Gamma; \chi)$ the closure of the subspace of $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ spanned by all incomplete theta series. Moreover, we denote by $\Theta_0(\Gamma; \chi)$ the finite dimensional space spanned by the residues of Eisenstein series at their finitely many poles in $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$. The following theorem describes then the spectral decomposition of the automorphic Laplacian [57]:

THEOREM 2.2. The Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ can be decomposed into three invariant subspaces defined above, namely

(2.37)
$$\mathcal{H}(\Gamma;\chi) = \mathcal{S}(\Gamma;\chi) \oplus \Theta_0(\Gamma;\chi) \oplus \Theta_1(\Gamma;\chi).$$

The automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ has a purely discrete spectrum on the space $\mathcal{S}(\Gamma; \chi) \oplus \Theta_0(\Gamma; \chi) \subset \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$. The spectrum of $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ on $\Theta_1(\Gamma; \chi)$ is absolutely continuous and given by the semi-axis $[\frac{1}{4}, \infty)$ with finite multiplicity. It is determined by the Eisenstein series $E_\alpha(z, s = \frac{1}{2} + it)$ with $t \in \mathbb{R}$ which are obviously not in $\Theta_1(\Gamma; \chi)$.

2.4. Selberg's trace formula

We recall Selberg's trace formula from [57]. First we need some notations. For a fixed α let $\{e_l(\alpha)\}_{l=1}^{\dim V}$ be a basis of V in which $\chi(S_{\alpha})(1_V - P_{\alpha})$ is diagonal,

(2.38)
$$\chi(S_{\alpha})(1_V - P_{\alpha})e_l(\alpha) = \nu_{\alpha l}e_l(\alpha).$$

Then the following holds

(2.39)
$$\nu_{\alpha l} = \begin{cases} 0 & e_l(\alpha) \in V_{\alpha}, \\ \exp(2\pi i \theta_{\alpha l}) & e_l(\alpha) \in V \ominus V_{\alpha}. \end{cases}$$

where $0 < \theta_{\alpha l} < 1$.

THEOREM 2.3. Let $h(r) := h(r^2 + \frac{1}{4})$ be a function of the complex variable r which satisfies the following conditions:

- as a function of r, $\tilde{h}(r)$ is holomorphic in the strip $\left\{r \in \mathbb{C} : |Im(r)| < \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon\right\}$ for some $\varepsilon > 0$.
- in that strip $h(r) = O((1 + |r^2|)^{-1-\varepsilon})$, such that all series and integrals appearing below converge absolutely.

Moreover, let Γ be a Fuchsian group of the first kind with a unitary representation χ . Then for cofinite respectively cocompact Γ the following identities hold,

(2.40)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h(\lambda_k) + C = I + H + E + P$$

respectively

(2.41)
$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h(\lambda_k) = I + H + E$$

where $\{\lambda_n \mid 0 \leq \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \ldots\}$ is the ordered set of the discrete eigenvalues of $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$. Here C describes the contribution of the continuous part of the spectrum and is given by

$$(2.42) \quad C = C(\widetilde{h}(r); \Gamma; \chi) = -\frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\varphi'}{\varphi} (\frac{1}{2} + ir; \Gamma; \chi) \widetilde{h}(r) dr + \frac{K_0}{4} \widetilde{h}(0),$$

where φ denotes the determinant of the scattering matrix $\Phi(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ and $K_0 = tr(\Phi(\frac{1}{2}; \Gamma; \chi)).$

On the right hand side of (2.40) I describes the contribution of the identity element of the group, which is given by

(2.43)
$$I = I(\widetilde{h}(r); \Gamma; \chi) = \frac{\dim \chi |F_{\Gamma}|}{4\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} r \tanh(\pi r) \widetilde{h}(r) dr.$$

The term H denotes the contribution of the hyperbolic conjugacy classes and is given by (2.44)

$$H = H(\widetilde{h}(r); \Gamma; \chi) = \sum_{\{\gamma\}_{\Gamma}} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{tr_{V}\chi^{m}(\gamma)log\mathcal{N}(\gamma)}{\mathcal{N}(\gamma)^{\frac{m}{2}} - \mathcal{N}(\gamma)^{-\frac{m}{2}}} g(m\log\mathcal{N}(\gamma))$$

where $\mathcal{N}(\gamma)$ denotes the norm of the element $\gamma \in \{\gamma\}_{\Gamma}$ (for the definition of $\mathcal{N}(\gamma)$ see formula (2.48) in the next section) and the function g the Selberg transform of $\widetilde{h}(r)$:

(2.45)
$$g(u) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-iru} \widetilde{h}(r) dr.$$

The term E refers to the contribution of the elliptic elements, and is given by the sum over the primitive elliptic conjugacy classes $\{R\}_{\Gamma}$ of order ν_R

$$E = E(\widetilde{h}(r); \Gamma; \chi) =$$

(2.46)
$$\frac{1}{2} \sum_{\{R\}_{\Gamma}} \sum_{m=1}^{\nu_R - 1} \frac{tr_V \chi^m(R)}{\nu_R \sin \pi m / \nu_R} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{exp(-2\pi rm/\nu_R)}{1 + exp(-2\pi r)} \tilde{h}(r) dr.$$

Finally, the last term P refers to the parabolic conjugacy classes and is given by

$$P = P(h(r); \Gamma; \chi) =$$

$$-\left(k(\Gamma; \chi) \ln 2 + \sum_{\alpha=1}^{h} \sum_{l=k_{\alpha}+1}^{\dim \chi} \ln|1 - \exp(2\pi i\theta_{\alpha l})|\right) g(0)$$

$$-\frac{k(\Gamma; \chi)}{2\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \psi(1 + ir) \widetilde{h}(r) dr + \frac{k(\Gamma; \chi)}{4} \widetilde{h}(0)$$

where h is the number of inequivalent cusps and $\psi(z) = \frac{\Gamma'(z)}{\Gamma(z)}$ with $\Gamma'(z) = \frac{d}{dz}\Gamma(z)$ the di-gamma function.

2.5. Selberg's zeta function

Let Γ be a Fuchsian group of the first kind with a unitary representation χ . The Selberg zeta function for Γ and χ is defined in the domain $\Re(s) > 1$ by an absolutely convergent infinite product given by (see [49])

(2.48)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \prod_{\{\gamma\}_{\Gamma}} \det(1_V - \chi(\gamma)\mathcal{N}(\gamma)^{-k-s})$$

where $\{\gamma\}$ runs over all primitive hyperbolic conjugacy classes of Γ and $\mathcal{N}(\gamma) > 1$ denotes the norm of γ . By definition every hyperbolic element γ of the group Γ can be conjugated by an element from $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{R})$

to a matrix of the form

(2.49)
$$\begin{pmatrix} \rho & 0\\ 0 & \rho^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$

with $\rho > 1$. The norm of γ is then defined by $\mathcal{N}(\gamma) = \rho^2$.

The Selberg trace formula provides a huge amount of information about Selberg's zeta function. Let us choose the test function h(r)in the left hand side of the trace formula in (2.40) such that $\tilde{h}(r) = h(\frac{1}{4} + r^2)$ has the form

(2.50)
$$\widetilde{h}(r) = \frac{1}{r^2 + \frac{1}{4} + s(s-1)} - \frac{1}{r^2 + \beta^2}, \quad (\beta > \frac{1}{2}, \quad \Re(s) > 1).$$

Then according to (2.45) the function g is given by

(2.51)
$$g(u) = \frac{1}{2s-1}e^{(s-\frac{1}{2})|u|} - \frac{1}{2\beta}e^{-\beta|u|},$$

leading to the following identity [57]

(2.52)
$$\frac{d}{ds}H(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \frac{d}{ds}\frac{1}{2s-1}\frac{d}{ds}\log Z(s;\Gamma;\chi),$$

where $H(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ denotes the contribution of the hyperbolic elements in the trace formula and the s-dependence comes from the s-dependence of the test function $\tilde{h}(r)$ in (2.50).

Based on (2.52) one proves that $Z(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ has an analytic (meromorphic) continuation to the entire complex *s*-plane and satisfies the functional equation

(2.53)
$$Z(1-s;\Gamma;\chi) = \Psi(s;\Gamma;\chi)\varphi(s;\Gamma;\chi)Z(s;\Gamma;\chi),$$

where $\Psi(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ is an explicitly known function and $\varphi(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ is the determinant of the scattering matrix [57]. We note, that for cocompact groups there is no scattering matrix and $\varphi(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ in (2.53) is not present.

The nontrivial zeros of $Z(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ are related to the eigenvalues of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ and its resonances, that is, the poles of the determinant of the scattering matrix [57]. Thereby for a cofinite group Γ one distinguishes the following sets of zeros of Selberg's zeta function:

1) The discrete set S_1 of s-values which are the spectral parameters of cusp forms. These are located symmetrically relative to the real axis on the line $\Re(s) = \frac{1}{2}, s \neq \frac{1}{2}$ or in the interval $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$ such that $\lambda = s(1 - s)$ is an eigenvalue of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$. The order of the zero s is equal to the multiplicity of the corresponding eigenvalue $\lambda = s(1 - s)$ [28, 57].

24

- **2)** The discrete set S_2 containing the poles of the determinant $\varphi(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ of the scattering matrix in the half plane $\Re(s) < \frac{1}{2}$. The order of the zero at the point $s \in S_2$ is equal to the order of the pole of $\varphi(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ at this point [57].
- 3) The set S_3 consisting of the finitely many poles of the scattering matrix in the interval $(\frac{1}{2}, 1]$. For $s \in S_3$, $\lambda = s(1-s)$ is an eigenvalue of the automorphic Laplacian. The order of the zero $s \in S_3$ is identical to the multiplicity of the eigenvalue $\lambda = s(1-s) \ [57].$
- 4) The set S_4^+ of zeros consisting of the integers $-j, j \in \mathbb{N} \cup 0$ such that n_j given by [57]

(2.54)
$$n_j := \frac{\dim V|F|}{\pi} (j+\frac{1}{2}) - \sum_{\{R\}_{\Gamma}} \sum_{k=1}^{\nu-1} \frac{tr_V \chi(R^k)}{\nu \sin \frac{k\pi}{\nu_R}} \sin(\frac{k\pi(2j+1)}{\nu_R}),$$

fulfills $n_i > 0$, which is the order of the zero of Selberg's zeta function at s = -j.

The poles of Selberg's zeta function on the other hand are given by **[57**]:

- **1** the point $s = \frac{1}{2}$ of order $\frac{1}{2}(k(\Gamma; \chi) \operatorname{tr}\Phi(\frac{1}{2}; \Gamma; \chi))$, **2** the set S_5 of so called trivial poles at the points $(-j + \frac{1}{2})$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$ of order $k(\Gamma; \chi)$,
- **3** the finite set S_4^- of poles at the non-positive integers $-j, j \in$ $\mathbb{N} \cup 0$ of order $-n_j > 0$ where n_j is given in (2.54).

For a cocompact group Γ , Selberg's zeta function $Z(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ is holomorphic in the entire complex s-plane with the zeros described by the aforementioned sets of zeros in items 1) and 4).

CHAPTER 3

Mayer's Transfer operator approach to the spectral theory of automorphic functions

This chapter recalls briefly Mayer's transfer operator and its aspects concerning the spectral theory of automorphic functions. In particular we present a short review of the Lewis-Zagier correspondence connecting the eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator to automorphic functions.

3.1. Mayer's transfer operator

To begin with, we recall the general notion of the Ruelle transfer operator from [45] and [46]. Consider a weighted dynamical system described by a map $\tau : M \to M$ with a weight function $g : M \to \mathbb{R}$ such that τ is not invertible with at most a countable set of inverse branches. The Ruelle dynamical zeta function assigned to this dynamical system is defined by

(3.1)
$$\zeta(z) = \exp(\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{z^m}{m} \sum_{x \in Fix\tau^m} \prod_{k=0}^{m-1} g(\tau^k x))$$

where $Fix\tau^m$ denotes the set of fixed points of the map τ^m . We assume that this sum is convergent in some domain of $z \in \mathbb{C}$. The Ruelle transfer operator for the aforementioned dynamical system is defined by

(3.2)
$$(\mathcal{L}f)(x) = \sum_{y \in \tau^{-1}\{x\}} g(y)f(y).$$

The analytic properties of the dynamical zeta function gives some information about the underlying dynamical system. In the transfer operator approach one tries to express dynamical zeta functions in terms of Fredholm determinants of some operator, which provides a framework to study their analytic properties via this operator. In particular, the spectrum of the transfer operator yields among other properties the position of the zeros of the dynamical zeta function. We note that there is not such an expression of the zeta function in terms of a Fredholm determinant for a general dynamical system and one has to treat each case separately.

One of the most important realizations of this program is Mayer's transfer operator approach to Selberg's zeta function. We recall it briefly from [14] and refer for more details to the references there. The motion of a free particle on the surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}$, where Γ is for instance a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, is described by the geodesic flow on the unit tangent bundle of the surface, that is,

(3.3)
$$\phi_t : S(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{H}) \to S(\Gamma \backslash \mathbb{H}).$$

Mayer constructs a Poincaré section X_{Γ} in the unit tangent bundle $S(\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H})$, which, in a suitable coordinate system, is given by $[0, 1] \times [0, 1] \times \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \Gamma \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$. With respect to this section, the Poincaré return map $P_{\Gamma} : X_{\Gamma} \to X_{\Gamma}$ for the geodesic flow is then given by

(3.4)

$$P_{\Gamma} : [0,1] \times [0,1] \times \mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \Gamma \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$$

$$\to [0,1] \times [0,1] \times \mathbb{Z}_{2} \times \Gamma \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$$

$$(x,y,\epsilon,[r]_{\Gamma}) \mapsto (T_{G}x,\frac{1}{y+n},-\epsilon,[rT^{n\epsilon}S]_{\Gamma})$$

with $n = n(x) = [\frac{1}{x}]$, where [x] denotes the integer part of $x \in [0, 1]$ and $T_G: [0, 1] \to [0, 1]$ is the Gauss map given by

(3.5)
$$T_G(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{x} - [\frac{1}{x}], & x \neq 0, \\ 0, & x = 0. \end{cases}$$

Its action in the expanding direction is then

(3.6)
$$\begin{array}{l} P_{\Gamma,ex}:[0,1]\times\mathbb{Z}_2\times\Gamma\backslash\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\to[0,1]\times\mathbb{Z}_2\times\Gamma\backslash\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\\ (x,\epsilon,[r]_{\Gamma})\mapsto(T_Gx,-\epsilon,[rT^{n\epsilon}S]_{\Gamma}). \end{array}$$

Mayer's transfer operator for $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is defined as the Ruelle transfer operator given in (3.2) for the dynamical system described by this Poincaré map and the weight function $\exp(-sA(y))$ where $A(y) = \log |T'_G(y)|, s \in \mathbb{C}$ and $y = \frac{1}{x+n}, n \in \mathbb{N}$.

We recall briefly the explicit form of this operator as well as its domain of definition in the case of a subgroup $\Gamma \subset PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and a representation χ of Γ . For this we need to recall the notion of induced representation of a group. Let Γ be a subgroup of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ of finite index $\mu = [PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}) : \Gamma]$ and $\chi : \Gamma \to \operatorname{Aut} W$ be a unitary representation of Γ in the Hermitian vector space W. Also, let V be the direct sum of μ copies of W, that is,

$$(3.7) V = \oplus_{i=1}^{\mu} W_i$$

DEFINITION 3.1. The representation ρ_{χ} : PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) \rightarrow AutV induced from the representation χ of Γ is defined by

(3.8)
$$(\rho_{\chi}(g)v)_i = \sum_{j=1}^{\mu} \delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(r_i g r_j^{-1}) w_j, \quad v = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{\mu} w_j \in V, \quad w_j \in W,$$

where $\{r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_{\mu}\}$ is a set of representatives of the right cosets of Γ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}),

(3.9)
$$\delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(\gamma) = \begin{cases} \chi(\gamma), & \gamma \in \Gamma, \\ 0_W, & \gamma \notin \Gamma, \end{cases}$$

and 0_W is the 0-map in W.

Let $D \subset \mathbb{C}$ be the following open disc

(3.10)
$$D = \left\{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z - 1| < \frac{3}{2} \right\}.$$

Then the Banach space B(D) is defined by (3.11)

 $B(D) = \left\{ \vartheta : D \to \mathbb{C} \mid \vartheta \text{ holomorphic on } D \text{ and continuous on } \overline{D} \right\}$ with the sup norm $\|\vartheta\| = \sup_{z \in \overline{D}} |\vartheta|.$

DEFINITION 3.2. Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ for the group Γ and representation χ is defined to be the operator

(3.12)
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,+} \\ \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,-} & 0 \end{pmatrix} : \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2\mu \dim \chi} B(D) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2\mu \dim \chi} B(D),$$

with $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm}$ given in the domain $\Re(s) > 1/2$ by

(3.13)
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm}: \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D)$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm}f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{z+n})^{2s} \rho_{\chi}(ST^{\pm n}) f(\frac{1}{z+n}).$$

The family of operators $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ and $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,\pm}$ can be extended to a meromorphic family of operators in the entire complex *s* plane with possible poles at $s_k = \frac{1-k}{2}$, k = 0, 1, 2, ... [14]. Moreover, Mayer's transfer operator is a nuclear operator of order zero and its Fredholm determinant is defined in the sense of Grothendieck by [14]

(3.14)
$$\det(1 - \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}) = \exp\left(-\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\operatorname{tr}\left[\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}\right]^n}{n}\right)$$

On the other hand, it is known that Selberg's zeta function can be interpreted as a dynamical zeta function. In terms of the closed orbits of the geodesic flow in (3.3), it can be written as

(3.15)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \prod_{\gamma} \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \det\left[1_W - \chi(g_{\gamma})\exp(-(s+k)l(\gamma))\right]$$

where γ is a primitive periodic orbit of the geodesic flow $\phi_t : S(\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H}) \to S(\Gamma \setminus \mathbb{H})$ and $g_{\gamma} \in \Gamma$ is an hyperbolic element with $g_{\gamma} \gamma = \gamma$. It

turns out that this function coincides with Selberg's zeta function $Z(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), \rho_{\chi})$ for the modular group and induced representation ρ_{χ} :

$$Z(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), \rho_{\chi}) = \prod_{\gamma} \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \det \left[\mathbb{1}_{V} - \rho_{\chi}(\sigma_{\gamma}) \exp(-(s+k)l(\gamma)) \right]$$

where the product runs over all primitive periodic orbits γ of the geodesic flow (3.3) of period $l(\gamma)$ on the modular surface and $\sigma_{\gamma} \in \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is hyperbolic with $\sigma_{\gamma}\gamma = \gamma$ ([57], page 49, Theorem 7.2). Based on this form of Selberg's zeta function, Mayer proved

THEOREM 3.1. The Selberg zeta function $Z(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ can be expressed in terms of the Fredholm determinant of the transfer operator (3.12)-(3.13) as

(3.17)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \det(1 - \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi})$$

or

(3.18)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \det(1 - \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,-}) = \det(1 - \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,-}\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}).$$

Thereby the determinant is defined in the sense of Grothendieck.

DEFINITION 3.3. An operator $P: V \to V$ is called a symmetry operator of the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ if

(3.19)
$$P^{2} = id_{V}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} 0 & P \\ P & 0 \end{pmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi} = \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & P \\ P & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

respectively, if

(3.20)
$$P \rho_{\chi}(S) = \rho_{\chi}(S)P, \quad P \rho_{\chi}(T) = \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})P$$

From this definition it follows that for a symmetry P of $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ we have

$$P\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,+} = \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi,-}P.$$

Consequently, Selberg's zeta function in (3.18) can in this case be written as

(3.22)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \det(1 - (P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+})^2)$$

and hence as

(3.23)
$$Z(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \det(1 - P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+})\det(1 + P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}).$$

The equations (3.18) respectively (3.23) provide an alternative approach to the spectral theory of automorphic functions via Mayer's transfer operator. Indeed, according to these equations, the *s*-values for which the transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ has an eigenvalue $\lambda = 1$ respectively $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}$ has an eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$, are zeros of Selberg's zeta function $Z(s;\Gamma;\chi)$. But the latter are related to the eigenvalues and resonances of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma;\chi)$. Moreover, these

eigenfunctions of the transfer operator with eigenvalues $\lambda = \pm 1$ are directly related to the automorphic functions with respect to Γ and χ . We explain this relation in more detail in the following sections.

3.2. The Lewis-Zagier correspondence

In [29], Lewis and Zagier introduced a 1-1 correspondence between the space of automorphic functions with respect to the modular group with trivial character and the space of the so called period(like) functions for this group. The period(like) functions are solutions of a three term functional equation (Lewis functional equation), holomorphic in some domain with certain asymptotics at boundaries. Moreover, they showed that the period(like) functions are obtained by an integral transform of automorphic functions. In [15], Deitmar and Hilgert extended this correspondence to the space of cusp forms for submodular groups of finite index and trivial character which however can be generalized to the case of an arbitrary unitary character [19]. The Lewis-Zagier theory is an intermediate step to connect the eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator to automorphic functions. We explain this connection later in more detail. First we describe the passage from the Maass cusp forms to period functions via an integral transform for the case of a submodular group of finite index with a unitary representation and then we recall a version of the Lewis-Zagier correspondence from [15] and [19].

Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and χ be a unitary representation of Γ on the Hermitian vector space W. Also let ρ_{χ} denote the representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ on the space V induced from the representation χ of Γ as defined in Definition 3.1.

DEFINITION 3.4. The Lewis three term functional equation for Γ and χ is defined to be

(3.24)
$$\psi(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\psi(\zeta+1) - (\zeta+1)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(STS)\psi(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) = 0$$

where ψ is a function $\psi : \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0] \to V$.

DEFINITION 3.5. A periodlike function with respect to Γ and χ is a holomorphic function $\psi : \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0] \to V$ satisfying the Lewis functional equation for Γ and χ . We denote the space of such periodlike functions by $\mathcal{F}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$.

DEFINITION 3.6. A period function with respect to Γ and χ is a periodlike function ψ with respect to Γ and χ which fulfils the asymptotics $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{1,2\Re(s)\}})$ as $\zeta \downarrow 0$ and $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{0,2\Re(s)-1\}})$ as $\zeta \to \infty$ where the limits are taken along the real axis. We denote the space of such period functions by $\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$. REMARK 3.1. In [15], for $\Re s > 0$ a period function is defined as a periodlike function ψ such that for $z \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$

(3.25)
$$\psi_i(z) = O(\min\{1, |z|^{-C}\})$$

where $0 < C < \Re s$. But as discussed in [15], by the so called "Boot-strapping" argument of Lewis and Zagier [29], this definition of period functions is equivalent to Definition 3.6.

Next we are going to describe the passage from the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of Maass cusp forms to the space $\mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ of period functions. We follow the steps in [**36**] where Muehlenbruch described the passage from the Maass cusp forms for the Hecke congruence groups and trivial character to the period functions via an integral transform. First, we need some auxiliary results (see [**56**] and [**57**]).

LEMMA 3.2. For $\Gamma \leq \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ with $\mu := [\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) : \Gamma] < \infty$ let $\{r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_{\mu}\}$ be a set of representatives of $\Gamma \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Then the map $B : \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{H}(\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ given by

(3.26)
$$B\mathfrak{f}(z) = (\mathfrak{f}_1(z), \mathfrak{f}_2(z), \dots, \mathfrak{f}_\mu(z))^t, \quad \mathfrak{f}_i(z) := \mathfrak{f}(r_i z)$$

with ^t denoting the vector transpose, is an isomorphism. Hence, the spaces $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ and $\mathcal{H}(\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ are isomorphic.

PROOF. Let W and V be the representation spaces of the representations χ and ρ_{χ} respectively. Also let F and F_{Γ} be the fundamental domains of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) respectively Γ . Then for an element $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ we have,

(3.27)
$$\int_{F} \langle B\mathfrak{f}, B\mathfrak{f} \rangle_{V} d\mu(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{\mu} \int_{F} \langle \mathfrak{f}(r_{i}z), \mathfrak{f}(r_{i}z) \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{\mu} \int_{r_{i}F} \langle \mathfrak{f}(z), \mathfrak{f}(z) \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) = \int_{F_{\Gamma}} \langle \mathfrak{f}, \mathfrak{f} \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) < \infty$$

where we used the invariance of $d\mu$ under the $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ action and $F_{\Gamma} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\mu} r_i F$.

Now let

(3.28)
$$\delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(\gamma) = \begin{cases} \chi(\gamma) & \gamma \in \Gamma \\ 0_W & \gamma \notin \Gamma \end{cases}$$

where 0_W is the 0-map in W. Then for $g \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we have (3.29)

$$B\mathfrak{f}(gz) = (\mathfrak{f}(r_1gz), \mathfrak{f}(r_2gz), \dots, \mathfrak{f}(r_\mu gz))^t = \sum_{j=1}^{\mu} (\delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(r_1gr_j^{-1})\mathfrak{f}(r_jz), \delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(r_2gr_j^{-1})\mathfrak{f}(r_jz), \dots, \delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(r_\mu gr_j^{-1})\mathfrak{f}(r_jz))^t.$$

By definition of the induced representation the right hand side of this equation is $\rho_{\chi}(g)B\mathfrak{f}(z)$ and hence we have

(3.30)
$$B\mathfrak{f}(gz) = \rho_{\chi}(g)B\mathfrak{f}(z).$$

This together with (3.27) shows that $B : \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{H}(\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ is well defined. Now we show that B is 1-1. Let $B\mathfrak{f} = B\mathfrak{f}'$ and assume that $r_1 = id$. Then it follows that $(B\mathfrak{f})_1 = (B\mathfrak{f}')_1$ or $\mathfrak{f} = \mathfrak{f}'$ and hence B is injective. Remains to prove that B is also onto. For this consider $\mathfrak{v} = (\mathfrak{f}_1, \mathfrak{f}_2, \ldots, \mathfrak{f}_{\mu}) \in \mathcal{H}(\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ where \mathfrak{f}_i with $1 \leq i \leq \mu$ is a W-valued function on \mathbb{H} . Since for any $g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we have $\mathfrak{v}(gz) = \rho_{\chi}(g)\mathfrak{v}(z)$, assuming that $r_1 = id$, it follows from the definition of ρ_{χ} that

(3.31)
$$\mathfrak{f}_1(\gamma z) = \chi(\gamma)\mathfrak{f}_1(z), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma.$$

Since ρ_{χ} is unitary we have

(3.32)
$$\langle \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{v} \rangle_V = \langle \rho_{\chi}(r_i)\mathfrak{v}, \rho_{\chi}(r_i)\mathfrak{v} \rangle_V = \langle \mathfrak{v}(r_i z), \mathfrak{v}(r_i z) \rangle_V$$

and hence

(3.33)
$$\int_{F} \langle \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{v} \rangle_{V} d\mu = \frac{1}{\mu} \sum_{i=1}^{\mu} \int_{F} \langle \mathfrak{v}(r_{i}z), \mathfrak{v}(r_{i}z) \rangle_{V} d\mu.$$

Raplacing $r_i z$ with z in the right hand side of the above equation and using the invariance of the measure under the $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ action we get

(3.34)
$$\int_{F} \langle \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{v} \rangle_{V} d\mu(z) = \frac{1}{\mu} \int_{\cup_{i=1}^{\mu} r_{i}F} \langle \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{v} \rangle_{V} d\mu(z) = \frac{1}{\mu} \int_{F_{\Gamma}} \langle \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{v} \rangle_{V} d\mu(z) = \frac{1}{\mu} \sum_{i=1}^{\mu} \int_{F_{\Gamma}} \langle \mathfrak{f}_{i}, \mathfrak{f}_{i} \rangle_{W} d\mu(z)$$

where in the second equality we used the identity $F_{\Gamma} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\mu} r_i F$. Hence

(3.35)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{\mu} \int_{F_{\Gamma}} \langle \mathfrak{f}_{i}, \mathfrak{f}_{i} \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) = \mu \int_{F} \langle \mathfrak{v}, \mathfrak{v} \rangle_{V} d\mu(z) < \infty$$

since $\mathfrak{v} \in \mathcal{H}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z});\rho_{\chi})$. Therefore

(3.36)
$$\int_{F_{\Gamma}} \langle \mathfrak{f}_1, \mathfrak{f}_1 \rangle_W \, d\mu(z) < \infty.$$

From this and (3.31) we conclude that $\mathfrak{f}_1 \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$. Since we assumed that $r_1 = id$, we have $\mathfrak{v}_1 = (B\mathfrak{f})_1 = \mathfrak{f}_1$ and hence $(\mathfrak{v} - B\mathfrak{f}_1)_1 = 0$. Now we are going to show that $\mathfrak{v} = B\mathfrak{f}_1$. Let

$$(3.37) $\mathfrak{w} := \mathfrak{v} - B\mathfrak{f}_1.$$$

Then obviously we have

(3.38)
$$\mathfrak{w}(gz) = \rho_{\chi}(g)\mathfrak{w}(z), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

From this and the assumption $r_1 = id$, we get for $g = r_i$, $1 \le i \le \mu$,

(3.39)
$$0 = \mathfrak{w}_1(r_i z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\mu} \delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(r_1 r_i r_j^{-1}) \mathfrak{w}_j(z) = \sum_{j=1}^{\mu} \delta_{ij} \mathfrak{w}_j(z) = \mathfrak{w}_i(z)$$

where in the third equality we used the fact that r_i and r_j are distinct representatives iff $r_i r_j^{-1} \notin \Gamma$. Thus $\mathfrak{w} = 0$ and hence $\mathfrak{v} = B\mathfrak{f}_1$. That means B is onto and this completes the proof.

It is known that $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ and $\Delta(\text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), \rho_{\chi})$ are unitary equivalent ([57], page 51). This is described by the operator $B : \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{H}(\text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), \rho_{\chi})$, indeed

(3.40)
$$B\Delta(\Gamma;\chi) = \Delta(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),\rho_{\chi})B.$$

From this and Theorem 2.2 we get the following corollary of the previous lemma:

COROLLARY 3.1. The maps

(3.41)
$$B: \mathcal{S}(\Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{S}(\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$$

$$(3.42) B: \Theta_0(\Gamma; \chi) \to \Theta_0(\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_\chi)$$

$$(3.43) \qquad B: \Theta_1(\Gamma; \chi) \to \Theta_1(\mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$$

and also the maps

$$(3.44) \qquad B: \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$$

(3.45)
$$B: \Theta_0(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \Theta_0(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_\chi)$$

(3.46)
$$B: \Theta_1(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \Theta_1(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$$

all are isomorphisms.

Before proceeding further, we need to recall some definitions from [29]. The 1-form $\eta(u, v)$ is defined for smooth functions $u, v : \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{C}$ by

(3.47)
$$\begin{aligned} \eta(u,v)(z) &:= \\ \left[v(z)\partial_y u(z) - u(z)\partial_y v(z) \right] dx + \left[u(z)\partial_x v(z) - v(z)\partial_x u(z) \right] dy. \end{aligned}$$

It is known, that for u and v eigenfunctions of the hyperbolic Laplace operator with the same eigenvalue the 1-form $\eta(u, v)$ is closed. The hyperbolic Poisson kernel $R_{\zeta}(z)$, on the upper half plane given by (3.48)

$$R_{\zeta}(z) = \frac{y}{(\zeta - x)^2 + y^2} = \frac{i}{2}\left(\frac{1}{z - \zeta} - \frac{1}{\overline{z} - \zeta}\right), \quad \zeta \in \mathbb{C}, \quad z = x + iy \in \mathbb{H},$$

defines an eigenfunction of the hyperbolic Laplace operator with

(3.49)
$$\Delta R^s_{\zeta}(z) = s(1-s)R^s_{\zeta}(z).$$

Moreover, under
$$g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$$
 it transforms as

(3.50)
$$R_{g\zeta}(gz) = (c\zeta + d)^2 R_{\zeta}(z).$$

For $\vec{u} = (u_1, \ldots, u_n)^t$ with $\Delta u_i = \lambda u_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$ and v with $\Delta v = \lambda v$ a vector valued closed 1-form $\eta(\vec{u}, v)$ is defined by

(3.51)
$$\eta(\vec{u}, v) := (\eta(u_1, v), \eta(u_2, v), \dots, \eta(u_n, v))^t$$

where t denotes again the vector transpose.

LEMMA 3.3. For an element $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ define

(3.52)
$$(\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u})(\zeta) := \int_{L_{0,\infty}} \eta(B\mathfrak{u}, R^s_{\zeta})(z),$$

where $L_{0,\infty}$ denotes a path homotopic to the path from zero to infinity along the imaginary axis. Then $(\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u})(\zeta)$ can be extended to a vector valued holomorphic function on $\mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$.

PROOF. For an arbitrary component v_i of v = Bu, we have according to ([29], page 211),

$$\eta(\mathfrak{v}_{i}, R_{\zeta}^{s})(z) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{sy^{s-1}(y^{2} - (x - \zeta)^{2})}{((x - \zeta)^{2} + y^{2})^{s+1}} \mathfrak{v}_{i}(z) + \frac{y^{s}}{((x - \zeta)^{2} + y^{2})^{s}} \partial_{y} \mathfrak{v}_{i}(z) \end{pmatrix} dx + \\ \left(\frac{-2s(x - \zeta)y^{s}}{((x - \zeta)^{2} + y^{2})^{s+1}} \mathfrak{v}_{i}(z) - \frac{y^{s}}{((x - \zeta)^{2} + y^{2})^{s}} \partial_{x} \mathfrak{v}_{i}(z) \right) dy.$$

Let then $L_{0,\infty}$ be the path from 0 to ∞ along the imaginary axis. The *i*th component of (3.52) can be written as

$$(3.54) \quad (\mathcal{I} \circ \mathfrak{v}_i)(\zeta) = \int_0^{i\infty} \left(\frac{2s\zeta y^s}{(\zeta^2 + y^2)^{s+1}} \mathfrak{v}_i(z) - \frac{y^s}{(\zeta^2 + y^2)^s} \partial_x \mathfrak{v}_i(z) \right) dy.$$

Since \mathfrak{v} belongs to $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$, each component of \mathfrak{v} decays exponentially fast as $y \to \infty$. Then $\mathfrak{v}(Sz) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\mathfrak{v}(z)$ yields the exponential decay of each component of \mathfrak{v} as $y \to 0$. It follows from the Fourier type expansion of \mathfrak{v} and estimates (2.35) that the same asymptotics holds for $\partial_x \mathfrak{v}_i(z)$. Hence the integral in (3.54) in the half plane $\Re \zeta > 0$ is convergent and it defines evidently a holomorphic function of ζ in this domain. Since $\Delta \mathfrak{v}_i = s(1-s)\mathfrak{v}_i$, the 1-form η is closed and an argument similar to the one in ([**29**], page 212) yields the analytic continuation of $(\mathcal{I} \circ \mathfrak{v}_i)(\zeta)$ to $\mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$.

Next we prove that $\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta)$ is a periodlike function.

LEMMA 3.4. For $\zeta \in \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0]$ the function $\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta)$ with $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ satisfies the Lewis three term functional equation in Definition 3.4.

PROOF. Let $\Re \zeta > 0$ and consider the integral transform

(3.55)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \int_{L_{0,\infty}} \eta(B\mathfrak{u}, R^s_{\zeta})$$

where $L_{0,\infty}$ denotes the path from zero to ∞ along the imaginary axis. Moreover let

(3.56)
$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$$

be one of the following matrices:

(3.57)
$$T = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad T' = ST^{-1}S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then following the steps as in ([36], page 224) one gets

(3.58)
$$(c\zeta+d)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(\gamma^{-1})\mathcal{I}\circ B\mathfrak{u}(\gamma\zeta) = \int_{L_{\gamma^{-1}0,\gamma^{-1}\infty}} \eta(B\mathfrak{u},R^{s}_{\zeta}),$$

where $L_{\gamma^{-1}0,\gamma^{-1}\infty} = \gamma^{-1}L_{0,\infty}$. We note that for $\gamma = T$ and $\gamma = T'$ the integration path $L_{\gamma^{-1}0,\gamma^{-1}\infty}$ does not pass through any singularity of the integrand which are $z = \zeta$ and $z = \overline{\zeta}$. In fact, we have $\Re z \leq 0$ on the path $L_{\gamma^{-1}0,\gamma^{-1}\infty}$ and hence for $\Re \zeta > 0$ the integrals are well defined. For $\gamma = T$ we have

(3.59)
$$\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta+1) = \int_{L_{T^{-1}0,T^{-1}\infty}} \eta(B\mathfrak{u}, R^{s}_{\zeta})$$

and for $\gamma = T'$ we have

$$(3.60) \quad (\zeta+1)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(STS)\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) = \int_{L_{T'^{-1}0,T'^{-1}\infty}} \eta(B\mathfrak{u}, R^{s}_{\zeta}).$$

From these identities and the fact that $L_{0,\infty} = L_{T^{-1}0,T^{-1}\infty} \cup L_{T'^{-1}0,T'^{-1}\infty}$ we get

(3.61)
$$\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta+1) + (\zeta+1)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(STS)\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) \\ = \int_{L_{0,\infty}} \eta(B\mathfrak{u}, R^{s}_{\zeta}) = \mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta).$$

Thus for $\Re \zeta > 0$ we proved that (3.62)

$$\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta+1) - (\zeta+1)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(STS)\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) = 0.$$

But $\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta)$ can be extended to a holomorphic function on the cut complex plane $\mathbb{C}\setminus[0, -\infty)$ as we mentioned in the proof of Lemma 3.3. Hence we get equation (3.62) on the entire domain $\mathbb{C}\setminus[0, -\infty)$ and this completes the proof. \Box We determine next the asymptotics of $\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta)$ for $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ as $\zeta \downarrow 0$ and $\zeta \to \infty$ along the real axis. From (3.54) we easily get

(3.63)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \int_0^\infty (\frac{y}{\zeta^2 + y^2})^s (\frac{2s\zeta B\mathfrak{u}}{\zeta^2 + y^2} - \partial_x B\mathfrak{u}) dy.$$

Then for $\zeta \in (0, +\infty)$ we have

(3.64)
$$|\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta)| \leq \int_0^\infty |\frac{y}{\zeta^2 + y^2}|^{\Re s} |\frac{2s\zeta B\mathfrak{u}}{\zeta^2 + y^2} - \partial_x B\mathfrak{u}| dy.$$

From the Fourier type expansion of $B\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ and the estimates (2.35), it follows that both $B\mathfrak{u}(iy)$ and $\partial_x B\mathfrak{u}(iy)$ are bounded on $[0,\infty)$ and, as mentioned already, they decay exponentially fast at zero and infinity. Hence by using the estimates $|\frac{y}{\zeta^2 + y^2}| \leq \zeta^{-2}y$ respectively $|\frac{y}{\zeta^2 + y^2}| \leq y^{-1}$ for y > 0 and any $\zeta \in (0, +\infty)$ we get $|\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}| = O(\zeta^{-2\Re(s)})$ and $|\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}| = O(1)$ respectively. By choosing the stronger estimate for each value of $\Re(s)$ we get

(3.65)
$$|\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u}(\zeta)| = \begin{cases} O(\zeta^{\max(0, -2\Re(s))}) & \zeta \downarrow 0, \\ O(\zeta^{\min(0, -2\Re(s))}) & \zeta \to \infty. \end{cases}$$

Now one can easily check that a function satisfying these estimates, satisfies also the estimates given in Definition 3.6. Thus we get

LEMMA 3.5. Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and χ be a unitary representation of Γ . Then the integral transformation $\mathcal{I} \circ B$ defines a map from $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ to $\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$.

In [15], A. Deitmar and J. Hilgert generalized the Lewis-Zagier correspondence to the case of Maass cusp forms of any submodular group Σ of finite index with the one dimensional trivial representation. For this they considered first the isomorphism

$$(3.66) \qquad \qquad B: \mathcal{S}(s; \Sigma) \to \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\Sigma})$$

where ρ_{Σ} denotes the representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial representation of Σ . On the other hand, according to the "fundamental theorem on homomorphisms" the epimorphism

(3.67)
$$\rho_{\Sigma} : \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \to \rho_{\Sigma}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$$

yields the isomorphism of groups

(3.68)
$$\rho_{\Sigma}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) \cong \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\ker\rho_{\Sigma}.$$

This isomorphism also follows from the work of Millington [34], which we explain in section 4.5 for a special induced representation. Assuming that ker ρ_{Σ} is of finite index in PSL(2, Z) the representation ρ_{Σ} of PSL(2, Z) gives a representation ρ'_{Σ} of the finite group PSL(2, Z)/ker ρ_{Σ} in the following way:

(3.69)
$$\rho'_{\Sigma}(g \ker \rho_{\Sigma}) = \rho_{\Sigma}(g), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

Let

(3.70)
$$\rho_{\Sigma}' = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \eta_i$$

be the decomposition of ρ'_{Σ} into its irreducible subrepresentations, where η'_i is an irreducible representation of the group $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\ker\rho_{\Sigma}$ with multiplicity m_i and N is the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations. Then the decomposition of ρ_{Σ} into its irreducible subrepresentations is given by

(3.71)
$$\rho_{\Sigma} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \eta_i$$

where η_i is an irreducible representation of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ with multiplicity m_i and N is the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations and we have

(3.72)
$$\eta_i(g) = \eta'_i(g \ker \rho_{\Sigma}), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}).$$

This decomposition of the representation ρ_{Σ} yields the decomposition

(3.73)
$$\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\Sigma}) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i).$$

Deitmar and Hilgert then proved ([15], page 1091, Theorem 3.3):

THEOREM 3.6. Let Λ be a normal subgroup of finite index in the projective modular group $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and ρ_{Λ} be the representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the one dimensional trivial representation of Λ which yields the regular representation of the finite group $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda$. Moreover let η be an irreducible subrepresentation of ρ_{Λ} corresponding to an irreducible subrepresentation of the regular representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda$. Then the space of Maass cusp forms $\mathcal{S}(s; PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta)$ is in one to one correspondence with the space of period functions $\mathfrak{S}(s; PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta)$. Indeed, the map

$$(3.74) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta)$$

is a bijection. We note also that η has obviously a finite image as in the assumptions of Deitmar and Hilgert.

According to this theorem for each η_i in (3.71) with $\Lambda = \ker \rho_{\Sigma}$ the map

(3.75)
$$\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i)$$

From this and (3.73) and by using the linearity of \mathcal{I} it follows that

(3.76)
$$\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\Sigma}) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i)$$

is bijection. This and the bijection

(3.77)
$$\mathfrak{S}(s;\Sigma) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i)$$

yield the bijection

(3.78)
$$\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\Sigma}) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Sigma)$$

38

or equivalently the bijection

(3.79)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Sigma) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Sigma).$$

This is indeed the generalized version of Lewis-Zagier correspondence derived by Deitmar and Hilgert. But from theorem 3.6 one can get a more general result. As a corollary of this theorem we have

COROLLARY 3.2. Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and χ be a unitary representation of Γ such that the kernel of the representation ρ_{χ} of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ has finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$. Then for s a spectral parameter the space of Maass cusp forms $S(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ is in one to one correspondence with the space of period functions $\mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$. Indeed, the map

(3.80)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

is a bijection.

PROOF. We note that $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$ (see Corollary 3.1). The epimorphism

(3.81)
$$\rho_{\chi} : \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \to \rho_{\chi}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$$

yields the group isomorphism

(3.82)
$$\rho_{\chi}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) \cong \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda$$

where $\Lambda := \ker \rho_{\chi}$ is a normal subgroup of finite index in $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and hence $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda$ is a finite group. Then the representation ρ_{χ} relates to the representation ρ'_{χ} of the finite group $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Lambda$ by

(3.83)
$$\rho_{\chi}(g) = \rho_{\chi}'(g\Lambda), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

Consider the decomposition of the induced representation ρ'_{χ} into its irreducible subrepresentations,

(3.84)
$$\rho'_{\chi} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \eta'_i$$

where N denotes the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations and m_i denotes the multiplicity of the irreducible subrepresentation η'_i . This yields the decomposition of the induced representation ρ_{χ} into its irreducible subrepresentations,

(3.85)
$$\rho_{\chi} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \eta_i$$

where N denotes the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations and m_i denotes the multiplicity of the irreducible subrepresentation η_i and where

(3.86)
$$\eta_i(g) = \eta'_i(g\Lambda), \quad g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$$

Then we have for the space of vector valued Maass cusp forms

(3.87)
$$\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi}) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \eta_i).$$

Applying Theorem 3.6 to each of the representations η_i and s a spectral parameter and using the linearity of \mathcal{I} and the fact that

(3.88)
$$\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi) \cong \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i \mathfrak{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z});\eta_i)$$

we get the bijection

(3.89)
$$\mathcal{I}: \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi}) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi).$$

From this and the isomorphism

$$(3.90) \qquad B: \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); \rho_{\chi})$$

it follows that

(3.91)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

is a bijection which completes the proof.

3.3. Eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator

We consider a subgroup Γ of finite index in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) and a unitary representation χ of Γ which allows for a symmetry P. For simplicity reasons, we write \mathcal{L}_s instead of $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}$. According to (3.22), the eigenfunctions of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s$ with eigenvalues $\lambda = \pm 1$ determine the *s*-values for which Selberg's zeta function vanishes. In this section we show that these eigenfunctions are directly related to the period(like) functions. This establishes a connection between the eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator and the automorphic functions. If χ is a unitary character, this relation is known to be a 1-1 correspondence, which can be extended indeed to an arbitrary unitary representation [19].

We are going to show that every period function determines a certain eigenfunction of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s$ and vice versa. First, we show that every eigenfunction of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s$ with eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$ determines a periodlike function.

LEMMA 3.7. For χ a finite dimensional unitary representation of the subgroup Γ of finite index in $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and P a symmetry let $P\mathcal{L}_s f = \lambda f$ with $f \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D)$ and $\lambda = \pm 1$. Define $\psi(\zeta) := \rho_{\chi}(TS)f(\zeta - 1)$. Then $\psi(\zeta)$ fulfils the functional equations

(3.92)
$$\psi(\zeta) = \lambda \zeta^{-2s} P \rho_{\chi}(S) \psi(\frac{1}{\zeta})$$

and

(3.93)
$$\psi(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\psi(\zeta+1) - (\zeta+1)^{-2s}\rho_{\chi}(STS)\psi(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}) = 0$$

and hence is a periodlike function.

PROOF. For the proof we follow the arguments in [19] for unitary characters. Let $\Re(s) > \frac{1}{2}$. According to (3.13) we have

(3.94)
$$\mathcal{L}_s f(\zeta) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{\zeta+n})^{2s} \rho_{\chi}(ST^n) f(\frac{1}{\zeta+n}).$$

By a simple calculation we get (3.95)

$$P\mathcal{L}_s f(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1}S)P\mathcal{L}_s f(\zeta+1) = (\frac{1}{\zeta+1})^{2s} P\rho_{\chi}(ST)f(\frac{1}{\zeta+1}),$$

or, since by assumption $P\mathcal{L}_s f = \lambda f$,

(3.96)
$$f(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1}S)f(\zeta+1) = \lambda(\frac{1}{\zeta+1})^{2s}P\rho_{\chi}(ST)f(\frac{1}{\zeta+1}).$$

Changing the variable $\zeta \to \zeta - 1$ and inserting the identity $f(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1})\psi(\zeta + 1)$, one gets

(3.97)
$$\psi(\zeta) - \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\psi(\zeta+1) = \lambda \zeta^{-2s} P \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1})\psi(\frac{\zeta+1}{\zeta}).$$

Next we replace the variable ζ by $1/\zeta$ and multiply both sides of the equation by $\lambda \zeta^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(S)P$. This leads to (3.98)

$$\lambda \zeta^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(S) P \psi(\frac{1}{\zeta}) - \lambda \zeta^{-2s} P \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1}) \psi(\frac{\zeta+1}{\zeta}) = \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1}) \psi(\zeta+1).$$

Subtracting this from (3.97) yields formula (3.92). Using this formula, for the right hand side of (3.97) we have

(3.99)
$$\lambda \zeta^{-2s} P \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1}) \psi(\frac{\zeta+1}{\zeta}) = (\zeta+1)^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(STS) \psi(\frac{\zeta}{\zeta+1}).$$

Inserting this identity into the equation (3.97) yields equation (3.93). The equations (3.92) and (3.93) have been derived in the half-plane $\Re(s) > \frac{1}{2}$. Analytic continuation shows that they hold for arbitrary $s \in \mathbb{C}$. This completes the proof.

For the following we need some auxiliary results on the asymptotic expansion of periodlike functions. We follow the same steps as in [15] and [19] where the asymptotics were obtained in the case of a unitary character. For $\Re(\zeta) > 0$ and $\Re(s) > \frac{1}{2}$ with $s \notin \mathbb{Z}$ define

(3.100)
$$Q_0(\zeta) := \zeta^{-2s} \psi(\frac{1}{\zeta}) - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+\zeta)^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(TT'^n)^{-1} \psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta})$$

where $T' = ST^{-1}S$. Then we have ([15], page 1095)

(3.101)
$$Q_0(\zeta + 1) = \rho_{\chi}(T')Q_0(\zeta).$$

Moreover $Q_0(\zeta)$ has an meromorphic continuation to the right halfplane $2\Re(s) > -M$ for any $M \in \mathbb{N}$. To obtain this analytic continuations we subtract and add for $\Re(s) > \frac{1}{2}$ the *M*-th Taylor polynomial of ψ at the point 1. This leads to the following identity for any M > 0(3.102)

$$Q_0(\zeta) = \zeta^{-2s} \psi(\frac{1}{\zeta}) - \sum_{m=0}^M \zeta_{\rho_\chi}(m+2s,\zeta) C_m + \sum_{n=0}^\infty (n+\zeta)^{-2s} \rho_\chi(TT'^n)^{-1} \left(\psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta}) - \sum_{m=0}^M \frac{C_m}{(n+\zeta)^m}\right)$$

where

(3.103)
$$\zeta_{\rho_{\chi}}(s,a) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\rho_{\chi}(TT'^{k})^{-1}}{(k+a)^{s}}$$

and

(3.104)
$$C_m = \frac{1}{m!} \frac{\partial^m}{\partial \zeta^m} \psi|_{\zeta=1}$$

is the *m*-th coefficient of the Taylor expansion of ψ at $\zeta = 1$. We note that (3.102) is well defined in the domain $2\Re(s) > -M \in \mathbb{N}$ with possible poles in the second term. The analytic continuation of the second term is obtained through its relation to Lerch's transcendent ([**39**], page 612)

(3.105)
$$\Phi(z,s,a) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{z^k}{(a+k)^s}, \quad |z| = 1,$$

which is absolutely convergent for $\Re(s) > 1$ and $\Re(a) > 0$. By a similarity transformation we have

(3.106)
$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_{\rho_{\chi}}(s,a) &= \\ \mathcal{M}^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\Phi(e^{2i\pi\lambda_{1}},s,a),\ldots,\Phi(e^{2i\pi\lambda_{\dim\rho_{\chi}}},s,a))\mathcal{M}\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1}) \end{aligned}$$

where \mathcal{M} is a matrix diagonalizing $\rho_{\chi}(T'^{-1})$:

(3.107)
$$\mathcal{M}\rho_{\chi}(T'^{-1})\mathcal{M}^{-1} = \operatorname{diag}(e^{2i\pi\lambda_{1}},\ldots,e^{2i\pi\lambda_{\dim\rho_{\chi}}}).$$

Then the analytic continuation of $\zeta_{\rho_{\chi}}(s, a)$ is obtained from the well known analytic continuation of Lerch's transcendent (see for example [17]).

We can now determine the asymptotic behaviour of the period-like functions at zero on the positive real axis as in ([15], page 1096). First we need to recall the asymptotic behaviour of Lerch's transcendent. For $\Re(a) > 0$ and $z = \exp(2i\pi\lambda_i)$ we have [17, 15]

(3.108)
$$\Phi(z,s,a) = \sum_{k=-1}^{N-1} b_k(z,s) a^{-s-k} + R_N(z,s,a)$$

where $R_N(z, s, a) = O(a^{-N-s})$ as $a \to \infty$ and $b_k(z, s)$ are explicitly known constants. For $z \neq 1$ these constants are given in ([17], page 214, Theorem 1) with $b_{-1}(z, s) \equiv 0$ and for z = 1 they are given for example in ([15], page 1093). We remind that for z = 1 Lerch's transcendent coincides with the Hurwitz zeta function.

Let $\psi : \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0] \to \mathbb{C}^{\mu \dim \rho_{\chi}}$ be a holomorphic solution of (3.93) with $s \notin \mathbb{Z}$. According to (3.102), we have

$$\psi(\zeta) = \zeta^{-2s} Q_0(\zeta^{-1}) + \sum_{m=0}^M \zeta^{-2s} \zeta_{\rho_\chi}(m+2s,\zeta^{-1}) C_m + \zeta^{-2s} \times \sum_{n=0}^\infty (n+\zeta^{-1})^{-2s} \rho_\chi(TT'^n)^{-1} \left(\psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta^{-1}}) - \sum_{m=0}^M \frac{C_m}{(n+\zeta^{-1})^m}\right).$$

Each term in the last sum is of order $O(\zeta^M)$ ([15], page 1096) and hence for $1 \le i \le \dim \rho_{\chi}$ we have (3.110)

$$\psi_i(\zeta) \underset{\zeta \to 0}{\sim} \zeta^{-2s} Q_{0i}(\zeta^{-1}) + \sum_{m=0}^M \zeta^{-2s} \left[\zeta_{\rho_{\chi}}(m+2s,\zeta^{-1})C_m \right]_i + O(\zeta^M).$$

Inserting the estimate (3.108) into (3.106) and this into relation (3.110) leads to

(3.111)
$$\psi(\zeta) \underset{\zeta \to 0}{\sim} \zeta^{-2s} Q_0(\frac{1}{\zeta}) + \sum_{l=-1}^{\infty} C_l^* \zeta^l,$$

where the constants C_l^* can be calculated explicitly as in ([15], page 1094, formula 39), in particular C_{-1}^* is proportional to $\psi(1)$. Now we can prove the following Lemma.

LEMMA 3.8. Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $\text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$, χ be a finite dimensional unitary representation of Γ , P be a symmetry of the transfer operator for Γ and χ , and let $\psi : \mathbb{C} \setminus (-\infty, 0] \to \mathbb{C}^{\mu \dim \rho_{\chi}}$ be a solution of equations (3.92) and (3.93) with $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{1,2\Re(s)\}})$ as $\zeta \downarrow 0$ and $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{0,2\Re(s)-1\}})$ as $\zeta \to \infty$. Then ψ determines an eigenfunction of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s$ with eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$.

PROOF. Since $\psi_i(\zeta) = o(\zeta^{-\min\{1,2\Re(s)\}})$ as $\zeta \downarrow 0$, it follows from the asymptotic expansion (3.111) that $\lim_{\zeta\to\infty} Q_0(\zeta) = 0$. Because of the periodicity of Q_0 given in (3.101), Q_0 must then be identically zero and $C^*_{-1} = 0$. Hence (3.100) reduces to

(3.112)
$$\zeta^{-2s}\psi(\frac{1}{\zeta}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+\zeta)^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(TT'^{n})^{-1}\psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta})$$

or, by changing ζ to ζ^{-1}

(3.113)
$$\psi(\zeta) = \zeta^{-2s} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+\zeta^{-1})^{-2s} \rho_{\chi} (TT'^n)^{-1} \psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta^{-1}}).$$

Since ψ fulfils equation (3.92), this equation can be rewritten as (3.114)

$$\lambda \zeta^{-2s} P \rho_{\chi}(S) \psi(\frac{1}{\zeta}) = \zeta^{-2s} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+\zeta^{-1})^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(TT'^{n})^{-1} \psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta^{-1}}).$$

Changing once more ζ to ζ^{-1} we get

(3.115)
$$\lambda P \rho_{\chi}(S) \psi(\zeta) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (n+\zeta)^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(TT'^{n})^{-1} \psi(1+\frac{1}{n+\zeta}).$$

Then replace ζ by $\zeta + 1$. This leads to

(3.116)
$$\lambda P \rho_{\chi}(S) \psi(\zeta + 1) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n+\zeta)^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(T(T')^{n-1})^{-1} \psi(1 + \frac{1}{n+\zeta}).$$

Now we insert the identity $\psi(\zeta + 1) = \rho_{\chi}(TS)f(\zeta)$ which leads to (3.117)

$$\lambda P \rho_{\chi}(STS) f(\zeta) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n+\zeta)^{-2s} \rho_{\chi}(T')^{-n+1} \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1}) \rho_{\chi}(TS) f(\frac{1}{n+\zeta}).$$

Since $T' = ST^{-1}S$, a simple calculation shows

(3.118)
$$\lambda f(\zeta) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (n+\zeta)^{-2s} P \rho_{\chi}(ST^n) f(\frac{1}{n+\zeta}).$$

which completes the proof.

REMARK 3.2. We note that in the proof of Lemma 3.8 we did not use the asymptotics of ψ at infinity. Indeed, this follows from the asymptotics of ψ at zero by using (3.92).

In the following Lemma we give a sufficient condition for the eigenfunctions of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s$ to correspond to a period function.

LEMMA 3.9. For χ a finite dimensional unitary representation of the subgroup Γ of finite index in $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and P a symmetry let $P\mathcal{L}_s f = \lambda f$ with $f \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D)$ and $\lambda = \pm 1$. If f(0) = 0 then the periodlike function $\psi(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(TS)f(\zeta - 1)$ is indeed a period function.

PROOF. By inverting the steps in the proof of Lemma 3.8 from (3.118) to (3.112), it follows that for the periodlike function ψ the function $Q_0(\zeta)$ vanishes. On the other hand, if f(0) = 0 the corresponding periodlike function $\psi(\zeta)$ fulfills $\psi(1) = 0$. Hence, recalling that the coefficient C_{-1}^* in the asymptotics (3.111) is proportional to $\psi(1)$, it

follows that $C_{-1}^* = 0$. Then the asymptotics (3.111) with $C_{-1}^* = 0$ and vanishing Q_0 yields the desired asymptotics for ψ to be a period function. This completes the proof.

We summarize the above results in the following theorem:

THEOREM 3.10. For χ a finite dimensional unitary representation of a subgroup Γ of finite index in $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and \mathcal{P} a symmetry, let $F(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ denote the space of eigenfunctions $f \in \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu \dim \chi} B(D)$ of the transfer operator $\mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}$ with eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$ and f(0) = 0. Let $\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ be the space of period functions as defined in Definition 3.6. Then the map $\mathcal{P}: \mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi) \to F(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ given by

(3.119)
$$f(\zeta) = \mathcal{P}\psi(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(ST^{-1})\psi(\zeta+1)|_D$$

is a bijection.

From this and Corollary 3.2 follows

THEOREM 3.11. Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and let χ be a finite dimensional unitary representation of Γ such that the kernel of the induced representation ρ_{χ} of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ is of finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$. Moreover, let χ allow for a symmetry P for Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ in (3.21). Then the map

$$(3.120) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to F(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

is a bijection.

PROOF. According to corollary 3.2

$$(3.121) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

is a bijection. On the other hand according to theorem 3.10

$$(3.122) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{P}: \mathfrak{S}(s; \Gamma; \chi) \to F(s; \Gamma; \chi)$$

is a bijection. Composition of these two maps leads to the desired result. $\hfill \Box$

3.4. Automorphisms of periodlike functions

In this section we consider subgroups $\Gamma \leq \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ with $\mu = [\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma] < \infty$ such that

(3.123)
$$M\Gamma M = \Gamma, \quad M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and χ a unitary representation of Γ in some μ -dimensional Hermitian space. By definition we have

(3.124)

$$\operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) := \left\{ g = \pm \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \mid a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad \det g = \pm 1 \right\}.$$

The action

(3.125)
$$\operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \times \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$$

for $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is defined by

(3.126)
$$(g,z) = gz = \begin{cases} \frac{az+b}{cz+d}, & \det g = 1, \\ \frac{a\overline{z}+b}{c\overline{z}+d}, & \det g = -1. \end{cases}$$

DEFINITION 3.7. Let $j \in PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and J be the transformation defined by

(3.127)
$$J\mathfrak{f}(z) = \mathfrak{f}(jz), \quad \mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi).$$

Then J is called an automorphism of $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ if $J\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ for all $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$. The automorphism of any subspace of $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ is defined in the same way.

For example the element $j = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$ defines an automorphism of Maass cusp forms of PSL(2, Z) with trivial representation whose eigenspaces for eigenvalues 1 or -1 correspond to even or odd Maass cusp forms.

LEMMA 3.12. The transformation $J\mathfrak{f}(z) = \mathfrak{f}(jz)$ is an automorphism of $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma;\chi)$ iff j belongs to $N_{\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}(\Gamma)$, the normalizer of Γ in $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. In particular, an automorphism J of $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma;\chi)$ defines an automorphism of the space $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$.

PROOF. First, we show that for F a fundamental domain of Γ , F' := jF is also a fundamental domain of Γ . Let $F_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$ denote the fundamental domain of $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Then we have

(3.128)
$$F = \bigcup_{r \in R(\Gamma \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} rF_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$$

where $R(\Gamma \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ denotes a set of representatives of the right cosets of Γ in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$. Multiplying both side of this identity by j we get

(3.129)
$$F' = jF = \bigcup_{r \in R(\Gamma \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} jrF_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$$

or,

(3.130)
$$F' = \bigcup_{r \in R(\Gamma \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} jr j^{-1} j F_{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}.$$

But for a set of representatives r of the right cosets of Γ in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$, the set of elements jrj^{-1} is another set of representatives of the right cosets of Γ in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and hence we get

(3.131)
$$F' = \bigcup_{r' \in R(\Gamma \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} r' j F_{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}.$$

46

Let $F_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$ be the fundamental domain of $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ which is symmetric relative to the *y*-axis, that is, $MF_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})} = F_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$ (see for example [23], page 44, Figure 9). Since $j = \gamma M$ where $\gamma \in \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$, we get $jF_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})} = \gamma F_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$. Thus, obviously, $F_0 := jF_{\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}$ is a fundamental domain of $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and hence

(3.132)
$$F' = \bigcup_{r' \in R(\Gamma \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} r' F_0.$$

Therefore F' = jF is a fundamental domain of Γ . Now, from the facts that $j\Gamma j^{-1} = \Gamma$ and $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$ it follows that if $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma;\chi)$ then $J\mathfrak{f}$ has the same transformation property as an element of $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma;\chi)$. Moreover, by the variable substitution $z \to jz$ we get

(3.133)
$$\int_{jF} \langle \mathfrak{f}(jz), \mathfrak{f}(jz) \rangle \, d\mu(z) = \int_{F} \langle \mathfrak{f}(z), \mathfrak{f}(z) \rangle \, d\mu(z) < \infty.$$

That means $J\mathfrak{f}$ is square integrable iff \mathfrak{f} is so and hence $J\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$. Conversely if both \mathfrak{f} and $J\mathfrak{f}$ are in $\mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ then for $\gamma \in \Gamma$ we have $(J\mathfrak{f})(\gamma z) = \chi(\gamma)J\mathfrak{f}(z)$ and hence

(3.134)
$$f(j\gamma z) = \chi(\gamma)f(jz).$$

But since $\mathfrak{f} \in \mathcal{H}(\Gamma; \chi)$ we have $\mathfrak{f}(\gamma z) = \chi(\gamma)\mathfrak{f}(z)$ and hence

(3.135)
$$f(\gamma j z) = \chi(\gamma)f(jz)$$

Therefore we must have $f(j\gamma z) = f(\gamma j z)$ which leads to

$$(3.136) j\gamma j^{-1} = \theta\gamma, \quad \theta \in \ker \chi.$$

That is j belongs to normalizer of Γ and $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$. Thus we proved the first assertion.

To prove the second part we follow the same lines as in [19]. Recall that a cusp $x_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R} \cup \infty$ of Γ is defined by $S_{\alpha}x_{\alpha} = x_{\alpha}$ where S_{α} is a primitive parabolic element of Γ . Let x_{α} be a cusp of Γ , then $jS_{\alpha}j^{-1}jx_{\alpha} = jx_{\alpha}$. Evidently, $jS_{\alpha}j^{-1}$ is a primitive parabolic element of Γ and hence jx_{α} is a cusp of Γ .

For each cusp x_{α} of Γ let σ_{α} be an element in $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ such that $\sigma_{\alpha}\infty = x_{\alpha}$. Then for $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ we have

(3.137)
$$(J\mathfrak{u})(\sigma_{\alpha}z) = \mathfrak{u}(j\sigma_{\alpha}z).$$

Since $j\sigma_{\alpha}\infty$ is a cusp of Γ , $\mathfrak{u}(j\sigma_{\alpha}z)$ vanishes exponentially fast at infinity and hence $(J\mathfrak{u})(z)$ vanishes exponentially fast at the cusp x_{α} . Therefore $J\mathfrak{u}$ belongs to $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$. Thus, the proof of the second assertion is complete.

Next we are going to determine the automorphism of periodlike functions which corresponds to the automorphism J of the automorphic functions. THEOREM 3.13. Let $\mathfrak{u} \in \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$ and j be an element of the normalizer $N_{\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})}(\Gamma)$ of Γ in $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ with det j = -1 such that $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and the kernel of the induced representation ρ_{χ} has finite index in $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Then the automorphism $J: \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi) \to \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$, given by

$$(3.138) J\mathfrak{u}(z) = \mathfrak{u}(jz),$$

induces via the integral transformation $\mathcal{I} \circ B$ an automorphism

(3.139)
$$\mathcal{J}:\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)\to\mathfrak{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi)$$

given by

(3.140)
$$\mathcal{J}\psi(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)\zeta^{-2s}\psi(\frac{1}{\zeta}).$$

The matrix $\pi(J)$ is defined by (3.141)

 $\pi(J)_{k,\alpha;l,\beta} = [\delta_{\Gamma}(jR_kMR_l^{-1})]_{\alpha,\beta}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}, \quad 1 \le \alpha, \beta \le \dim \chi$ where μ_{Γ} is the index of Γ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), $R_i \in R(\Gamma \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$, and

(3.142)
$$\delta_{\Gamma}(\gamma) := \begin{cases} \chi(\gamma), & \gamma \in \Gamma, \\ 0, & \gamma \notin \Gamma. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, the matrix $\pi(J)$ is a symmetry operator of Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$. (see Definition 3.3).

PROOF. For $\psi(\zeta) = (\mathcal{I} \circ B\mathfrak{u})(\zeta)$ let

(3.143)
$$\mathcal{J}\psi(\zeta) := (\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u})(\zeta)$$

Then we have (3.144)

$$\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \int_0^{i\infty} \eta(B \circ J\mathfrak{u}, R^s_{\zeta})(z) = \int_{S0}^{Si\infty} \eta(B \circ J\mathfrak{u}, R^s_{\zeta})(Sz).$$

If $z \mapsto g(z)$ is a holomorphic change of the variable, then for two eigenfunctions of the hyperbolic Laplacian with the same eigenvalue the 1-form η transforms as ([29], page 210)

(3.145)
$$\eta(u \circ g, v \circ g) = \eta(u, v) \circ g.$$

Hence, observing that each component of \mathfrak{u} and R_{ζ}^{s} are eigenfunctions of the hyperbolic Laplacian with eigenvalue s(1-s) (see section 3.2), we get

(3.146)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = -\int_0^{i\infty} \eta(B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(Sz), R^s_{\zeta}(Sz)).$$

where we used the fact that $S0 = i\infty$ and $Si\infty = 0$. Inserting the identity $B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(Sz) = \rho_{\chi}(S)B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(z)$ into (3.146) and using the linearity

of η we get

(3.147)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = -\rho_{\chi}(S) \int_{0}^{i\infty} \eta(B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(z), R_{\zeta}^{s}(Sz)).$$

But on $\Re z = 0$ the 1-form η fulfills

(3.148)

$$\eta(J_M u(z), J_M v(z))|_{\Re z=0} = [u(Mz)\partial_x v(Mz) - v(Mz)\partial_x u(Mz)]_{\Re z=0} dy = -[u(z)\partial_x v(z) - v(z)\partial_x u(z)]_{\Re z=0} dy$$

where $J_M\mathfrak{u}(z) := \mathfrak{u}(Mz)$. Consequently, (3.147) can be written as (3.149) $\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S) \int^{i\infty} \eta(J_M \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(z), R^s_{\zeta}(SMz)).$

$$(3.149) \quad \mathcal{L} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S) \int_{0}^{\infty} \eta(J_{M} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(z), R_{\zeta}^{\circ}(SMz))$$
For $q = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & D \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{DSL}(2, \mathbb{R})$ the following identity holds [20]

For
$$g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$$
 the following identity holds [29]
(3.150) $R_{g\zeta}(gz) = (c\zeta + d)^2 R_{\zeta}(z).$

Thus we have

(3.151)
$$R_{\zeta}(Sz) = \zeta^{-2} R_{S\zeta}(z).$$

Moreover, one can easily check that $R_{-\zeta}(Mz) = R_{\zeta}(z)$ and hence

(3.152)
$$R_{\zeta}(SMz) = \zeta^{-2} R_{S\zeta}(Mz) = \zeta^{-2} R_{-S\zeta}(z)$$

Inserting this into (3.149) and by using the linearity of η , we get

(3.153)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\zeta^{-2s} \int_0^{i\infty} \eta(J_M \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(z), R^s_{-S\zeta}(z)).$$

Let R_i , $1 \leq i \leq \mu$, be a set of representatives of the right cosets of Γ in $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Then we have

(3.154)
$$(J_M \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u})_k(z) = \mathfrak{u}(jR_kMz).$$

Evidently, the operator $J_M \circ B \circ J$ defines the matrix $\pi(J)$ which acts on the vector $B\mathfrak{u}$ and hence we get

(3.155)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)\zeta^{-2s} \int_{0}^{i\infty} \eta(B\mathfrak{u}(z), R^{s}_{-S\zeta}(z)).$$

Since $-S\zeta = \frac{1}{\zeta}$ we get

(3.156)
$$\mathcal{I} \circ B \circ J\mathfrak{u}(\zeta) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)\zeta^{-2s}\psi(\frac{1}{\zeta})$$

which is the desired result.

To prove the last assertion we must show according to the definition 3.3 of a symmetry operator of $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi}$ that $\pi(J)$ fulfils

1) $\pi(J)^2 = id_{\mu_{\Gamma}\dim\chi}$, where id_d denotes the $d \times d$ identity matrix. 2) $\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(S) = \rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)$. 3) $\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(T) = \rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J)$. The matrix $\pi(J)$ can be considered a monomial matrix whose entries are block matrices of dimension $n = \dim \chi$. That is, for $1 \leq k, l \leq \mu_{\Gamma}$ the component $[\pi(J)]_{k,l}$ of $\pi(J)$ is a matrix whose (α, β) components are defined by

$$(3.157) \qquad \qquad [[\pi(J)]_{k,l}]_{\alpha,\beta} := \pi(J)_{k,\alpha;l,\beta}, \quad 1 \le \alpha, \beta \le \dim \chi.$$

With this interpretation of $\pi(J)$ as a monomial matrix it is obvious that for a nonzero component (k, l) of its square, namely

(3.158)
$$[\pi(J)^2]_{k,l} = \sum_{m=0}^{\mu_{\Gamma}} [\pi(J)]_{k,m} [\pi(J)]_{m,l}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}$$

all terms except one of them vanish. That is, there is a unique $1 \leq m \leq \mu_{\Gamma}$ such that

(3.159)
$$[\pi(J)^2]_{k,l} = [\pi(J)]_{k,m} [\pi(J)]_{m,l}.$$

Thus according to the definition of $\pi(J)$ we have

(3.160)
$$[\pi(J)^2]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMR_m^{-1})\chi(jR_mMR_l^{-1}).$$

On the other hand, according to our assumption for any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ we have $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$. Therefore, we get

(3.161)
$$[\pi(J)^2]_{k,l} = \chi(j^2 R_k M R_m^{-1} j^{-1}) \chi(j R_m M R_l^{-1}) = \chi(j^2 R_k R_l^{-1}).$$

But $j^2 = id_2$ and hence we have

(3.162)
$$[\pi(J)^2]_{k,l} = \chi(j^2 R_k R_l^{-1}) = \chi(R_k R_l^{-1}).$$

Since $R_k R_l^{-1} \in \Gamma$ iff k = l it follows that $\pi(J)$ is a diagonal matrix whose diagonal elements are the identity matrix $\chi(id_2)$. This yields the first item, namely $\pi(J)^2 = id_{\mu_{\Gamma}\dim\chi}$. To prove the second item we consider the matrix $\rho_{\chi}(S)$ as a monomial matrix with block matrices of dimension dim χ as its entries. Then similar to the previous case, there is an unique $1 \leq m \leq \mu_{\Gamma}$ such that a nonzero component (k, l)of $\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(S)$ can be written as

$$(3.163) \qquad [\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(S)]_{k,l} = [\pi(J)]_{k,m}[\rho_{\chi}(S)]_{m,l}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

Then according to the definitions of $\pi(J)$ and ρ_{χ} we get

(3.164)
$$[\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(S)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMR_m^{-1})\chi(R_mSR_l^{-1})$$

or,

(3.165)
$$[\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(S)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMSR_l^{-1}), \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

In (3.164) evidently we have

(3.166)
$$jR_kMR_m^{-1} \in \Gamma, \quad R_mSR_l^{-1} \in \Gamma.$$

From this and $j\Gamma j^{-1} = \Gamma$ respectively MS = SM by a simple calculation it follows that

$$(3.167) R_k S R_{m'}^{-1} \in \Gamma, \quad j R_{m'} M R_l^{-1} \in \Gamma$$

where $j^{-1}R_mMS$ determines uniquely a representative $R_{m'}$. Hence, the (k, l) component of $\rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)$ is nonzero and given by

(3.168)
$$[\rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)]_{k,l} = [\rho_{\chi}(S)]_{k,m'}[\pi(J)]_{m',l}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

Then according to the definitions of $\pi(J)$ and ρ_{χ} we get

(3.169)
$$[\rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)]_{k,l} = \chi(R_k S R_{m'}^{-1})\chi(jR_{m'} M R_l^{-1}).$$

By using the fact that for each $\gamma \in \Gamma$, $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$ we get (3.170)

$$[\rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kSR_{m'}^{-1}j^{-1})\chi(jR_{m'}MR_l^{-1}) = \chi(jR_kSMR_l^{-1}).$$

Since MS = SM, we get

(3.171)
$$[\rho_{\chi}(S)\pi(J)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMSR_l^{-1}), \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

This and (3.165) yields the second item.

To prove the third item we consider the matrix $\rho_{\chi}(T)$ as a monomial matrix with block matrices of dimension dim χ as its entries. Then similar to the previous case, there is an unique $1 \le m \le \mu_{\Gamma}$ such that a nonzero component (k, l) of $\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(T)$ can be written as

(3.172)
$$[\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(T)]_{k,l} = [\pi(J)]_{k,m} [\rho_{\chi}(T)]_{m,l}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

Then according to the definitions of $\pi(J)$ and ρ_{χ} we get

(3.173)
$$[\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(T)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMR_m^{-1})\chi(R_mTR_l^{-1})$$

or,

(3.174)
$$[\pi(J)\rho_{\chi}(T)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMTR_l^{-1}), \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

In (3.173) evidently we have

$$(3.175) jR_kMR_m^{-1} \in \Gamma, \quad R_mTR_l^{-1} \in \Gamma.$$

From this and $j\Gamma j^{-1} = \Gamma$ respectively $MT = T^{-1}M$ it follows by a simple calculation that

(3.176)
$$R_k T^{-1} R_{m'}^{-1} \in \Gamma, \quad j R_{m'} M R_l^{-1} \in \mathbf{I}$$

where $j^{-1}R_mMT^{-1}$ determines uniquely a representative $R_{m'}$. Hence, the (k, l) component of $\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J)$ is nonzero and given by

(3.177)
$$[\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J)]_{k,l} = [\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})]_{k,m'}[\pi(J)]_{m',l}, \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

Then according to the definitions of $\pi(J)$ and ρ_{χ} we get

(3.178)
$$[\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J)]_{k,l} = \chi(R_k T^{-1} R_{m'}^{-1})\chi(jR_{m'} M R_l^{-1}).$$

By using the fact that for each $\gamma \in \Gamma$, $\chi(j\gamma j^{-1}) = \chi(\gamma)$ we get (3.179)

$$[\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kT^{-1}R_{m'}^{-1}j^{-1})\chi(jR_{m'}MR_l^{-1}) = \chi(jR_kT^{-1}MR_l^{-1}).$$

Since $MT = T^{-1}M$, we get

Since $MT = T^{-1}M$, we get

(3.180)
$$[\rho_{\chi}(T^{-1})\pi(J)]_{k,l} = \chi(jR_kMTR_l^{-1}), \quad 1 \le k, l \le \mu_{\Gamma}.$$

3. MAYER'S TRANSFER OPERATOR

This and (3.174) yields the third item. Thus the proof of the theorem is complete. $\hfill \Box$

52

CHAPTER 4

Induced representations of the projective modular group

In this chapter, we present some properties of the representation of the projective modular group, induced from the trivial character of the Hecke congruence subgroups. In particular, we discuss its decomposition into subrepresentations.

4.1. Preliminaries

Recall that the projective modular group $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and its extension $PGL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ are defined respectively by

(4.1)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) = \operatorname{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\{\pm 1\} = \left\{ \pm \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mid a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad ad - bc = 1 \right\}.$$

and

$$\operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) = \operatorname{GL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\left\{\pm 1\right\} =$$

(4.2)
$$= \left\{ \pm \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \mid a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad ad - bc = \pm 1 \right\}.$$

As in [25], we consider the subgroups

 $\begin{aligned} \Pi(n) &= \left\{ g \in \mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid g \equiv \pm id \mod n \right\}, \\ M(n) &= \left\{ g \in \mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid g \equiv \alpha \, id \mod n, \quad \alpha^2 \equiv \pm 1 \mod n \right\}, \\ \Gamma(n) &= \left\{ g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid g \equiv \pm id \mod n \right\}, \\ H(n) &= \left\{ g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid g \equiv \alpha \, id \mod n, \quad \alpha^2 \equiv 1 \mod n \right\}. \end{aligned}$

We recall some facts about these subgroups (see [25], page 29)

(4.4)
$$\Pi(n) \triangleleft \operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), \quad M(n) \triangleleft \operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$$

and

(4.5)
$$\Gamma(n) \triangleleft \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), \quad H(n) \triangleleft \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),$$

where $K \triangleleft G$ means that K is a normal subgroup of G. For n > 2 one has, $\Pi(n) = \Gamma(n)$. The index of H(n) in M(n) is given by

(4.6)
$$[M(n):H(n)] = \begin{cases} 2 & \text{if } -1 \text{ is a square} \mod n, \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In particular, M(n) = H(n) if n is divisible by 4 or by a prime p with $p \equiv 3 \mod 4$. Moreover, the following isomorphism holds,

(4.7)
$$H(n)/\Gamma(n) \cong \left\{ a \in \mathbb{Z}_n | a^2 = 1 \right\} / \{\pm 1\}.$$

In particular, for the cases n = 1, 2, 4, 6 or n an odd prime power, the group H(n) coincides with $\Gamma(n)$.

The group $\Gamma(n)$ is called the principal congruence subgroup. The index of $\Gamma(n)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), is given by (see for example [43])

(4.8)
$$\mu_{\Gamma(n)} := [PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma(n)] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}n^3 \prod_{p|n}(1-\frac{1}{p^2}), & n > 2, \\ 6, & n = 2 \end{cases}$$

where the p run over all primes dividing n. The Hecke congruence group $\Gamma_0(n)$ of level n is a subgroup of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, defined by

(4.9)
$$\Gamma_0(n) = \{g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid c = 0 \mod n\}$$

The index of $\Gamma_0(n)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) is given by [43]

(4.10)
$$\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)} = [\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma_0(n)] = n \prod_{p|n} (1+\frac{1}{p})$$

where the p run over all primes dividing n.

We denote by $R(\Gamma_0(n) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ and $R(PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n))$ a set of representatives of the right cosets and the left cosets of $\Gamma_0(n)$ in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$, respectively.

Now we note that

where C_2 is the cyclic group of order 2 generated by the element

$$(4.12) M = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

and \rtimes denotes the semidirect product of groups.

For any subgroup $\Gamma \leq \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ we define the extended subgroup $\overline{\Gamma} \leq \text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ by

(4.13)
$$\overline{\Gamma} = \Gamma \rtimes C_2.$$

Then the extended Hecke congruence subgroup of $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is given by

(4.14)
$$\overline{\Gamma}_0(n) = \Gamma_0(n) \rtimes C_2 = \{g \in \operatorname{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \mid c = 0 \mod n\}.$$

The index $\mu_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ of $\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ in PGL(2, \mathbb{Z}) coincides with the index of $\Gamma_0(n)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}).

We denote by $R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(n) \setminus \text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$ and $R(\text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(n))$ a set of representatives of the right cosets and the left cosets of $\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ in $\text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$, respectively. Next, we define the factor groups

(4.15)

$$Q(n) := \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/H(n)$$

$$K(n) := \Gamma_0(n)/H(n)$$

$$G(n) := \operatorname{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/M(n)$$

$$\overline{K}(n) := \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)/M(n).$$

In the following lemma we determine the order of $K(p^e)$.

LEMMA 4.1. For a prime power $q = p^e$, $e \ge 1$, the order of the group $K(q) = \Gamma_0(q)/H(q)$ is given by

(4.16)
$$|K(q)| = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}p^{2e-1}(p-1), & q = p^e, p \neq 2\\ 2, & q = 2, \\ 4, & q = 4, \\ 2^{2e-3}, & q = 2^e, e \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. First, we note that for $q = p^e$ we have

(4.17)
$$[\Gamma_0(q):\Gamma(q)] = \frac{[\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma(q)]}{[\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma_0(q)]}.$$

Then according to (4.8) and (4.10) we get

(4.18)
$$[\Gamma_0(q):\Gamma(q)] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}p^{2e-1}(p-1), & q \neq 2, \\ 2, & q = 2. \end{cases}$$

On the other hand, we have

(4.19)
$$|K(q)| = [\Gamma_0(q) : H(q)] = \frac{[\Gamma_0(q) : \Gamma(q)]}{[H(q) : \Gamma(q)]}.$$

For q = 2, q = 4, and q an odd prime power p^e with $e \ge 1$, as mentioned we have $H(q) = \Gamma(q)$ and hence the order of $K(p^e)$ is equal to the index of $\Gamma(q)$ in $\Gamma_0(q)$ as given in (4.18).

For $q = 2^e$ and $e \ge 3$, to calculate the index of $\Gamma(2^e)$ in $H(2^e)$ we note that

$$(4.20)$$

$$H(2^{e})/\Gamma(2^{e}) = \left\{ \delta\Gamma(2^{e}) \mid \delta \in H(2^{e}), \delta = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0\\ 0 & a \end{pmatrix} \mod 2^{e}, \quad a^{2} \equiv 1 \mod 2^{e} \right\}.$$

Let $(\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ be the multiplicative group of the invertible elements of $\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z}$ with the identity element $1 + 2^e\mathbb{Z}$ denoted by 1_{2^e} respectively the element $-1 + 2^e\mathbb{Z}$ denoted by -1_{2^e} . Then we have

(4.21)
$$H(2^e)/\Gamma(2^e) \cong \left\{ a \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid a^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^e \right\} / \{\pm 1_{2^e}\}.$$

Observing that the elements of $(\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ modulo 2^e are odd integers, for $a \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ one can easily show that if $a^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^e$ then

 $a \equiv \pm 1 \mod 2^e \text{ or } a \equiv \pm 1 + 2^{e-1} \mod 2^e. \text{ Hence we have}$ (4.22) $\{a \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid a^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^e\} =$

 $\left\{ 1 \mod 2^e, -1 \mod 2^e, 1+2^{e-1} \mod 2^e, -1+2^{e-1} \mod 2^e \right\}.$ Therefore, we get

(4.23) $H(2^e)/\Gamma(2^e) \cong \left\{1 \mod 2^e, 1+2^{e-1} \mod 2^e\right\}$

and hence for $e \geq 3$

(4.24)
$$[H(2^e): \Gamma(2^e)] = 2.$$

This, (4.18), and (4.19) complete the proof.

For the proof of the next lemma we need to introduce the notion of the product of subsets of a group. Let X and Y be subsets of a group G. Then the product of X and Y is defined to be

$$(4.25) XY = \{xy \mid x \in X, \quad y \in Y\} \subseteq G$$

where xy is the product of x and y as elements of G.

LEMMA 4.2. The following isomorphism of groups holds:

(4.26)
$$\begin{cases} G(n) \cong Q(n), & \text{if } -1 \text{ is a square } \mod n, \\ G(n) = Q(n) \rtimes \mathcal{C}_2, & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where $C_2 < G(n)$ is the cyclic group of order two generated by MH(n)with M as in (4.12). In the case where -1 is a square modulo n the isomorphism $i: Q(n) \to G(n)$ is given explicitly by

(4.27)
$$i(gH(n)) = gM(n).$$

PROOF. For -1 a square modulo n, H(n) is a subgroup of index 2 in M(n) and we have

(4.28)

$$M(n) = H(n) \cup \gamma H(n), \quad \gamma \in M(n), \quad \gamma \equiv \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0 \\ 0 & \alpha \end{pmatrix} \mod n$$

where α is an integer such that $\alpha^2 \equiv -1 \mod n$. According to the "first isomorphism theorem" (see [1], page 11) we have

(4.29)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})M(n)/M(n) \cong \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/(\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \cap M(n)).$$

Since $\operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) = \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})M(n)$ and $\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \cap M(n) = H(n)$, (4.29) reduces to

(4.30)
$$\operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/M(n) \cong \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(n)$$

which is the desired result.

Next, we prove that this isomorphism is given by the map i: $Q(n) \to G(n)$. For two distinct elements $g_1H(n)$ and $g_2H(n)$ of Q(n) we have $g_1^{-1}g_2 \notin H(n)$. From this and observing that $\det(g_1^{-1}g_2) = 1$ whereas γ in (4.28) has negative determinant, it follows that $g_1^{-1}g_2 \notin$

56

4.1. PRELIMINARIES

M(n), that is, $g_1M(n)$ and $g_2M(n)$ are distinct elements of G(n). Thus i is injective. On the other hand, the cardinality of the image of i coincides with that of G(n) and hence i is onto. Finally one can easily check that i preserves the group structure. Thus the isomorphism $i: Q(n) \to G(n)$ is given by (4.27). For the case where M(n) = H(n) we note that $Q(n) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(n)$ is a normal subgroup of index two in $G(n) = \text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(n)$. Moreover, the cyclic group of order two, generated by MH(n) is obviously a subgroup of G(n) such that $\mathcal{C}_2 \cap Q(n) = \{id\}$ and $G(n) = Q(n)\mathcal{C}_2$. Hence, we get the desired result, that is, $G(n) = Q(n) \rtimes \mathcal{C}_2$.

It is straightforward to verify, that if A, B, and C are all subgroups of a group G which satisfy furthermore $A \leq C$, then

We need this for the proof of the following Lemma.

LEMMA 4.3. Let $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ be coprimes. Then

$$(4.32) Q(nm) \cong Q(n) \times Q(m),$$

$$(4.33) K(nm) \cong K(n) \times K(m)$$

where \times denotes the direct product of groups and \cong denotes a group isomorphism.

PROOF. For the first assertion we refer to ([25], page 30). To prove the second assertion, first we prove that

(4.34)
$$\begin{aligned} & \Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm) = \\ & \left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m) \right) / H(nm) \right] \times \left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(n) \right) / H(nm) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Since

(4.35)
$$\Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm) \le \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(nm)$$

and

(4.36)
$$H(n)/H(nm) \triangleleft \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(nm)$$

respectively

(4.37)
$$H(m)/H(nm) \triangleleft \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/H(nm),$$

we have (see for example [1], page 6, Proposition 7)

(4.38)
$$[\Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm)] \cap [H(n)/H(nm)] = (\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(n))/H(nm) \lhd \Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm)$$

and

(4.39)
$$[\Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm)] \cap [H(m)/H(nm)] = (\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m))/H(nm) \lhd \Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm).$$

Since (m, n) = 1 obviously we have, (4.40)

 $\left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)\right) / H(nm)\right] \cap \left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(n)\right) / H(nm)\right] = \{Id\}$

where Id denotes the identity element of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})/H(nm)$, namely H(nm). Moreover, by applying (4.31) with $A = (\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m))/H(nm)$, B = H(n)/H(nm), and $C = \Gamma_0(nm)/H(nm)$ in the middle term below it follows that

(4.41)

$$[(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)] [(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(n)) / H(nm)] = [(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)] \{ [H(n) / H(nm)] \cap [\Gamma_0(nm) / H(nm)] \} = \{ [(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)] [H(n) / H(nm)] \} \cap [\Gamma_0(nm) / H(nm)] .$$

Since $H(n)/H(nm) \lhd Q(nm)$ and $\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)\right)/H(nm) \leqslant Q(nm)$ we have

(4.42)
$$[(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)] [H(n) / H(nm)] = [H(n) / H(nm)] [(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)].$$

But we have also $H(m) \subset \Gamma_0(m)$ and hence

(4.43)
$$\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m) = \Gamma_0(n) \cap \Gamma_0(m) \cap H(m) = \Gamma_0(n) \cap H(m).$$

Inserting this into the right hand side of (4.42) we get

$$\left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)\right) / H(nm)\right] \left[H(n) / H(nm)\right] =$$

(4.44)
$$[H(n)/H(nm)] [(\Gamma_0(n) \cap H(m))/H(nm)] = [H(n)/H(nm)] \{ [H(m)/H(nm)] \cap [\Gamma_0(n)/H(nm)] \}$$

Then applying (4.31) to the last term in the above equality with A = H(n)/H(nm), B = H(m)/H(nm), and $C = \Gamma_0(n)/H(nm)$, we get

(4.45)
$$[(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)] [H(n) / H(nm)] = \{[H(n) / H(nm)] [H(m) / H(nm)]\} \cap [\Gamma_0(n) / H(nm)].$$

Recall that H(n) and H(m) are normal in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and for coprime m and n we have (an obvious consequence of Theorem 1.4.2 in [43], page 23)

(4.46)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) = H(n)H(m), \quad H(n) \cap H(m) = H(nm).$$

Hence, according to (Lemma 7. in [1], page 19) it follows that

(4.47)
$$Q(nm) = H(m)/H(nm) \times H(n)/H(nm)$$

where \times denotes the direct product of groups. By inserting this into (4.45), we get

(4.48)
$$[(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm)] [H(n) / H(nm)] =$$
$$[PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}) / H(nm)] \cap [\Gamma_0(n) / H(nm)] =$$
$$\Gamma_0(n) / H(nm).$$

58

Now inserting this into the last term in equality (4.41) we get

(4.49)
$$\frac{\left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)\right) / H(nm)\right] \cdot \left[\left(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(n)\right) / H(nm)\right]}{\Gamma_0(nm) / H(nm).}$$

This proves (4.34). Now consider the group homomorphism

(4.50) $\phi: Q(nm) \to Q(n)$

given by

(4.51) $\phi(gH(nm)) = gH(n).$

Evidently, we have ker $\phi = H(n)/H(nm)$. By restricting the domain of ϕ to $\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)$, we get a homomorphism

(4.52)
$$\phi_1: \Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn) \to \phi(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn))$$

given by

(4.53)
$$\phi_1(\gamma H(nm)) = \gamma H(n), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_0(mn).$$

Evidently, the kernel of ϕ_1 is given by

(4.54)
$$\ker \phi_1 = \ker \phi \cap [\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)] = (\Gamma_0(mn) \cap H(n))/H(mn).$$

According to the "Fundamental Theorem on Homomorphism" ([1], page 10) for ϕ_1 we have

(4.55)
$$\phi_1(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)) = \phi(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)) \cong \{\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)\} / \{(\Gamma_0(mn) \cap H(n))/H(mn)\}.$$

Then from the "Second Isomorphism Theorem" ([1], page 12) it follows that

(4.56)
$$\phi(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)) \cong \Gamma_0(mn)/[\Gamma_0(mn) \cap H(n)].$$

Now applying the "First Isomorphism Theorem" ([1], page 11) leads to

(4.57)
$$\phi(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)) \cong [\Gamma_0(mn)H(n)]/H(n).$$

Since $\Gamma_0(nm)\Gamma(n) = \Gamma_0(n)$ ([43], page 26) and since $\Gamma(n) \leq H(n) < \Gamma_0(n)$, obviously we get also

(4.58)
$$\Gamma_0(nm)H(n) = \Gamma_0(n).$$

Inserting this into (4.57), leads to the following isomorphism

(4.59)
$$\phi(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)) \cong \Gamma_0(n)/H(n).$$

On the other hand from (4.34) and (4.54) we have

(4.60)
$$\phi(\Gamma_0(mn)/H(mn)) = (\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m))/H(nm).$$

Therefore we get

(4.61)
$$(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(m)) / H(nm) \cong \Gamma_0(n) / H(n).$$

In the same way we can show that

(4.62)
$$(\Gamma_0(nm) \cap H(n)) / H(nm) \cong \Gamma_0(m) / H(m)$$

The equations (4.61), (4.62), and (4.34) give the desired result.

Now we recall the notion of G-sets ([1], page 27)

DEFINITION 4.1. The (left) action of a group G on a set X is a map

such that

• Id x = x for all $x \in X$ where Id is the identity element of G.

• $(g_1g_2)x = g_1(g_2x)$ for all $g_1, g_2 \in G$.

If there is an action of G on X we say that G acts on X or X is a G-set.

DEFINITION 4.2. For two G-sets X and Y a map $\phi : X \to Y$ is said to be a G-homomorphism if it commutes with the action of G, namely if

(4.64)
$$\phi(gx) = g\phi(x), \quad \forall g \in G, \quad \forall x \in X.$$

If ϕ is also bijective, then ϕ is called a G-set isomorphism. In this case we say that X and Y are isomorphic G-sets and we write $X \cong_G Y$.

For $n \mid m$ an action of Q(m) on $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)$ is defined by

(4.65)
$$Q(m) \times \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n) \to \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)$$
$$(gH(m), x\Gamma_0(n)) \mapsto gH(m)(x\Gamma_0(n)) := gx\Gamma_0(n)$$

This is well defined since H(m) is normal in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $H(m) \subset \Gamma_0(n)$. For this action of Q(m) we denote by X(n) the set of left cosets $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)$ as a Q(m)-set. Furtheremore, this action is obviously transitive. In the same way, for $n \mid m$ an action of G(m) on $PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ is defined by

(4.66)
$$G(m) \times \operatorname{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(n) \to \operatorname{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$$
$$(gM(m), x\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)) \mapsto gM(m)(x\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)) := gx\overline{\Gamma}_0(n).$$

This action is again well defined since M(m) is normal in $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $M(m) \subset \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$. Similarly it is also transitive. For this action of G(m) we denote by $\overline{X}(n)$ the set of left cosets $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ as a G(m)-set.

4.2. The representations of the projective modular group induced from the Hecke congruence subgroups with trivial character

The representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ induced from the one dimensional trivial representation of $\Gamma_0(n)$, is defined by $\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ -dimensional permutation matrices whose entries are given by [12]

(4.67)
$$\left[U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g) \right]_{ij} = \delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}(r_i g r_j^{-1}), \quad r_i \in R(\Gamma_0(n) \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}))$$

60

where

(4.68)
$$\delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}(\gamma) = \begin{cases} 1, & \gamma \in \Gamma_0(n), \\ 0, & \gamma \notin \Gamma_0(n). \end{cases}$$

In the same way, the representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ of PGL(2, \mathbb{Z}) induced from the one dimensional trivial representation of $\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$ is defined by $\mu_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ dimensional permutation matrices whose entries are given by

(4.69)
$$\left[U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}(g)\right]_{ij} = \delta_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}(r_i g r_j^{-1}), \quad r_i \in R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(n) \setminus \mathrm{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z}))$$

where

(4.70)
$$\delta_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}(\gamma) = \begin{cases} 1, & \gamma \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(n), \\ 0, & \gamma \notin \overline{\Gamma}_0(n). \end{cases}$$

LEMMA 4.4. The kernels of the induced representations $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ coincide with the groups H(n) and M(n), respectively.

PROOF. First we prove that $\ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} = M(n)$. Since $M(n) \triangleleft$ PGL(2, Z) and $M(n) \leq \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$, from the definition of $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ evidently we get $M(n) \leq \ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$. Now we prove the converse. Let $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$. Then for all $r \in R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(n) \backslash \text{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ we have $\delta_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}(rgr^{-1}) = 1$ or equivalently $rgr^{-1} \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$. For r = id it follows that $g \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$. Then for r = S we have

(4.71)
$$SgS^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} d & -c \\ -b & a \end{pmatrix} \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$$

and hence $g \in \overline{\Gamma}_0^0(n)$. For r = ST we have

(4.72)
$$rgr^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} d-c & -c \\ a+c-b-d & a+c \end{pmatrix} \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(n)$$

and hence $a \equiv d \mod n$. This together with the fact that $ad \equiv \pm 1 \mod n$ yields $g \in M(n)$. That means $\ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} \leq M(n)$ and hence $\ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} = M(n)$. To prove the other assertion we note that $\ker U_{\Gamma_0(n)} = \ker U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} \cap \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and hence $\ker U_{\Gamma_0(n)} = H(n)$. \Box

Let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ be a $\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ -dimensional Hermitian vector space and let $\{e_{x\Gamma_0(n)} \mid x\Gamma_0(n) \in X(n)\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ indexed by the elements of X(n). Then for n|m the map $\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}: Q(m) \to \operatorname{Aut} V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ defined by

(4.73)
$$\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m))e_{x\Gamma_0(n)} = e_{gx\Gamma_0(n)}$$

defines a permutation representation of Q(m) associated with X(n) (see for example [52], page 5). For m = n we put for simplicity $\pi_{Q(n)} := \pi_{Q(n),X(n)}$. LEMMA 4.5. Let $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ be the induced representation of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ defined in (4.67) and let $\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}$ be the permutation representation of the group Q(m) as defined in (4.73). Then there are sets of representatives of the left cosets respectively right cosets $R(PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}))/\Gamma_0(n)$ respectively $R(\Gamma_0(n) \setminus PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}))$ such that with respect to these representatives for each $g \in PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ we have

(4.74)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g) = \pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m)).$$

PROOF. The entries of the permutation matrix $\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m))$ are given by

$$(4.75) \left[\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m)) \right]_{xx'} = \left\langle e_{x\Gamma_0(n)}, \pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m))e_{x'\Gamma_0(n)} \right\rangle = \left\langle e_{x\Gamma_0(n)}, e_{gx'\Gamma_0(n)} \right\rangle$$

where \langle,\rangle denotes the inner product in the Hermitian vector space $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$. But we have

(4.76)
$$\langle e_{x\Gamma_0(n)}, e_{gx'\Gamma_0(n)} \rangle = \begin{cases} 1, & x\Gamma_0(n) = gx'\Gamma_0(n) \\ 0, & x\Gamma_0(n) \neq gx'\Gamma_0(n) \end{cases}$$

or

(4.77)
$$\langle e_{x\Gamma_0(n)}, e_{gx'\Gamma_0(n)} \rangle = \begin{cases} 1, & x^{-1}gx' \in \Gamma_0(n), \\ 0, & x^{-1}gx' \notin \Gamma_0(n) \end{cases} = \delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}(x^{-1}gx')$$

where $\delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ is given in (4.68). Thus we have

(4.78)
$$\left[\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m)) \right]_{xx'} = \delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}(x^{-1}gx').$$

For the set of representatives of the left cosets $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)$, given by

(4.79)
$$R(PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)) = \{x_1, x_2, \dots, x_\mu\},\$$

as a set of representatives of the right cosets $\Gamma_0(n) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ can be chosen

(4.80)
$$R(\Gamma_0(n) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = \left\{ r_1 = x_1^{-1}, r_2 = x_2^{-1}, \dots, r_\mu = x_\mu^{-1} \right\}$$

With this choice of representatives, we get

(4.81)
$$\begin{bmatrix} \pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m)) \end{bmatrix}_{x_i x_j} = \\ \delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}(x_i^{-1}gx_j) = \delta_{\Gamma_0(n)}(r_i gr_j^{-1}) = \begin{bmatrix} U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g) \end{bmatrix}_{r_i r_j}$$

or

(4.82)
$$\left[\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m))\right]_{ij} = \left[U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g)\right]_{ij}, \quad 1 \le i,j \le \mu.$$

Thus the proof is complete.

Let $V_{\mu_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}}$ be a $\mu_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ -dimensional Hermitian vector space and let $\{e_x | x \in \overline{X}(n)\}$ be an orthonormal basis of $V_{\mu_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}}$ indexed by the elements of $\overline{X}(n)$. Then for n|m the map $\pi_{G(m),X(n)} : G(m) \to \operatorname{Aut} V_{\mu_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}}$ defined by

(4.83)
$$\pi_{G(m),\overline{X}(n)}(gM(m))e_{x\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} = e_{gx\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$$

is a permutation representation of G(m) associated with $\overline{X}(n)$. For simplicity we put $\pi_{G(n)} := \pi_{G(n),\overline{X}(n)}$. Similar to the previous lemma one can prove:

LEMMA 4.6. Let $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ be the induced representation of $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ defined in (4.69) and let $\pi_{G(m),\overline{X}(n)}$ be the permutation representation of the group G(m) as defined in (4.83). Then there is a set of representatives of the right cosets $R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(n) \setminus \mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$ such that for each $g \in \mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ we have

(4.84)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}(g) = \pi_{G(m),\overline{X}(n)}(gM(m)).$$

REMARK 4.1. Since Q(n) acts transitively on X(n) and for this action K(n) is the stabilizer of the point $\Gamma_0(n) \in X(n)$, Q(n)/K(n) and X(n) are isomorphic Q(n)-sets ([11], page 80, Lemma 3.1.6). Hence, $\pi_{Q(n)}$ is isomorphic to the permutation representation of Q(n) associated to Q(n)/K(n). But the latter can be evidently considered as the representation of Q(n), induced from the one dimensional trivial representation of K(n) < Q(n), that is,

(4.85)
$$\pi_{Q(n)}(gH(n)) = ind_{K(n)}^{Q(n)}(1)(gH(n)), \quad gH(n) \in Q(n).$$

Similarly, G(n)/K(n) is isomorphic to $\overline{X}(n)$ as G(n)-sets and hence $\pi_{G(n)}$ can be considered as the representation of G(n), induced from the one dimensional trivial representation of $\overline{K}(n) < G(n)$, that is,

(4.86)
$$\pi_{G(n)}(gM(n)) = ind_{\overline{K}(n)}^{G(n)}(1)(gM(n)), \quad gM(n) \in G(n).$$

4.3. Tensor products of induced representations

In this section we prove the following lemma:

LEMMA 4.7. Let m and n be coprime. Then up to conjugation we have

(4.87)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(nm)} = U_{\Gamma_0(n)} \otimes U_{\Gamma_0(m)}.$$

and

(4.88)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(nm)} = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)} \otimes U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(m)}.$$

PROOF. Since the proofs of both assertions are similar, we only give the proof of the first one. Consider $X(n) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(n)$ as a Q(nm)-set. Let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0}(n)}$ be a $\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ -dimensional Hermitian vector space

with an orthonormal basis given by $\{e_{x\Gamma_0(n)} \mid x\Gamma_0(n) \in X(n)\}$. Then a permutation representation

(4.89)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)}:Q(nm)\to AutV_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$$

is defined by

(4.90)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)}(gH(nm))e_{x\Gamma_0(n)} = e_{gx\Gamma_0(n)}.$$

According to Lemma 4.5, up to a conjugation, we have

(4.91)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g) = \pi_{Q(nm),X(n)}(gH(nm))$$

In the same way, let $X(m) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(m)$ be a Q(nm)-set and let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ be a $\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}$ -dimensional Hermitian vector space with an orthonormal basis given by $\{e_{y\Gamma_0(m)} \mid y\Gamma_0(m) \in X(m)\}$. Then a permutation representation

(4.92)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(m)}:Q(nm)\to AutV_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$$

is defined by

(4.93)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(m)}(gH(nm))e_{y\Gamma_0(m)} = e_{gy\Gamma_0(m)}$$

and up to a conjugation we have

(4.94)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(m)}(g) = \pi_{Q(nm),X(m)}(gH(nm)).$$

We consider $X(n) \times X(m)$, with \times denoting the Cartesian product, as a Q(nm)-set via the action

$$(4.95) \qquad \qquad Q(nm) \times (X(n) \times X(m)) \to X(n) \times X(m)$$

given by

(4.96)
$$gH(nm)(x\Gamma_0(n), y\Gamma_0(m)) \mapsto (gx\Gamma_0(n), gy\Gamma_0(m)).$$

Now we show that this action is transitive. To this end, recall that according to (4.47) each element $gH(nm) \in Q(nm)$ can be written in terms of unique elements $g_mH(nm) \in H(m)/H(nm)$ and $g_nH(nm) \in H(n)/H(nm)$ as

(4.97)
$$gH(nm) = g_mH(nm)g_nH(nm) = g_nH(nm)g_mH(nm).$$

Then (4.96) can be written as

$$(4.98) \qquad gH(nm)(x\Gamma_0(n), y\Gamma_0(m)) \mapsto (g_m g_n x\Gamma_0(n), g_n g_m y\Gamma_0(m)).$$

Since H(n) and H(m) are normal subgroups of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$, there are $g'_n \in H(n)$ and $g'_m \in H(m)$ such that $g_n x = xg'_n$ and $g_m y = yg'_m$. Hence, observing that H(n) and H(m) are subgroups of $\Gamma_0(n)$ and $\Gamma_0(m)$, respectively, (4.98) reduced to

(4.99)
$$gH(nm)(x\Gamma_0(n), y\Gamma_0(m)) \mapsto (g_m x\Gamma_0(n), g_n y\Gamma_0(m)).$$

On the other hand from the "First Isomorphism Theorem" ([1], page 11) and by using the identities (4.46) it follows that

(4.100)
$$Q(n) \cong H(m)/H(nm), \quad Q(m) \cong H(n)/H(nm).$$

Hence, observing that Q(n) and Q(m) act transitively on X(n) and X(m), respectively, the action of Q(nm) on $X(n) \times X(m)$ given in (4.99) and consequentely the original action given in (4.96) are transitive.

Now let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)},\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ be a $\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)},\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}$ -dimensional Hermitian vector space with an orthonormal basis given by

$$\left\{e_{x\Gamma_0(n),y\Gamma_0(m)} \mid (x\Gamma_0(n),y\Gamma_0(m)) \in X(n) \times X(m)\right\}.$$

Then a permutation representation

(4.101)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)\times X(m)}:Q(nm)\to AutV_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)},\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$$

is defined by

(4.102)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)\times X(m)}(gH(nm))e_{x\Gamma_0(n),y\Gamma_0(m)} = e_{gx\Gamma_0(n),gy\Gamma_0(m)}.$$

It is known that, up to a conjugation, ([4], page 26, Proposition 2.22)

(4.103)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)\times X(m)} = \pi_{Q(nm),X(n)} \otimes \pi_{Q(nm),X(m)}$$

This formula also holds for m and n which are not necessarily coprime.

On the other hand let $X(nm) := \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(nm)$ be a Q(nm)-set and let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(nm)}}$ be a Hermitian vector space with an orthonormal basis $\{e_{x\Gamma_0(nm)} \mid x\Gamma_0(nm) \in X(nm)\}$. Then a permutation representation

(4.104)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(nm)}:Q(nm)\to AutV_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(nm)}}$$

is defined by

(4.105)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(nm)}(gH(nm))e_{x\Gamma_0(nm)} = e_{gx\Gamma_0(nm)}.$$

Since the actions of Q(nm) on X(nm) and $X(n) \times X(m)$ are transitive and K(nm) is the stabilizer in Q(nm) of both $(\Gamma_0(n), \Gamma_0(m)) \in X(n) \times X(m)$ and $\Gamma_0(nm) \in X(nm)$, we have ([11], page 80, Lemma 3.1.6)

$$(4.106) X(nm) \cong Q(nm)/K(nm) \cong X(n) \times X(m)$$

where \cong denotes isomorphism as Q(nm)-set. Hence, $\pi_{Q(nm),X(nm)}$ is isomorphic to $\pi_{Q(nm),X(n)\times X(m)}$. This together with (4.103) leads to the following isomorphism of representations

(4.107)
$$\pi_{Q(nm),X(nm)} \cong \pi_{Q(nm),X(n)} \otimes \pi_{Q(nm),X(m)}.$$

But according to Lemma 4.5 $\pi_{Q(nm),X(nm)}(gH(nm)) = U_{\Gamma_0(nm)}(g)$ (up to a conjugation), which together with (4.91) and (4.94) yields the desired result.

4.4. Subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$

Let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ be a $\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}$ -dimensional Hermitian vector space with an orthonormal basis $\{e_{x\Gamma_0(m)} \mid x\Gamma_0(m) \in X(m) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(m)\}$. As before, a permutation representation

(4.108)
$$\pi_{Q(m)}: Q(m) \to AutV_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$$

is given by

 $\begin{array}{ll} (4.109) & \pi_{Q(m)}(gH(m))e_{x\Gamma_{0}(m)} = e_{gx\Gamma_{0}(m)}.\\ \text{For } n|m \text{ let } \alpha_{1} \text{ be the surjective map} \\ (4.110) & \alpha_{1}:X(m) \to X(n),\\ \text{defined by} \\ (4.111) & \alpha_{1}(x\Gamma_{0}(m)) = x\Gamma_{0}(n).\\ \text{For each } y\Gamma_{0}(n) \in X(n) \text{ define} \\ (4.112) & \widehat{e}_{y\Gamma_{0}(n)} := \sum_{x\Gamma_{0}(m):\alpha_{1}(x\Gamma_{0}(m))=y\Gamma_{0}(n)} \frac{e_{x\Gamma_{0}(m)}}{\|\sum_{\alpha_{1}(x\Gamma_{0}(m))=y\Gamma_{0}(n)}e_{x\Gamma_{0}(m)}\|} \end{array}$

where for an element v in the Hermitian vector space $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ with Hermitian form $\langle, \rangle, ||v||^2 := \langle v, v \rangle$ is the norm of v. We denote by $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ the Hermitian vector subspace of $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ spanned by the orthonormal basis $\{\widehat{e}_{y\Gamma_0(n)} | y\Gamma_0(n) \in X(n)\}$. Now consider X(n) as a Q(m)-set with respect to the action

(4.113)
$$Q(m) \times X(n) \to X(n)$$
$$(gH(m), y\Gamma_0(n)) \mapsto gy\Gamma_0(n).$$

Then obviously $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ is an invariant subspace of $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ under the action of $\pi_{Q(m)}$ on $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(m)}}$ induced from the action of Q(m) on X(m) since $\hat{e}_{gy\Gamma_0(n)}$ is again of the form (4.112). This way we obtain a sub-representation of $\pi_{Q(m)}$ given by

(4.114)
$$\pi_{Q(m),X(n)} : Q(m) \to AutV_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}}$$
$$\pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m))\widehat{e}_{y\Gamma_0(n)} = \widehat{e}_{gy\Gamma_0(n)}.$$

Hence there exists a representation θ of Q(m) such that ([52], page 6, Theorem 1)

(4.115)
$$\pi_{Q(m)} \cong \pi_{Q(m),X(n)} \oplus \theta$$

where \cong denotes an isomorphism of representations. According to Lemma 4.5, for $g \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we have

(4.116)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(m)}(g) = \pi_{Q(m)}(gH(m))$$

and

(4.117)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(n)}(g) = \pi_{Q(m),X(n)}(gH(m)).$$

From these identities and (4.115) it follows that, up to isomorphism, the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ occurs in the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$, namely for some representation θ' of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) we have

(4.118)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(m)} \cong U_{\Gamma_0(n)} \oplus \theta'.$$

Similarly, one can show that the representation $\pi_{G(m),\overline{X}(n)}$ is a subrepresentation of $\pi_{G(m)}$ and hence $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ occurs in the representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(m)}$. We summarize these results in the following lemma:

LEMMA 4.8. If n|m the representations $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ are subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(m)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(m)}$, respectively.

4.5. Irreducible decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$

In this section we discuss the decomposition of the representations $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$ for p a prime into their irreducible subrepresentations. We consider first $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$. Let $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(p)}}$ be the Hermitian vector space with basis $\{e_{x\Gamma_0(p)} \mid x\Gamma_0(p) \in X(p)\}$ and let $\pi_{Q(p)}$ denote the permutation representation defined on the space $V_{\mu_{\Gamma_0(p)}}$. Then according to Lemma 4.5, the decomposition into irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(p)}$ yields that of $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$. Hence we study the representation $\pi_{Q(p)}$.

LEMMA 4.9. The action of Q(p) on X(p) is doubly transitive.

PROOF. It is enough to show that the stabilizer $Stab_{Q(p)}(x\Gamma_0(p))$ of any element $x\Gamma_0(p) \in X(p)$ acts transitively on $X(p) - \{x\Gamma_0(p)\}$ (see [1], page 35, Exercise 2). A set of left cosets of $\Gamma_0(p)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) is given by (see [27], page 107) (4.119)

$$PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(p) = \{\Gamma_0(p), S\Gamma_0(p), T^{-1}S\Gamma_0(p), \dots, T^{-(p-1)}S\Gamma_0(p)\}.$$

Let $x = id_{2\times 2}$ and

(4.120)
$$H := \left\{ \Gamma(p), T^{-1} \Gamma(p), \dots, T^{-(p-1)} \Gamma(p) \right\}$$

Since $T^{-p} \in \Gamma(p)$, H is a subgroup of $Stab_{Q(p)}(\Gamma_0(p))$. Hence, the action of $Stab_{Q(p)}(\Gamma_0(p))$ on the element $S\Gamma_0(p)$ yields all elements of $X(p) - \{\Gamma_0(p)\}$. Recall that for a G-set X if G_x is the stabilizer of $x \in X$ then the stabilizer of $gx \in X$ is given by gG_xg^{-1} (see for example [1], page 29, Lemma 2). Hence, for $T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p) \in X(p)$ with $0 \le k \le p - 1$, $H_k := T^{-k}SH(T^{-k}S)^{-1}$ is a subgroup of $Stab_{Q(p)}(T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p))$. Then evidently, for a fixed k, the action of H_k on $\Gamma_0(p) \in X(p)$ yields

(4.121)
$$H_k\Gamma_0(p) := \left\{ T^{-k}ST^{-i}S\Gamma_0(p) \mid i = 0, 1, \dots, p-1 \right\}$$

On the other hand, obviously we have

(4.122)
$$(T^{-k}ST^{-i'}S)^{-1}T^{-k}ST^{-i}S = ST^{i'-i}S \in \Gamma_0(p)$$

iff i = i' and hence elements of $H_k\Gamma_0(p)$ are p-1 distinct left cosets of $\Gamma_0(p)$ in PSL(2, Z). Moreover, for each $0 \le k \le p-1$, one can easily check that $T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p) \ne T^{-k}ST^{-i}S\Gamma_0(p)$, that is the orbit of $\Gamma_0(p)$ under H_k in X(p) dose not pass through $T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p)$. Thus $H_k\Gamma_0(p)$ coincides with $X(p) - \{T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p)\}$. Therefore, for each $0 \le k \le p-1$, $Stab_{Q(p)}(T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p))$ acts transitively on $X(p) - \{T^{-k}S\Gamma_0(p)\}$. Thus we proved that the stabilizer $Stab_{Q(p)}(x\Gamma_0(p))$ of any element $x\Gamma_0(p) \in X(p)$ acts transitively on $X(p) - \{x\Gamma_0(p)\}$ and hence Q(p) acts doubly transitively on X(p) which is the desired result. \Box

We recall now a result on decomposition of permutation representations into irreducible subrepresentations (see [52], page 17, Exercise 2.6)

LEMMA 4.10. Let X be a G-set such that the action G on X is doubly transitive and let π be a permutation representation of G associated with X. Then π is decomposed into two irreducible subrepresentations, that is,

(4.123)
$$\pi = \pi_t \oplus \theta$$

where π_t denotes the trivial representation of G and θ is an irreducible representation of G.

Thus as a consequence of Lemma 4.9 we have

LEMMA 4.11. The representation $\pi_{Q(p)}$ is decomposed into two irreducible representations, that is, there is a $(p+1) \times (p+1)$ matrix $M_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ such that

$$(4.124) M_{\Gamma_0(p)}\pi_{Q(p)}M_{\Gamma_0(p)}^{-1} = \rho_t \oplus \rho_p$$

where ρ_t is the one dimensional trivial representation and ρ_p is a pdimensional irreducible representation of Q(p).

A bijective map of a set X is called a permutation of X. The set of all permutations of X with the composition of maps as the binary operation is a group. For $X = \{1, 2, 3, ..., n\}$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$, this group is called the symmetric group of degree n, denoted by S_n ([1], page 7). Let V be a Hermitian vector space with an orthonormal basis $\langle e_i | i = 1, 2, ..., n \rangle$. A representation π of S_n on the representation space V is defined by

(4.125)
$$\pi(\sigma)e_i = e_{\sigma(i)}, \quad \sigma \in S_n.$$

The one dimensional subspace V_1 of V spanned by the vector $e_1 + \ldots + e_n$ is invariant under the action of S_n . This is the representation space of the trivial representation $\pi_{trivial}$ of S_n which is then obviously a subrepresentation of π . It is known that the representation π is decomposed into two irreducible representations (see for example [53], page 64), that is,

(4.126)
$$\pi = \pi_{standard} \oplus \pi_{trivial}.$$

This decomposition defines the "standard representation" $\pi_{standard}$ of S_n which is an irreducible representation of S_n of degree n-1 with $V_{n-1} := V \ominus V_1$ as its representation space. According to a result due to Millington [34] the group $\langle U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(S), U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(T) \rangle$, generated by the permutation matrices $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(S)$ and $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(T)$, is isomorphic to the factor group of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) modulo the maximal subgroup of $\Gamma_0(p)$ normal in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}). For p prime the principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(p)$ is the maximal subgroup of $\Gamma_0(p)$ which is normal in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}). Hence, it

follows that $\langle U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(S), U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(T) \rangle \cong \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma(p) = Q(p)$. Thus the group Q(p) is isomorphic to the subgroup $\langle U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(S), U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(T) \rangle$ of the group of all (p+1) dimensional permutation matrices which is isomorphic to S_{p+1} . Hence, regarding the previous lemma, we can consider the representation ρ_p as the standard representation of S_{p+1} restricted to $\langle U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(S), U_{\Gamma_0(p)}(T) \rangle$. We also note that this subgroup obviously coincides with $\langle \pi_{Q(p)}(S\Gamma(p)), \pi_{Q(p)}(T\Gamma(p)) \rangle$, the group generated by the elements $\pi_{Q(p)}(S\Gamma(p))$ and $\pi_{Q(p)}(T\Gamma(p))$. From Lemmas 4.5 and 4.11 follows

LEMMA 4.12. The p + 1 dimensional induced representation $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ of PSL(2, Z) can be decomposed into a trivial one dimensional representation U_t and a p-dimensional representation U_p , that is,

(4.127)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(p)}U_{\Gamma_0(p)}M_{\Gamma_0(p)}^{-1} = U_t \oplus U_p$$

where for $g \in PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, up to an isomorphism, $U_p(g) = \rho_p(gH(p))$.

By the same arguments we can obtain similar results for $\pi_{G(p)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$.

LEMMA 4.13. The representation $\pi_{G(p)}$ is decomposed into two irreducible representations, that is, there is a $(p+1) \times (p+1)$ matrix $M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$ such that

(4.128)
$$M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}\pi_{G(p)}M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}^{-1} = \overline{\rho}_t \oplus \overline{\rho}_p$$

where $\overline{\rho_t}$ is the one dimensional trivial representation and $\overline{\rho}_p$ is a pdimensional irreducible representation of G(p). Moreover, the p+1dimensional induced representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$ of PGL(2, \mathbb{Z}) is decomposed into a trivial one dimensional representation \overline{U}_t and a p-dimensional representation \overline{U}_p , that is, there is a $(p+1) \times (p+1)$ matrix $M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}$ such that

(4.129)
$$M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)}M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p)} = \overline{U}_t \oplus \overline{U}_p.$$

Furtheremore, up to an isomorphism we have

(4.130)
$$\overline{U}_p(g) = \overline{\rho}_p(gM(p)), \quad \forall g \in \mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$$

where $\overline{\rho}_p$ is the restriction of the standard representation of S_{p+1} to its subgroup $\langle \overline{U}_{\Gamma_0(p)}(S), \overline{U}_{\Gamma_0(p)}(T), \overline{U}_{\Gamma_0(p)}(M) \rangle$ which is isomorphic to G(p)[34].

Next we give some examples where all elements introduced above are given explicitly.

EXAMPLE 4.1. Let $R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(2) \setminus PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})) = R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})) = \{id, S, ST\}$. Then the induced representation $U_{\Gamma_0(2)}$ of the generators

S and T for $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is given by

$$(4.131) \quad U_{\Gamma_0(2)}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_{\Gamma_0(2)}(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The matrix $M_{\Gamma_0(2)}$ can be chosen as

(4.132)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(2)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 \\ \omega^2 & 1 & \omega \\ \omega^2 & \omega & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \omega = e^{2\pi i/3}.$$

We have then

(4.133)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(2)}U_{\Gamma_0(2)}M_{\Gamma_0(2)}^{-1} = U_t \oplus U_2$$

where U_t is the trivial representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and

(4.134)
$$U_2(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_2(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \omega \\ \omega^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

For $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)}$ we have (4.135)

$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(2)}(T) = U_{\Gamma_{0}(2)}(T), \quad U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(2)} = U_{\Gamma_{0}(2)}(S), \quad U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(2)}(M) = Id_{3\times 3}.$$

Moreover, $M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)} = M_{\Gamma_0(2)}$ and we have

(4.136)
$$M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)}U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)}M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)}^{-1} = \overline{U}_t \oplus \overline{U}_2$$

where \overline{U}_t is the trivial representation of $PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and

(4.137)
$$\overline{U}_2(T) = U_2(T), \quad \overline{U}_2(S) = U_2(S), \quad \overline{U}_2(M) = Id_{2\times 2}.$$

EXAMPLE 4.2. Let $R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(3) \setminus PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})) = R(\Gamma_0(3) \setminus PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})) = \{id, S, ST, ST^2\}$. Then the induced representation $U_{\Gamma_0(3)}$ for the generators S and T of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is given by (4.138)

$$U_{\Gamma_0(3)}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_{\Gamma_0(3)}(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The matrix $M_{\Gamma_0(3)}$ can be chosen as

(4.139)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(3)} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & -3 \\ 1 & 1 & -3 & 1 \\ 1 & -3 & 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then we have

(4.140)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(3)}U_{\Gamma_0(3)}M_{\Gamma_0(3)}^{-1} = U_t \oplus U_3$$

where U_t is the trivial representation of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and

(4.141)
$$U_3(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad U_3(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & -1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(3)}$ we have

(4.142)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(3)}(T) = U_{\Gamma_0(3)}(T), \quad U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(3)}(S) = U_{\Gamma_0(3)}(S)$$

and

(4.143)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(3)}(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

Then $M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(3)} = M_{\Gamma_0(3)}$ and we have

(4.144)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(3)}U_{\Gamma_0(3)}M_{\Gamma_0(3)}^{-1} = \overline{U}_t \oplus \overline{U}_3$$

where $\overline{U}_3(T) = U_3(T)$, $\overline{U}_3(S) = U_3(S)$, and

(4.145)
$$\overline{U}_3(M) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

4.6. Number of irreducibles in the induced representation

In this section, for a prime power q, we determine the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$. According to Lemmas 4.5 and 4.6 the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ is equal to that of $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and $\pi_{G(q)}$, respectively. For technical reasons, we consider the representations $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and $\pi_{G(q)}$ instead of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ themselves. To count the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and $\pi_{G(q)}$ one needs a result due to Wielandt. We recall it from [10]:

LEMMA 4.14. Let G be a finite group, $K \leq G$ a subgroup, X = G/K a G-set, and $V = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} m_i V_i$ be the decomposition into irreducibles of the permutation representation of G on X, where m_i denotes the multiplicity of the irreducible representation V_i . Then

(4.146)
$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} m_i^2 = |X/K|$$

where |X/K| denotes the number of orbits of K in X.

In the next section, we show that the representations $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and $\pi_{G(q)}$ are multiplicity-free. Hence, the left hand side of (4.146) for $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and $\pi_{G(q)}$ gives the number of their non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations. Thus according to Wielandt's result, |X(q)/K(q)| and

 $|\overline{X}(q)/\overline{K}(q)|$ give the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and $\pi_{G(q)}$, respectively. In the rest of this section we count the number of orbits of K(q) and $\overline{K}(q)$ in X(q) and $\overline{X}(q)$, respectively.

To begin with, for a prime power $q = p^e$ we fix the representatives of X(q) as the following ([27], page 107)

id; $T^{-j}S$, $j = 0, \dots, p^e - 1$; $ST^{-jp}S$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, p^{e-1} - 1$.

We denote by $[x\Gamma_0(q)]$ the orbit of K(q) in X(q) passing through the point $x\Gamma_0(q) \in X(q)$. Evidently, $\Gamma_0(q) \in X(q)$ is fixed under the action of the whole group $K(q) = \Gamma_0(q)/H(q)$. Hence, $[\Gamma_0(q)]$ is an orbit consisting of only one element $\Gamma_0(q)$. Next we determine the orbit $[S\Gamma_0(q)]$.

LEMMA 4.15. The stabilizer group $Stab_{K(q)}(S\Gamma_0(q))$ in K(q) of the point $S\Gamma_0(q) \in X(q)$ is given by

(4.148)
$$Stab_{K(q)}(S\Gamma_0(q)) = K_0^0(q) := \Gamma_0^0(q)/H(q)$$

PROOF. Let
$$g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(q) \in Stab_{K(q)}(S\Gamma_0(q))$$
, that is,

(4.149)
$$gS\Gamma_0(q) = S\Gamma_0(q).$$

Then a simple calculation shows that $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0^0(q)$ and hence $g \in K_0^0(q)$. Conversely, one can easily check that for any $g \in K_0^0(q)$, $gS\Gamma_0(q) = S\Gamma_0(q)$. This completes the proof. \Box

According to the so called "orbit stabilizer theorem" ([1], page 30, Corollary 5), the length of the orbit $[S\Gamma_0(q)]$ is equal to the index of $Stab_{K(q)}(S\Gamma_0(q))$ in K(q), that is,

(4.150)
$$|[S\Gamma_0(q)]| = [K(q) : Stab_{K(q)}(S\Gamma_0(q))].$$

Thus, according to Lemma 4.15 we get

(4.151)
$$|[S\Gamma_0(q)]| = [K(q) : K_0^0(q)] = \frac{|K(q)|}{|K_0^0(q)|}$$

Then by a simple index calculation we get

(4.152)
$$|[S\Gamma_{0}(q)]| = \frac{[\Gamma_{0}(q):H(q)]}{[\Gamma_{0}^{0}(q):H(q)]} = \frac{[\Gamma_{0}(q):H(q)] \times [H(q):\Gamma(q)]}{[\Gamma_{0}^{0}(q):H(q)] \times [H(q):\Gamma(q)]} = \frac{[\Gamma_{0}(q):\Gamma(q)]}{[\Gamma_{0}^{0}(q):\Gamma(q)]}$$

According to Rankin ([43], page 27) and taking into account that we consider the subgroups of the projective modular group, we have for

$$q = p^e$$

(4.153)
$$[\Gamma_0^0(q):\Gamma(q)] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}p^{e-1}(p-1), & q \neq 2, \\ 1, & q = 2. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, for $q = p^e$ we have

(4.154)
$$[\Gamma_0(q):\Gamma(q)] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}p^{2e-1}(p-1), & q \neq 2, \\ 2, & q = 2. \end{cases}$$

From this, (4.153), and (4.152) we get

(4.155)
$$|[S\Gamma_0(q)]| = q = p^e$$

Obviously, the action of the q elements $T^{-j}H(q) \in K(q)$, $0 \leq j < q-1$ on $S\Gamma_0(q)$ gives elements of the orbit $[S\Gamma_0(q)]$. Since $T^{-j}H(q) \neq T^{-j'}H(q)$ for $j \neq j'$ the number of these elements is equal to the length of the orbit $[S\Gamma_0(q)]$ and hence,

(4.156)
$$[S\Gamma_0(q)] = \left\{ T^{-j} S\Gamma_0(q) \mid j = 0, \dots, q-1 \right\}.$$

Thus, for q = p, that is,

(4.157)
$$X(p) = \left\{ \Gamma_0(p), S\Gamma_0(p), TS\Gamma_0(p), \dots, T^{p-1}S\Gamma_0(p) \right\}$$

obviously we have

(4.158)
$$X(p) = [\Gamma_0(p)] \sqcup [S\Gamma_0(p)].$$

That is, |X(p)/K(p)| = 2 as we expected from Lemma 4.12.

From now on we assume that $q = p^e$ with $e \ge 2$. We determine the length of the orbits of K(q) when acting on the other elements of X(q), namely on

(4.159)
$$Y(q) := \left\{ y_k := ST^{-kp}S\Gamma_0(q), \quad 1 \le k \le p^{e-1} - 1 \right\}.$$

For this we consider the following partition of Y(q) into disjoint sets:

$$(4.160) Y(q) := Y_0 \sqcup Y_1 \sqcup Y_2 \sqcup \ldots \sqcup Y_{e-2}$$

where

(4.161)

$$Y_0 := \{ y_k \in Y(q) \mid p \nmid k \}, \quad Y_i := \{ y_k \in Y(q) \mid p^i \| k \}, \quad 1 \le i \le e - 2.$$

Here, $p^i || k$ means that $p^i | k$ but $p^{i+1} \nmid k$. In the following lemma we summarize properties of these subsets:

LEMMA 4.16. Each orbit of K(q) in Y(q) belongs to one of the subsets Y_i , $0 \le i \le e-2$. Their cardinality is given by

(4.162)
$$|Y_i| = p^{e-i-2}(p-1), \quad 0 \le i \le e-2.$$

PROOF. Two elements $y_k, y_{k'} \in Y(q)$ belong to the same orbit iff there is an element $g = \gamma H(q) \in K(q)$ such that $gy_k = y_{k'}$. For $\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(q)$ a simple calculation shows that y_k and $y_{k'}$ are in the same orbit iff

$$(4.163) \qquad -ak' + dk - kk'bp \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-1}.$$

Assume that $y_k \in Y_i$ and $y_{k'} \in Y_{i'}$ with $i \neq i'$ belong to the same orbit, then it follows from (4.163) that $p \mid d$ or $p \mid a$ which is obviously a contradiction. Hence, each orbit must belong to one of the sets Y_i .

To prove the second part, we note that the set Y_0 contains the elements y_k with $1 \leq k \leq p^{e-1} - 1$ such that (p, k) = 1. The number of such elements is given in terms of Euler's function, that is, $|Y_0| = \phi(p^{e-1}) = p^{e-2}(p-1)$ (see for example [44], page 38, Definition 2). Hence, there are $|Y(q)| - |Y_0| = p^{e-2} - 1$ elements y_k in Y(q) such that $p \mid k$. Let $Y'_0 := Y(q) - Y_0$ and $\mathcal{Y}_1 = \left\{k'' = \frac{k'}{p} \mid y_{k'} \in Y'_0\right\} = \{1, 2, 3, \ldots, p^{e-2} - 1\}$. Then $|Y_1|$ is equal to the number of elements $k'' \in \mathcal{Y}_1$ such that (p, k'') = 1, which by definition is again given in terms of Euler's function as $|Y_1| = \phi(p^{e-2}) = p^{e-3}(p-1)$. Repeating the same argument one obtains the cardinalities of the other Y_i 's, namely $|Y_i| = \phi(p^{e-1-i}) = p^{e-i-2}(p-1)$.

Next we show, that the stabilizer of any point in Y(q) is a *p*-group, that is, its order is a power of the prime *p*.

LEMMA 4.17. The stabilizer $Stab_{K(q)}(y_k)$ of each element $y_k \in Y(q)$, $q = p^e$, is a p-group.

PROOF. Let $Stab_{K(q)}(y_k)$ be the stabilizer of an element $y_k \in Y_i$ where $0 \leq i \leq e-2$. Then for $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(q)$ one has $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \Gamma(p^e) \in Stab_{K(q)}(y_k)$ iff $gy_k = y_k$ iff (4.164) $-a + d - bkp \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-1-i}$.

From this together with $ad \equiv 1 \mod p^e$ it follows that $a \equiv d \equiv \pm 1 \mod p$ and $ad \equiv 1 \mod p$. On the other hand $c \equiv 0 \mod p^e$ and hence $c \equiv 0 \mod p$. Therefore, observing that $\Gamma_0(p)$ is a subgroup of the projective modular group, we get $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_1(p)$ where

(4.165)
$$\Gamma_1(n) := \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \in \Gamma_0(n) \mid a \equiv d \equiv \pm 1 \mod n \right\}.$$

Consequently, it follows that $g \in \Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)$. Indeed, we showed that if $g \in Stab_{K(q)}(y_k)$ then $g \in \Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)$, that is, $Stab_{K(q)}(y_k) \leq$

4.6. NUMBER OF IRREDUCIBLES IN THE INDUCED REPRESENTATION 75

 $\Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)$. But for the order of $\Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)$ as a simple calculation shows we have $[\text{DSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \times \Gamma(z^e)]$

(4.166)
$$|\Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)| = \frac{[\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma(p^e)]}{[\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma_1(p)]}.$$

On the other hand, Theorem 4.2.5. in Miyake ([35], page 106) yields

(4.167)
$$[PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma_1(p)] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}(p^2-1), & p>2, \\ 3, & p=2, \end{cases}$$

and

(4.168)
$$[PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma(p^e)] = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}p^{3e-2}(p^2-1), & p^e > 2, \\ 6, & p = 2, e = 1. \end{cases}$$

Thus obviously we get

(4.169)
$$|\Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)| = \begin{cases} p^{3e-2} & p > 2, e \ge 1\\ 2 & p = 2, e = 1\\ 2^{3e-3} & p = 2, e \ge 2 \end{cases}$$

and hence $\Gamma_1(p)/\Gamma(p^e)$ is a *p*-group. Therefore, $Stab_{K(q)}(y_k)$ also must be a *p*-group, since the order of a subgroup of a finite group divides the order of the group (see for example [1], page 3).

For a prime p let p^n divide the order of the finite group G whereas p^{n+1} does not, that is $p^n |||G|$. A subgroup $H \leq G$ is called a Sylow p-subgroup of G if it is a maximal p-subgroup of G, that is, if its order is $|G|_p := p^n$. We denote this group by $P_{Sylow}(G)$.

LEMMA 4.18. The Sylow p-subgroup $P_{Sylow}(K(p^e))$ of the group $K(p^e)$ is unique and hence normal in $K(p^e)$.

PROOF. Recall that according to Lemma 4.1 the order of $K(p^e)$ is given by

(4.170)
$$|K(q)| = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}p^{2e-1}(p-1), & q = p^e, p \neq 2, e \ge 1\\ 2, & q = 2, \\ 4, & q = 4, \\ 2^{2e-3}, & q = 2^e, e \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

Thus for $q = 2^e$ and $e \ge 1$ the group K(q) is itself a 2-group and hence $P_{Sylow}(K(2^e)) = K(2^e)$. Evidently, in this case the assertion is trivial. Next we assume p > 2. Let G be a finite group, P_{Sylow} a Sylow p-subgroup of G of order $|G|_p$, and n_P be the number of Sylow p-subgroups of G. Then $n_P \equiv 1 \mod p$ and n_P divides $(|G|/|G|_p)$ (see [1], page 64, Sylow's theorem and page 66, corollary 1). In the case of a Sylow p-subgroup P_{Sylow} of $K(p^e)$, we have $n_P \mid \frac{1}{2}(p-1)$ (see (4.170)) and $n_P \equiv 1 \mod p$. Hence, $n_P = 1$ that means the Sylow p-subgroup $P_{Sylow}(K(p^e))$ is unique. On the other hand, all Sylow *p*-subgroups of a group are conjugate by elements of the group (see [1], page 64, Sylow's theorem). This together with the uniqueness of $P_{Sylow}(K(p^e))$ and the fact that any conjugate of a *p*-subgroup by elements of the group is again a *p*-subgroup of the group leads to normality of $P_{Sylow}(K(p^e))$ in $K(p^e)$.

LEMMA 4.19. Let $q = p^e$ be a prime power with p > 2, $e \ge 2$, and $Stab_{K(q)}(y_{k_i})$ be the stabilizer of a point $y_{k_i} \in Y_i$. Then the order of this stabilizer is given by

(4.171)
$$|Stab_{K(q)}(y_{k_i})| = p^{e+i+1}$$

PROOF. First, we determine a lower bound for the order of the stabilizer groups. According to the "orbit stabilizer theorem", Lemma 4.16, and Lemma 4.1 the following holds (4.172)

$$\left[K(p^e): Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})\right] = \frac{\frac{1}{2}(p-1)p^{2e-1}}{|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})|} \le |Y_i| = (p-1)p^{e-i-2}.$$

By a simple calculation, this leads to

(4.173)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})| \ge \frac{1}{2}p^{e+i+1}.$$

Since according to Lemma 4.17 $|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})|$ must be a power of p, the latter yields

(4.174)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})| \ge p^{e+i+1}$$

Consider then the following range of i values

(4.175)
$$\begin{cases} \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right] < i \le e-2, & \text{for odd } e, \\ \frac{e-2}{2} \le i \le e-2, & \text{for even } e. \end{cases}$$

where [a] denotes the integer part of $a \in \mathbb{R}$. In these intervals, for any $y_{k_i} \in Y_i$ one can easily check that $pk_i \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-i-1}$ and hence according to (4.164) we get

(4.176)
$$\begin{cases} Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}) = \\ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \Gamma(p^e) \in K(p^e) \mid -a + d \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-i-1} \end{cases}$$

Since $\Gamma(p^e)$ is a normal subgroup of $\Gamma_1(p^e)$ and $\Gamma_1(p^e) < \Gamma_0(p^e)$,

(4.177)
$$K_1(p^e) := \Gamma_1(p^e) / \Gamma(p^e)$$

is obviously a subgroup of $K(p^e)$. The index of $\Gamma(p^e)$ in $\Gamma_1(p^e)$ is given by (see for example [27], page 107, Problem 7 and page 231)

(4.178)
$$[\Gamma_1(p^e) : \Gamma(p^e)] = p^e.$$

From this and observing that for $1 \leq j, j' \leq p^e, T^j \Gamma(p^e) = T^{j'} \Gamma(p^e)$ if and only if j = j' we get (see also [35], page 107)

(4.179)
$$K_1(p^e) = \left\{ T^k \Gamma(p^e) | 1 \le k \le p^e \right\}.$$

Evidently, $K_1(p^e)$ is a subgroup of $Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})$ and hence we have

(4.180)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})| = |K_1(p^e)||Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(p^e)|$$

or,

(4.181)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})| = p^e |Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(p^e)|.$$

Furtheremore, we have

$$(4.182) \\ Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(p^e) = \\ \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} K_1(p^e) \in K(p^e)/K_1(p^e) \mid -a+d \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-i-1} \right\}.$$

On the other hand, $\Gamma_1(p^e)$ is a normal subgroup of $\Gamma_0(p^e)$ ([27], page 107, Problem 1) and hence $K_1(p^e)$ is a normal subgroup of $K(p^e)$. Indeed, according to the "Second Isomorphism Theorem" ([1], page 12) we have

(4.183)
$$K(p^e)/K_1(p^e) \cong \Gamma_0(p^e)/\Gamma_1(p^e).$$

Let $(\mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ be the multiplicative group of the invertible elements of $\mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z}$ with the identity element $1+p^e\mathbb{Z}$ denoted by 1_{p^e} respectively the element $-1+p^e\mathbb{Z}$ denoted by -1_{p^e} . Then according to Miyake ([**35**], page 105) and the fact that $\Gamma_0(p^e)$ is a subgroup of the projective modular group we get

(4.184)
$$K(p^e)/K_1(p^e) \cong \Gamma_0(p^e)/\Gamma_1(p^e) \cong (\mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}/\{\pm 1_{p^e}\}.$$

From this and $ad \equiv 1 \mod p^e$ it follows from (4.182) that

(4.185)
$$\begin{aligned} Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(p^e) &\cong \\ \left\{ d \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid -d + d^{-1} \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-i-1} \right\} / \left\{ \pm 1_{p^e} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

or equivalently,

(4.186)
$$\begin{aligned} Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(p^e) &\cong \\ \left\{ d \in (\mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid d \equiv 1 \mod p^{e-i-1} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Let $h : (\mathbb{Z}/p^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/p^{e-i-1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ be the homomorphism given by $h(a) = a \mod p^{e-i-1}$ which is evidently onto. Then according to (4.186) we have

(4.187)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(p^e)| = |\ker h| = \frac{\phi(p^e)}{\phi(p^{e-i-1})} = p^{i+1}.$$

This and (4.181) yields

(4.188)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})| = p^{e+i+1}.$$

Finally, for $e \ge 3$ consider i' = e - 2 - i with i in the range given in (4.175) and hence

(4.189)
$$\begin{cases} 0 \le i' \le \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right], & \text{for odd } e, \\ 0 \le i' < \frac{e-2}{2}, & \text{for even } e. \end{cases}$$

According to Lemma 4.17 the stabilizer group $Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ is a pgroup and hence it must be a subgroup of the unique Sylow p-subgroup of $K(p^e)$ ([1], page 64). Then with $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(p^e)$ the stabilizer group is given by

(4.190)

$$Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) =$$

 $\left\{ g\Gamma(p^e) \in P_{Sylow}(K(p^e)) \mid -a + d - bpk_{i'} \equiv 0 \mod p^{e-i'-1} \right\}.$

One can easily check that in the given range (4.175) of i for i' = e - 2 - i one has

(4.191)
$$Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \leq Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}).$$

Moreover, for the elements $T^{j}\Gamma(p^{e}) \in Stab_{K(p^{e})}(y_{k_{i}})$ we have $T^{j}\Gamma(p^{e}) \notin Stab_{K(p^{e})}(y_{k_{i'}})$ for $1 \leq j < p^{e-2(i'+1)} - 1$ and $T^{j}\Gamma(p^{e}) \in Stab_{K(p^{e})}(y_{k_{i'}})$ for $j = p^{e-2(i'+1)}$ and hence

(4.192)
$$\left[Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}) : Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \right] \ge p^{e-2(i'+1)}.$$

On the other hand, evidently we have

(4.193)

$$\begin{bmatrix} P_{Sylow}(K(p^e)) : Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \end{bmatrix} = \\ \begin{bmatrix} P_{Sylow}(K(p^e)) : Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}) : Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \end{bmatrix}.$$

But according to (4.188) and (4.154) we have

(4.194)
$$[P_{Sylow}(K(p^e)) : Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})] = p^{e-i-2}$$

and therefore we get

(4.195)
$$\left[P_{Sylow}(K(p^e)): Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})\right] \ge p^{e-i-2}p^{e-2(i'+1)} = p^{e-i'-2}$$

where we used i = e - 2 - i'. Consequently, by a simple calculation we get

(4.196)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})| \le p^{e+i'+1}$$

which together with (4.174) yields

(4.197)
$$|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})| = p^{e+i'+1}$$

Thus the proof is complete.

To treat the case $q = 2^e$ we need the following auxiliary result:

78

LEMMA 4.20. For $e \ge 2$ let

(4.198)
$$\begin{cases} \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right] + 1 \le i \le e-2, & \text{for odd } e, \\ \frac{e-2}{2} \le i \le e-2, & \text{for even } e, \end{cases}$$

and

(4.199)
$$\begin{cases} 0 \le i' \le \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right], & \text{for odd } e, \\ 0 \le i' \le \frac{e-2}{2} - 1, & \text{for even } e > 3, \\ 0 = i', & \text{for } e = 2. \end{cases}$$

If i + i' = e - 2, then $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ is a subgroup of $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$ of index given by

(4.200)
$$\left[Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \right] = 2^{e-2(i'+1)}.$$

PROOF. Similar to the case p > 2 where the stabilizers are given in (4.176) and (4.190) we have

(4.201)
$$\begin{cases} Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}) = \\ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) \in K(2^e) \mid -a + d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \end{cases}$$

and

$$(4.202) \\ Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) = \\ \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) \in K(2^e) \mid -a + d - 2bk_{i'} \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i'-1} \right\}.$$

In the range of i and i' given in (4.198) respectively (4.199), obviously, we have

$$(4.203) 2^{e-i'-1} \ge 2^{e-i-1}$$

and

(4.204)
$$2k_{i'} \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1} = 0 \mod 2^{i'+1}.$$

Thus, if

(4.205)
$$-a + d - 2bk_{i'} \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i'-1}$$

then

$$(4.206) -a + d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1}$$

Hence, according to (4.201) and (4.202) we get

(4.207)
$$Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \leq Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}).$$

Next, we determine the index of $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ in $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$. Since $T^jH(2^e) \in Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$ whereas $T^jH(2^e) \notin Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ for $j = 1, 2, \ldots, 2^{e-2(i'+1)} - 1$ and $T^jH(2^e) \in Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ for $j = 2^{e-2(i'+1)}$, all these elements belong to the set of representatives of the cosets of $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ in $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$. To show that these are all the representatives, take an arbitrary element,

(4.208)
$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) \in Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}),$$

Then it is enough to show that there is $t \in \mathbb{Z}$, $1 \le t \le 2^{e-2(i'+1)}$ such that (4.209)

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e)Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & t \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} H(2^e)Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}).$$

This is equivalent to show that

(4.210)
$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & -t \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) \in Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}).$$

Or,

(4.211)
$$\begin{pmatrix} a-tc & b-td \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) \in Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}).$$

This holds if and only if

(4.212)
$$-(a-tc) + d - 2(b-td)k_{i'} \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i'-1}$$

Then by a simple calculation we get

(4.213)
$$-a + d - (b - td)\alpha' 2^{i'+1} \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i'-1}$$

where $\alpha' = \frac{k_{i'}}{2^{i'}}$. According to (4.208) we have

$$(4.214) \qquad \qquad -a+d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1}$$

or, since i + i' = e - 2,

(4.215)
$$-a + d = \alpha 2^{e-i-1} = \alpha 2^{i'+1}$$

for some $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$. Inserting this into (4.213) we get

(4.216)
$$\alpha - (b - td)\alpha' \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e - 2(i'+1)}.$$

We note that α' and d are coprime to 2 and hence they can be considered as invertible elements of $\mathbb{Z}/2^{e-2(i'+1)}\mathbb{Z}$. Hence, as an equation in $\mathbb{Z}/2^{e-2(i'+1)}\mathbb{Z}$ we find the following solution for t,

(4.217)
$$t \equiv (b - \alpha \alpha'^{-1})d^{-1} \mod 2^{e-2(i'+1)}.$$

Hence, (4.209) holds for some $t \in \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, a set of representatives of $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})$ in $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$ is given by

(4.218)
$$T^{j}H(2^{e}), \quad j = 1, 2, \dots 2^{e-2(i'+1)},$$

and

(4.219)
$$\left[Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})\right] = 2^{e-2(i'+1)}$$

4.6. NUMBER OF IRREDUCIBLES IN THE INDUCED REPRESENTATION 81

LEMMA 4.21. For $e \geq 2$ and $0 \leq i \leq e-2$ let $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$ denote the stabilizer group of a point $y_{k_i} \in Y_i \subset Y(2^e)$. Then for e = 2 we have

(4.220)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_0})| = |K(2^e)| = 4.$$

For e = 3 we have

(4.221)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = \begin{cases} 2^2 & i = 0\\ 2^3 & i = 1. \end{cases}$$

For e = 4 we have

(4.222)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = \begin{cases} 2^3 & i = 0\\ 2^5 & 1 \le i \le 2. \end{cases}$$

For e = 5 we have

(4.223)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = \begin{cases} 2^{e-1} & i=0\\ 2^{2e-3} & e-4 \le i \le e-2. \end{cases}$$

For e = 6 we have

(4.224)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = \begin{cases} 2^{e-1} & i = 0\\ 2^{e+1} & i = 1\\ 2^{2e-3} & e-4 \le i \le e-2. \end{cases}$$

For e = 7 we have

(4.225)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = \begin{cases} 2^{e-1} & i = 0\\ 2^{e+1} & i = 1\\ 2^{e+3} & i = 2\\ 2^{2e-3} & e-4 \le i \le e-2. \end{cases}$$

Finally, for $e \geq 8$ we have

(4.226)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = \begin{cases} 2^{e-1} & i = 0\\ 2^{e+1} & i = 1\\ 2^{e+3} & i = 2\\ 2^{e+i+1} & 3 \le i \le e-5\\ 2^{2e-3} & e-4 \le i \le e-2. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. For e = 2, $Y(2^2) = Y_0$ contains only one element and hence $K(2^2)$ is its stabilizer which according to Lemma 4.1 yields the desired result (4.220). Next, for $e \ge 3$ we consider *i* in the range given by

(4.227)
$$\begin{cases} \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right] + 1 \le i \le e-2, & \text{for odd } e, \\ \frac{e-2}{2} \le i \le e-2, & \text{for even } e. \end{cases}$$

Recall that

(4.228)
$$\begin{cases} Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}) = \\ \begin{pmatrix} (a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) \in K(2^e) \mid -a + d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \end{cases}.$$

Let us define

(4.229)
$$H_1(2^e) := \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \in \Gamma_0(2^e) \mid a \equiv d \mod 2^e \right\}.$$

By an easy calculation one can show that for an arbitrary element $g \in \Gamma_0(2^e)$ and $\gamma \in H_1(2^e)$, $g\gamma g^{-1} \in H_1(2^e)$ and hence $H_1(2^e)$ is normal in $\Gamma_0(2^e)$. Then, obviously,

(4.230)
$$K_1(2^e) := H_1(2^e)/H(2^e)$$

is a normal subgroup of $K(2^e)$. Next we determine the elements of $K_1(2^e)$, namely the left cosets of $H(2^e)$ in $H_1(2^e)$. For this we note that for $1 \leq j, j' \leq 2^e$, $T^j H(2^e) = T^{j'} H(2^e)$ if and only if j = j' and hence

(4.231)
$$\left\{T^{j}H(2^{e}) \mid 1 \le j \le 2^{e}\right\} \le K_{1}(2^{e}).$$

To prove equality we must show that for any element $\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H_1(2^e)$ there is $t \in \mathbb{Z}, 1 \leq t \leq 2^e$ such that

(4.232)
$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} H(2^e) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & t \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} H(2^e).$$

This is equivalent to show that

(4.233)
$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & -t \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H(2^e)$$

or,

(4.234)
$$\begin{pmatrix} a-tc & b-td \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in H(2^e).$$

Since $c \equiv 0 \mod 2^e$, (4.234) holds if and only if

$$(4.235) b - td \equiv 0 \mod 2^e.$$

Since d is obviously an invertible element of $\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z}$, as an equation in $\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z}$ we get for $t \in \mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z}$

$$(4.236) t \equiv bd^{-1} \mod 2^e.$$

Thus we have

(4.237)
$$K_1(2^e) = \left\{ T^j H(2^e) \mid 1 \le j \le 2^e \right\}.$$

This is evidently a subgroup of $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$ and since $K_1(2^e)$ is normal in $K(2^e)$, it is also normal in $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$. Obviously

$$(4.238) |Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = |Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(2^e)||K_1(2^e)|.$$

But $|K_1(2^e)| = 2^e$ and hence

(4.239)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = 2^e |Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(2^e)|.$$

To calculate $|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(2^e)|$ we note that

$$(4.240) \\ Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})/K_1(2^e) = \\ \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} K_1(2^e) \in K(2^e)/K_1(2^e) \mid -a+d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\}.$$

For $e \ge 3$ we have (4.241) $K(2^e)/K_1(2^e) \cong \Gamma_0(2^e)/H_1(2^e) \cong (\Gamma_0(2^e)/\Gamma_1(2^e))/(H_1(2^e)/\Gamma_1(2^e)).$

(4.242)
$$\Delta(2^e) := H_1(2^e) / \Gamma_1(2^e)$$

where the definition of $\Gamma_1(n)$ is given in (4.165). As in Corollary (4.2.2) in [35], the group $\Gamma_1(2^e)$ can namely be considered as the kernel of a homomorphism of $\Gamma_0(2^e)$ to a finite group and hence it is another normal subgroup of $\Gamma_0(2^e)$. Therefore $H(2^e)$ and $\Gamma_1(2^e)$ are normal in the subgroup $H_1(2^e)$ of $\Gamma_0(2^e)$. Then the following group isomorphism holds for $e \geq 3$:

$$Stab_{K(2^{e})}(y_{k_{i}})/K_{1}(2^{e}) \cong \left\{g\Gamma_{1}(2^{e}) \in \Gamma_{0}(2^{e})/\Gamma_{1}(2^{e}) \mid -a+d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1}\right\}/\Delta(2^{e}).$$

where $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(2^e)$. Obviously $H(2^e)\Gamma_1(2^e)$ is a subgroup of $H_1(2^e)$. Conversely, by a simple calculation one can show, that each element of $H_1(2^e)$ can be written as a product of an element of $H(2^e)$ and an element of $\Gamma_1(2^e)$, that means, $H_1(2^e)$ is a subgroup of $H(2^e)\Gamma_1(2^e)$. Therefore we get

(4.244)
$$H_1(2^e) = H(2^e)\Gamma_1(2^e).$$

On the other hand obviously we have

(4.245)
$$H(2^e) \cap \Gamma_1(2^e) = \Gamma(2^e).$$

Thus from the "First Isomorphism Theorem" ([1], page 11) it follows that

(4.246)
$$\Delta(2^e) = H_1(2^e) / \Gamma_1(2^e) \cong H(2^e) / \Gamma(2^e).$$

Consequently, according to (4.23) $\Delta(2^e)$ is a cyclic group of order two and we have

(4.247)
$$\Delta(2^e) \cong \left\{1 \mod 2^e, 1+2^{e-1} \mod 2^e\right\}.$$

Since we consider subgroups of the projective modular group not the modular group itself, it follows from Miyake ([**35**], page 105),

(4.248)
$$\Gamma_0(2^e)/\Gamma_1(2^e) \cong (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}/\{\pm 1_{2^e}\}$$

with $\pm 1_{2^e}$ as in (4.21). If (4.249)

$$\mathcal{G}_{i}(2^{e}) := \left\{ g\Gamma_{1}(2^{e}) \in \Gamma_{0}(2^{e}) / \Gamma_{1}(2^{e}) \mid -a+d \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\}$$

with $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(2^e)$, we can rewrite $\mathcal{G}_i(2^e)$ in terms of $(\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$, as (4.250)

$$\mathcal{G}_{i}(2^{e}) \cong \left\{ d \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid -d + d^{-1} \equiv 0 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} / \left\{ \pm 1_{2^{e}} \right\}.$$

Or,

(4.251)
$$\mathcal{G}_i(2^e) \cong \left\{ d \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid d^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} / \left\{ \pm 1_{2^e} \right\}.$$

Let us define

(4.252)
$$\mathcal{A}_i(2^e) = \left\{ d \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid d^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\}$$

Thus for *i* in the range given in (4.227), according to (4.239) and (4.243) and recalling $\Delta(2^e)$ is of order 2, the cardinality of $Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})$ in terms of the cardinality of $\mathcal{A}_i(2^e)$ is given obviously by

(4.253)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = 2^{e-2} |\mathcal{A}_i(2^e)|.$$

Since all elements of $(\mathbb{Z}/8\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ are of second order, we get for e=3 and i=1

$$(4.254) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}_1(2^3) = (\mathbb{Z}/8\mathbb{Z})^{\times}.$$

But $(\mathbb{Z}/8\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ has four elements and hence we get $|Stab_{K(2^3)}(y_{k_1})| = 2^3$. Then from Lemma 4.20 we obtain $|Stab_{K(2^3)}(y_{k_0})| = 2^2$. Thus (4.221) has been proved.

For e = 4 and $1 \le i \le 2$, by an easy calculation one can check that (4.255) $\mathcal{A}_1(2^4) = \mathcal{A}_2(2^4) = (\mathbb{Z}/16\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \cong \{1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15\}$

and hence $|Stab_{K(2^4)}(y_{k_1})| = |Stab_{K(2^4)}(y_{k_2})| = 2^5$. Then according to Lemma 4.20 we get $|Stab_{K(2^4)}(y_{k_0})| = 2^3$ which proves (4.222).

For $e \geq 5$ consider the homomorphisms

(4.256)
$$\begin{aligned} h_k : (\mathbb{Z}/2^e \mathbb{Z})^{\times} &\to (\mathbb{Z}/2^k \mathbb{Z})^{\times} \\ h_k(\alpha) &= \alpha \mod 2^k \end{aligned}$$

with k = 1, 2, 3. Since, as can be easily checked, each element of $(\mathbb{Z}/2^k\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ for k = 1, 2, 3 is of second order, we have

(4.257)
$$h_k(\alpha^2) = \alpha^2 \mod 2^k = h_k(\alpha)^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^k, \quad k = 1, 2, 3.$$

Thus for any $\alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ we have

(4.258)
$$\alpha^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^k, \quad k = 1, 2, 3.$$

Hence, for $e \ge 5$ we get

(4.259)
$$\mathcal{A}_i(2^e) = (\mathbb{Z}/2^e \mathbb{Z})^{\times}, \quad e - 4 \le i \le e - 2.$$

Therefore, according to (4.253) and the fact that $|(\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}| = 2^{e-1}$ (see for example [44]) we get

(4.260)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = 2^{2e-3}, \quad e-4 \le i \le e-2.$$

This and Lemma 4.20 yield all assertions for $e \ge 5$ except the case $3 \le i \le e - 5$ for $e \ge 8$ in (4.226).

As mentioned in (4.22), for $k \ge 3$ one has $\alpha^2 \equiv 1 \mod 2^k$ iff $\alpha \equiv \pm 1 \mod 2^k$ or $\alpha \equiv 2^{k-1} \pm 1 \mod 2^k$. Thus, for $e \ge 8$ and *i* values in the intersection of the range in (4.227) and the range $3 \le i \le e-5$, namely

(4.261)
$$\begin{cases} \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right] + 1 \le i \le e-5, & \text{for odd } e, \\ \frac{e-2}{2} \le i \le e-5, & \text{for even } e \end{cases}$$

we get

$$\mathcal{A}_{i}(2^{e}) = \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} \sqcup \\ \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv -1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} \sqcup \\ \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv 2^{e-i-2} + 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} \sqcup \\ \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv 2^{e-i-2} - 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} .$$

Let $h: (\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \to (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e-i-1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}$ be the homomorphism given by (4.263) $h(\alpha) = \alpha \mod 2^{e-i-1}.$

Since h is onto we get

(4.264)
$$|\ker h| = \frac{|(\mathbb{Z}/2^e\mathbb{Z})^{\times}|}{|(\mathbb{Z}/2^{e-i-1}\mathbb{Z})^{\times}|} = \frac{2^{e-1}}{2^{e-i-2}} = 2^{i+1}$$

Then, evidently, we have

$$(4.265)$$

$$\sharp \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} =$$

$$\sharp \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv -1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} =$$

$$\sharp \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv 2^{e-i-2} + 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} =$$

$$\sharp \left\{ \alpha \in (\mathbb{Z}/2^{e}\mathbb{Z})^{\times} \mid \alpha \equiv 2^{e-i-2} - 1 \mod 2^{e-i-1} \right\} = |\ker h| = 2^{i+1}$$

From this, (4.262) and (4.253) we get for the values of i in (4.261)

(4.266)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = 2^{e+i+1}.$$

To complete the proof we must still show the assertion for i' = e - 2 - i, that is, for i' in the range

(4.267)
$$\begin{cases} 3 \le i' \le \left[\frac{e-2}{2}\right], & \text{for odd } e, \\ 3 \le i' \le \frac{e-2}{2} - 1, & \text{for even } e. \end{cases}$$

For this, first we note that

(4.268)
$$\begin{bmatrix} K(2^e) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \end{bmatrix} = \\ \begin{bmatrix} K(2^e) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}) \end{bmatrix} \times \begin{bmatrix} Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i}) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}}) \end{bmatrix}.$$

Then, from Lemma 4.20 it follows that

(4.269) $[K(2^e) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})] = [K(2^e) : Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})] 2^{e-2(i'+1)}.$ Hence we get

(4.270)
$$|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_{i'}})| = \frac{|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})|}{2^{e-2(i'+1)}}.$$

This together with the known values $|Stab_{K(2^e)}(y_{k_i})| = 2^{e+i+1} = 2^{2e-i'-1}$ for *i* in the range (4.261) completes the proof.

LEMMA 4.22. For p > 2 and $e \ge 1$ the number of orbits in $X(p^e)$ under the action of $K(p^e)$, is given by

(4.271)
$$|X(p^e)/K(p^e)| = 2e.$$

Furtheremore, the number of orbits in $X(2^e)$ under the action of $K(2^e)$, is given by

(4.272)
$$|X(2^e)/K(2^e)| = \begin{cases} 2 & e = 1\\ e+1 & 2 \le e \le 3\\ 6 & e = 4\\ 10 & e = 5\\ 4(e-3) & e \ge 6. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. The assertion for e = 1 is already obtained in (4.158). In the rest of the proof we assume $e \ge 2$. For p > 2 consider an arbitrary point y_{k_i} in Y_i . As we mentioned already, the orbit $[y_{k_i}]$ of $y_{k_i} \in Y_i$ belongs to Y_i . According to the "orbit stabilizer theorem", the length of this orbit is given by

(4.273)
$$|[y_{k_i}]| = \frac{|K(p^e)|}{|Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})|} = \frac{1}{2}p^{e-i-2}(p-1)$$

where we used Lemmas 4.1 and 4.19. Since, according to Lemma 4.19 the stabilizer of each point of Y_i has the same order, it follows that there must be another orbit in Y_i with the same length. These are the only orbits in Y_i because the sum of their length is equal to the cardinality of Y_i . Recall that besides the orbits in $Y(p^e)$ there are the two other orbits $[\Gamma_0(p^e)]$ and $[S\Gamma_0(p^e)]$ of lengths 1 and p^e , respectively

in $X(p^e)$. Therefore if n_i denotes the number of orbits in Y_i then we have

(4.274)
$$|X(p^e)/K(p^e)| = 2 + \sum_{i=0}^{e-2} n_i.$$

But we already proved that for $0 \le i \le e - 2$ we have $n_i = 2$ and hence

(4.275)
$$|X(p^e)/K(p^e)| = 2e.$$

Next, we consider the case of powers of p = 2. According to Lemma 4.1 we have

(4.276)
$$|K(2^e)| = \begin{cases} 2, & e = 1, \\ 4, & e = 2, \\ 2^{2e-3}, & e \ge 3. \end{cases}$$

To determine the number of orbits of $K(2^e)$ in $X(2^e)$ recall that for $e \geq 2$ besides the orbits $[\Gamma_0(2^e)]$ and $[S\Gamma_0(2^e)]$ there are the other orbits in the set

(4.277)
$$Y(2^e) = \bigsqcup_{i=0}^{e-2} Y_i$$

where each orbit belongs to a set Y_i . Hence, if n_i denotes the number of orbits in Y_i then the number of orbits of $K(2^e)$ in $X(2^e)$ is given by

(4.278)
$$|X(2^e)/K(2^e)| = 2 + \sum_{i=0}^{e-2} n_i.$$

We recall also that (Lemma 4.16)

(4.279)
$$|Y_i| = 2^{e-i-2}, \quad 0 \le i \le e-2.$$

Since Y_0 for e = 2 contains only one element, Y_0 itself is an orbit and hence $n_0 = 1$. Thus according to (4.278) for e = 2 we have $|X(2^2)/K(2^2)| = 3$.

For $e \geq 3$ according to Lemma 4.21 the stabilizer of each point in Y_0 is of order 2^{e-1} . Hence, from the orbit stabilizer theorem it follows that the length of an orbit in Y_0 coincides with the cardinality of Y_0 and consequentely for any $e \geq 3$ we have $n_0 = 1$. For $e \geq 3$, according to (4.279) Y_{e-2} contains only one element and therefore Y_{e-2} itself is an orbit. That is, for any $e \geq 3$ we have $n_{e-2} = |Y_{e-2}| = 1$. Hence for e = 3 according to (4.278) we get $|X(2^3)/K(2^3)| = 4$.

For $e \ge 4$ according to Lemma 4.21 $K(2^e)$ is the stabilizer of each point in Y_{e-3} and hence according to the orbit stabilizer theorem each point in Y_{e-3} is an orbit. Thus the number of orbits in Y_{e-3} coincides with its cardinality. Therefore we get $n_{e-3} = 2$. Hence, according to (4.278) we get $|X(2^4)/K(2^4)| = 6$.

With the same argument, for $e \ge 5$ we get $n_{e-4} = 4$. Hence, according to (4.278) we get $|X(2^5)/K(2^5)| = 10$.

Next, let $e \ge 6$. According to Lemma 4.21 the stabilizer of each point in Y_1 is of the order 2^{e+1} and hence according to the orbit stabilizer theorem each orbit in Y_1 is of the same length 2^{e-4} . Since the sum of the lengths of these orbits must coincide with the cardinality of Y_1 , namely 2^{e-3} , it follows that Y_1 contains two orbits. That is, for $e \ge 6$ we have $n_1 = 2$. Hence, according to (4.278) we get $|X(2^6)/K(2^6)| = 12$. Similarly, for $e \ge 7$ we get $n_2 = 4$ and hence $|X(2^7)/K(2^7)| = 16$.

Finally, let $e \ge 8$ and $3 \le i \le e-5$. Then according to Lemma 4.21 the stabilizer of each point in Y_i is of the same order 2^{e+i+1} and hence according to orbit stabilizer theorem the orbits in Y_i are of the same length 2^{e-i-4} . Since the sum of the lengths of these orbits must be equal to the cardinality of Y_i , namely 2^{e-i-2} , it follows that Y_i contains four orbits. Thus for $e \ge 8$ and $3 \le i \le e-5$ we get $n_i = 4$ and hence according to (4.278) we get $|X(2^e)/K(2^e)| = 4(e-3)$. Thus the proof is complete.

As a consequence of this lemma, according to Lemma 4.5, for the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ we get

LEMMA 4.23. Let $q = p^e$ be a prime power with $e \in \mathbb{N}$ and

(4.280)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(q)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^N m_i V_i$$

be the decomposition of the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ into irreducible representations where m_i is the multiplicity of V_i in $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ and N is the number of non-isomorphic irreducible representations appearing in $U_{\Gamma_0(p^e)}$. Then we have

(4.281)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} m_i^2 = \begin{cases} 2e, & p > 2, e \ge 1, \\ 2 & p = 2, e = 1 \\ e+1 & p = 2, 2 \le e \le 3 \\ 6 & p = 2, e = 4 \\ 10 & p = 2, e = 5 \\ 4(e-3) & p = 2, e \ge 6. \end{cases}$$

We close this section by counting the number of irreducibles in $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ for q a prime power. Recall that

(4.282)
$$X(q) = \operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(q), \quad \overline{X}(q) = \operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$$

and that for X(q) and $\overline{X}(q)$ we can chose the same set of representatives as given in (4.147). Indeed, there is a bijection

$$(4.283) b: X(q) \to \overline{X}(q)$$

given by

(4.284)
$$b(x\Gamma_0(q)) = x\Gamma_0(q)$$

Moreover, recall that

(4.285)
$$K(q) = \Gamma_0(q)/H(q), \quad \overline{K}(q) = \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)/M(q)$$

are subgroups of $Q(q) = \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/H(q)$ and $G(q) = \text{PGL}(2, \mathbb{Z})/M(q)$, respectively (see (4.15)), where H(q) and M(q) are defined in (4.3). The action of K(q) on X(q) is given by

(4.286)
$$\begin{array}{c} K(q) \times X(q) \to X(q) \\ (gH(q), x\Gamma_0(q)) \mapsto gH(q)(x\Gamma_0(q)) = gx\Gamma_0(q) \end{array}$$

and the action of $\overline{K}(q)$ on $\overline{X}(q)$ is given by

(4.287)
$$\overline{K}(q) \times \overline{X}(q) \to \overline{X}(q) (gM(q), x\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)) \mapsto gM(q)(x\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)) = gx\overline{\Gamma}_0(q).$$

Now we determine the cardinality of $\overline{X}(q)/\overline{K}(q)$, namely the number of orbits of $\overline{K}(q)$ in $\overline{X}(q)$. Evidently, $\overline{\Gamma}_0(q) \in \overline{X}(q)$ is invariant under $\overline{K}(q)$ and hence $[\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)]$ is an orbit consisting of one element, namely $\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$. Using the same arguments as in the case of the orbit $[S\Gamma_0(q)] \in$ X(q)/K(q), we get for the orbit $[S\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)] \in \overline{X}(q)/\overline{K}(q)$

(4.288)
$$\left[S\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)\right] = \left\{T^{-j}S\overline{\Gamma}_0(q) \mid 0 \le j \le q-1\right\}.$$

Therefore, we have for q = p

(4.289)
$$\overline{X}(q) = [\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)] \sqcup [S\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)]$$

and hence

(4.290)
$$|\overline{X}(q)/\overline{K}(q)| = 2.$$

It remains to determine the orbits of $\overline{K}(q)$ in

(4.291)
$$\overline{Y}(q) := \{\overline{y} := b(y) \mid y \in Y(q)\}.$$

Similar to the action of K(q) on Y(q), the action of $\overline{K}(q)$ on $\overline{Y}(q)$ partitions this set into the subsets

(4.292)
$$\overline{Y}_i := \{ \overline{y} := b(y) \mid y \in Y_i \}, \quad 0 \le i \le e - 2.$$

If \overline{n}_i denotes the number of orbits in the set $\overline{Y}_i \subset \overline{Y}(q)$, then the number of orbits of $\overline{K}(q)$ in $\overline{X}(q)$ is given by

(4.293)
$$|\overline{X}(q)/\overline{K}(q)| = 2 + \sum_{i=0}^{e-2} \overline{n}_i.$$

The number \overline{n}_i can be determined from the number n_i of orbits in Y_i . For this we need the following lemma:

LEMMA 4.24. For $e \geq 2$ and $0 \leq i \leq e-2$ let $[y_{k_i}]$ be the orbit of $K(p^e)$ in $Y_i \subset Y(p^e)$ through the point $y_{k_i} \in Y_i$. Similarly, let $[\overline{y}_{k_i}]$ be

the orbit of $\overline{K}(p^e)$ in $\overline{Y}_i \subset \overline{Y}(p^e)$ through the point $\overline{y}_{k_i} = b(y_{k_i}) \in \overline{Y}_i$. Then we have for $p \geq 2$, $1 \leq i \leq e-3$ and $e \geq 4$,

(4.294)
$$|[\overline{y}_{k_i}]| = \begin{cases} |[y_{k_i}]| & -1 \text{ is a square modulo } p^e \\ 2|[y_{k_i}]| & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Moreover we have for $p \geq 2$, $e \geq 2$, and i = 0 respectively i = e - 2

$$(4.295) \qquad \qquad |\left[\overline{y}_{k_i}\right]| = |\left[y_{k_i}\right]|$$

PROOF. Let -1 be a square modulo $q = p^e$. Then according to (4.6) we have [M(q) : H(q)] = 2 where H(q) and M(q) are defined in (4.3). Since M(q) is normal in $\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ and $\Gamma_0(q)$ is a subgroup of $\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$, we have $\Gamma_0(q)M(q) \leq \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ (see for example [1], page 6, Proposition 7). Thus according to the "First Isomorphism Theorem" the following group isomorphism hold

(4.296)
$$(\Gamma_0(q)M(q))/M(q) \cong \Gamma_0(q)/(\Gamma_0(q) \cap M(q)).$$

On the other hand, for an arbitrary element $\overline{\gamma} \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ obviously there is an element $\delta \in M(q)$ such that $\overline{\gamma}\delta \in \Gamma_0(q)$. Hence, each element $\overline{\gamma} \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ can be written as $\gamma\delta'$ where $\gamma = \overline{\gamma}\delta \in \Gamma_0(q)$, $\delta \in M(q)$, and $\delta' = \delta^{-1} \in M(q)$. That means $\overline{\Gamma}_0(q) \leq \Gamma_0(q)M(q)$. From this and $\Gamma_0(q)M(q) \leq \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ we get

(4.297)
$$\overline{\Gamma}_0(q) = \Gamma_0(q)M(q).$$

On the other hand, according to definitions of M(q) and H(q) in (4.3) and since elements of $\Gamma_0(q)$ have positive determinant, obviously we get

(4.298)
$$H(q) = \Gamma_0(q) \cap M(q).$$

Inserting this and (4.297) into (4.296) yields the following group isomorphism,

(4.299)
$$\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)/M(q) \cong \Gamma_0(q)/H(q)$$

or

(4.300)
$$\overline{K}(q) \cong K(q).$$

Since K(q) and $\overline{K}(q)$ are subgroups of Q(q) and G(q), respectively, it follows from Lemma 4.2 that this isomorphism is given explicitly by

(4.301)
$$i: K(q) \to \overline{K}(q)$$
$$i(gH(q)) = gM(q), \quad g \in \Gamma_0(q).$$

Recall that the action of K(q) on X(q) is given by

(4.302)
$$\begin{array}{c} K(q) \times X(q) \to X(q) \\ (gH(q), x\Gamma_0(q)) \mapsto gH(q)(x\Gamma_0(q)) = gx\Gamma_0(q) \end{array}$$

and the action of $\overline{K}(q)$ on $\overline{X}(q)$ is given by

(4.303)
$$\overline{K}(q) \times \overline{X}(q) \to \overline{X}(q) (gM(q), x\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)) \mapsto gM(q)(x\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)) = gx\overline{\Gamma}_0(q).$$

Let $b : X(q) \to \overline{X}(q)$ be the bijection given in (4.284). Then for $gH(q) \in K(q)$ and $x\Gamma_0(q) \in X(q)$ evidently we have

(4.304)
$$b(gH(q)(x\Gamma_0(q))) = b(gx\Gamma_0(q)) = gx\overline{\Gamma}_0(q) = gM(q)x\overline{\Gamma}_0(q) = i(gH(q))(x\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)) = i(gH(q))b(x\Gamma_0(q)) \in \overline{X}(q).$$

That means the bijection b intertwines the action of K(q) and the one of $\overline{K}(q)$ on X(q) respectively $\overline{X}(q)$.

Hence, if $[y_{k_i}]$ is an orbit in $Y_i \subset Y(q)$ through the point $y_{k_i} \in Y_i$ then the orbit $[\overline{y}_{k_i}]$ in $\overline{Y}_i \subset \overline{Y}(q)$ through the point \overline{y}_{k_i} is given by

(4.305)
$$[\overline{y}_{k_i}] = \{b(y) \mid y \in [y_{k_i}]\}.$$

Therefore, obviously we get the first part of (4.294).

Next, assume that -1 is not a square modulo q. Then according to (4.6) we have M(q) = H(q). We note that obviously $K(q) = \Gamma_0(q)/H(q)$ is a normal subgroup of $\overline{K}(q) = \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)/H(q)$. Moreover, the cyclic group \mathcal{C}_2 of order two, generated by the element MH(q), is a subgroup of $\overline{K}(q)$ such that $K(q) \cap \mathcal{C}_2 = \{H(q)\}$. On the other hand, from (4.14) it follows that $[\overline{K}(q) : K(q)] = 2$ and hence $\overline{K}(q) = K(q)\mathcal{C}_2$. Therefore, we have

(4.306)
$$\overline{K}(q) = K(q) \rtimes \mathcal{C}_2$$

From this and the bijection (4.284) it follows that $Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}) \leq Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})$ and that $Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i}) \cap K(q) = Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})$. Then from the first isomorphism theorem it follows that

$$Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})K/K \cong Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})/(Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i}) \cap K)$$

or

$$(4.307) Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})K/K \cong Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})/Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}).$$

If $MH(q) \notin Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})$ then $Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})K = K$ and if $MH(q) \in Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})$ then $Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})K = \overline{K}$. Therefore according to (4.307), either $Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})$ coincides with $Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})$ or $[Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})] : Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i})] = 2$. Hence, the stabilizer $Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})$ of a point $\overline{y}_{k_i} \in \overline{Y}_i$ coincides with either $Stab_{K(q)}(y_{k_i})$ or $Stab_{K(q)}(y_{k_i}) \rtimes C_2$. For p > 2 and $0 \le i \le e - 2$ respectively for p = 2 and $1 \le i \le e - 3$ one can easily check that $MH(p^e)$ does not belong to $Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i})$ and hence

$$(4.308) Stab_{\overline{K}(p^e)}(\overline{y}_{k_i}) = Stab_{K(p^e)}(y_{k_i}), \quad \overline{y}_{k_i} = b(y_{k_i}).$$

This and the orbit stabilizer theorem together with (4.306) yields the second part of (4.294). Recall that for p = 2, Y_0 and Y_{e-2} contain only

one orbit under the action of $K(p^e)$ (see proof of Lemma 4.22). Hence, evidently, \overline{Y}_0 and \overline{Y}_{e-2} also contain only one orbit under the action of $\overline{K}(p^e)$ which yields the second assertion.

Thus we get

LEMMA 4.25. For p > 2 and $e \ge 1$ the number of orbits in $\overline{X}(p^e)$ under the action of $\overline{K}(p^e)$, is given by

(4.309)
$$|\overline{X}(p^e)/\overline{K}(p^e)| = \begin{cases} 2e & -1 \text{ is a square modulo } p^e \\ e+1 & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, the number of orbits in $\overline{X}(2^e)$ under the action of $\overline{K}(2^e)$, is given by

(4.310)
$$|\overline{X}(2^e)/\overline{K}(2^e)| = \begin{cases} 2 & p = 2, e = 1\\ e+1 & p = 2, 2 \le e \le 4\\ 7 & p = 2, e = 5\\ 2(e-2) & p = 2, e \ge 6. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. For e = 1 the assertion has been already proven in (4.290). Let p > 2 respectively $e \ge 2$ and -1 be a square modulo p^e . Then according to Lemma 4.24 obviously we have $\overline{n}_i = n_i$ and hence according to (4.293) and (4.274) we get

(4.311)
$$|\overline{X}(p^e)/\overline{K}(p^e)| = |X(p^e)/K(p^e)|.$$

Hence, Lemma 4.22 yields the first part of (4.309). Next, for an odd prime let -1 be not a square modulo p^e . Moreover let n_i and \overline{n}_i be the number of orbits in Y_i respectively \overline{Y}_i . Then according to Lemma 4.24 for $1 \le i \le e-3$, $e \ge 4$ we have $\overline{n}_i = n_i/2 = 1$ and for $e \ge 2$ we have $\overline{n}_0 = n_0 = 1$, $\overline{n}_{e-2} = n_{e-2} = 1$ and hence

(4.312)
$$|\overline{X}(p^e)/\overline{K}(p^e)| = 2 + \sum_{i=0}^{e-2} \overline{n}_i = 2 + e - 1 = e + 1$$

which yields the second part of (4.309). Finally, we consider powers of 2. We note that -1 is not a square modulo 2^e for $e \ge 2$ [25]. From Lemma 4.24 and the known values of n_i as given in the proof of Lemma 4.22 we have

(4.313)
$$\begin{cases} \overline{n}_0 = n_0 = 1 & e \ge 2 \\ \overline{n}_{e-2} = n_{e-2} = 1 & e \ge 3 \\ \overline{n}_{e-3} = \frac{n_{e-3}}{2} = 1 & e \ge 4 \\ \overline{n}_{e-4} = \frac{n_{e-4}}{2} = 2 & e \ge 5 \\ \overline{n}_1 = \frac{n_1}{2} = 1 & e \ge 6 \\ \overline{n}_2 = \frac{n_2}{2} = 2 & e \ge 7 \\ \overline{n}_i = \frac{n_i}{2} = 2 & e \ge 8, 3 \le i \le e-5 \end{cases}$$

This and formula (4.293) complete the proof.

Since the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{G(p^e)}$ and their multiplicities coincide with that of $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p^e)}$, we get as a consequence of this lemma and Lemma 4.14

LEMMA 4.26. Let $q = p^e$ be a prime power with $e \in \mathbb{N}$ and moreover, let

(4.314)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{\overline{N}} m_i \overline{V}_i$$

be the decomposition of the representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ into irreducible representations, where m_i is the multiplicity of \overline{V}_i in $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ and \overline{N} the number of non-isomorphic irreducible representations appearing in $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p^e)}$. Then we have for p > 2

(4.315)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{\overline{N}} m_i^2 = \begin{cases} 2e & -1 \text{ is a square modulo } p^e \\ e+1 & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Moreover, we have for p = 2

(4.316)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{\overline{N}} m_i^2 = \begin{cases} 2 & p=2, \ e=1\\ e+1 & p=2, \ 2 \le e \le 4\\ 7 & p=2, \ e=5\\ 2(e-2) & p=2, \ e\ge 6. \end{cases}$$

REMARK 4.2. In the next section we show that the representations $U_{\Gamma_0(p^e)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p^e)}$ are multiplicity-free. Hence, $N = \sum_{i=1}^N m_i^2$ and $\overline{N} = \sum_{i=1}^{\overline{N}} m_i^2$ yield the number of the non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(p^e)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(p^e)}$, respectively.

4.7. Multiplicity-free property of induced representations

In this section we prove that for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, n > 1, each irreducible component in the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ occurs with multiplicity one. First we recall some definitions and notations.

DEFINITION 4.3 (multiplicity-free representation). A representation of a finite group is called multiplicity-free if in its decomposition into irreducibles, each irreducible representation occurs only once (see for example [9], page 375).

DEFINITION 4.4. Let G be a finite group and K be a subgroup of G. Then (G, K) is called a Gelfand pair if the representation $ind_{K}^{G}(1)$ of G induced from the one dimensional trivial representation of K is multiplicity-free (see [9], page 376).

We recall a criterion for being a Gelfand pair [10, 9]: let G be a finite group and $K \leq G$. If $g^{-1} \in KgK$ for all $g \in G$ that is, if $KgK = Kg^{-1}K$ for all $g \in G$, then (G, K) is a Gelfand pair.

LEMMA 4.27. For a prime power $q = p^e$ with $e \in \mathbb{N}$, $(G(q), \overline{K}(q))$ is a Gelfand pair.

PROOF. According to Lemma 4.13 the permutation representation $\pi_{G(p)}$ and hence the induced representation $ind_{\overline{K}(p)}^{G(p)}(1)$ is multiplicity-free which yields the desired assertion for e = 1. Now assume, that $e \geq 2$. We have to show that for every $gM(q) \in G(q)$,

(4.317)
$$g^{-1}M(q) \in \overline{K}(q)gM(q)\overline{K}(q).$$

That is, for all $gM(q) \in G(q)$, there exists kM(q), $k \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ and k'M(q), $k' \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ in $\overline{K}(q)$ such that

(4.318)
$$g^{-1}M(q) = kM(q)gM(q)k'M(q)$$

or

(4.319)
$$gkg \in k'^{-1}M(q) \subset \overline{\Gamma}_0(q).$$

Thus we need to prove the following statement:

(4.320)
$$\forall g \in \mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), \quad \exists k \in \Gamma_0(q) \colon gkg \in \Gamma_0(q).$$

On the other hand, each $g \in \text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ can be written as $g = r\gamma$ with $r \in R(\text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(q))$ and $\gamma \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ and hence $gkg \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ iff $r\gamma kr\gamma \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ iff $rk''r \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$ with $k'' = \gamma k \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q)$. Therefore, condition (4.320) is equivalent to

(4.321)
$$\forall r \in R(\operatorname{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)), \quad \exists k'' \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q) : rk''r \in \overline{\Gamma}_0(q).$$

We note that $R(\text{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\overline{\Gamma}_0(q))$ can be chosen to be the same as the set of representatives $R(\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma_0(q))$ whose elements are given by ([27], page 107)

id;
$$T^{-j}S$$
, $j = 0, \dots, p^e - 1$; $ST^{-jp}S$, $j = 1, 2, \dots, p^{e-1} - 1$.

For r = id the requirement is obviously fulfilled with k'' = id. For $r = T^{-j}S$, the condition (4.321) is fulfilled with $k'' = T^j$. For $r = ST^{-jp}S$ this condition is fulfilled with

$$(4.323) k'' = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

Thus the proof is complete.

As a direct consequence of this lemma we have:

COROLLARY 4.1. The permutation representation $\pi_{G(q)}$ and hence the induced representation $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(q)}$ are multiplicity-free.

To prove the multiplicity-free property of $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ we need a result on the restriction of representations to subgroups ([24], pages 217 and 219).

LEMMA 4.28. Let H be a normal subgroup of index 2 in a finite group G, and χ be an irreducible representation of G. Then either

- The restriction $\chi \downarrow H$ of χ to H is an irreducible representation of H or
- The restriction $\chi \downarrow H$ of χ to H is the direct sum of two non-isomorphic representations of H.

Moreover, if $\chi \downarrow H = \chi_1 \oplus \chi_2$, where χ_1 and χ_2 are non-isomorphic representations of H, and if ϕ is an irreducible representation of Gwhose restriction to H has χ_1 or χ_2 as a subrepresentation, then χ is isomorphic to ϕ .

LEMMA 4.29. For a prime power $q = p^e$ the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ is multiplicity-free.

PROOF. As shown in section 4.5, $U_{\Gamma_0(p)}$ is multiplicity-free. Let q be a prime power p^e with p > 2 and $e \ge 2$. Assume that $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ is multiplicity-free and has a decomposition into irreducible subrepresentations given by

(4.324)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(q)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^N m_i V_i,$$

where $m_i = 1$ and, according to Lemma 4.23, the number N of nonisomorphic irreducible subrepresentations is given by N = 2e. We are going to prove, that $U_{\Gamma_0(qp)}$ is then also multiplicity-free. To this end, note that $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ occurs at least once in the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(qp)}$ as we proved in section 4.4. Thus the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(qp)}$ can be written as

(4.325)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(qp)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{2e} m_i V_i \oplus \bigoplus_{i=2e+1}^{N'} m_i V_i$$

where N' denotes the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations in $U_{\Gamma_0(qp)}$. According to Lemma 4.23 we have

. . /

(4.326)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{2e} m_i^2 + \sum_{i=2e+1}^{N'} m_i^2 = 2e + 2.$$

But $\sum_{i=1}^{2e} m_i^2 = 2e$ and hence

(4.327)
$$\sum_{i=2e+1}^{N'} m_i^2 = 2.$$

Obviously, this condition fixes N' = 2e + 2 and $m_{2e+1} = m_{2e+2} = 1$ that means $U_{\Gamma_0(qp)}$ is multiplicity-free. Thus we proved that for an odd prime power q, $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ is multiplicity-free.

Next, we consider the case where q is a power of 2. Recall that for the decomposition

(4.328)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(q)} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^N m_i V_i$$

we have

(4.329)
$$|X(q)/K(q)| = \sum_{i=1}^{N} m_i^2.$$

Hence, observing that according to Lemma 4.22

$$(4.330) |X(2^{e+1})/K(2^{e+1})| - |X(2^e)/K(2e)| \le 2, 1 \le e \le 3,$$

with the same argument as in the case p > 2 it follows, that $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ for $q = 2^e$ and $1 \le e \le 4$ is multiplicity-free.

Finally, for $e \geq 5$ we show that $\pi_{Q(2^e)}$ and consequentely $U_{\Gamma_0(2^e)}$ is multiplicity-free. We conclude this from the multiplicity-free property of $\pi_{G(2^e)}$ which was proved in Corollary 4.1. To begin with, recall that the restriction of $\pi_{G(q)}$ to Q(q) coincides evidently with $\pi_{Q(q)}$ and that according to Lemma 4.2 Q(q) is a normal subgroup of G(q) of index two for $q = 2^e$ and $e \geq 2$. Hence, according to Lemma 4.28 the restriction of each irreducible subrepresentation of $\pi_{G(q)}$ to Q(q) is an irreducible subrepresentation of $\pi_{Q(q)}$ or it decomposes into two non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(q)}$.

As mentioned, $\pi_{G(2^3)}$ and $\pi_{Q(2^3)}$ are multiplicity-free and hence according to Lemmas 4.23 and 4.26 each of them contains four irreducible subrepresentations. Since $\pi_{G(2^3)}$ and $\pi_{Q(2^3)}$ have the same number of irreducible subrepresentations, the first item of Lemma 4.28 must hold and hence each of the four irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{G(2^3)}$ restricted to $Q(2^3)$ must be an irreducible subrepresentation of $\pi_{Q(2^3)}$. Thus, if the decomposition of $\pi_{G(2^3)}$ into irreducible representations is given by

(4.331)
$$\pi_{G(2^3)} = \overline{\pi}_1 \oplus \overline{\pi}_2 \oplus \overline{\pi}_3 \oplus \overline{\pi}_4$$

then the decomposition of $\pi_{Q(2^3)}$ into irreducible representations is given by

(4.332)
$$\pi_{Q(2^3)} = \pi_1 \oplus \pi_2 \oplus \pi_3 \oplus \pi_4$$

where $\overline{\pi}_i$ and π_i are irreducible representations of G(q) and Q(q), respectively such that

(4.333)
$$\overline{\pi}_i \downarrow Q(2^3) = \pi_i, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$

On the other hand, according to results in section 4.4, $\pi_{G(2^e)}$ with $e \geq 5$ contains the subrepresentation $\pi_{G(2^3),\overline{X}(2^e)} \cong \pi_{G(2^3)}$. Form this

4.7. MULTIPLICITY-FREE PROPERTY OF INDUCED REPRESENTATIONS 97

and since by Corollary 4.1 $\pi_{G(2^e)}$ is multiplicity-free, we can assume that the decomposition of $\pi_{G(2^e)}$ for $e \geq 5$ is given by

(4.334)
$$\pi_{G(2^e)} \cong \overline{\pi_1} \oplus \overline{\pi_2} \oplus \overline{\pi_3} \oplus \overline{\pi_4} \oplus \overline{\pi_5} \oplus \ldots \oplus \overline{\pi_N}$$

where $\overline{\pi}_i$, $1 \leq i \leq 4$ are given in (4.331) and \overline{N} denotes the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{G(2^e)}$ (or that of $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2^e)}$) which according to Lemma 4.26 is given by

(4.335)
$$\overline{N} = \begin{cases} 7, & e = 5, \\ 2(e-2), & e \ge 6. \end{cases}$$

Then for the representation $\pi_{Q(2^e)}$ for $e \geq 5$ we have

(4.336)
$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{Q(2^e)} &= \pi_{G(2^e)} \downarrow Q(q) \cong \\ \overline{\pi_1} \downarrow Q(q) \oplus \overline{\pi_2} \downarrow Q(q) \oplus \overline{\pi_3} \downarrow Q(q) \oplus \overline{\pi_4} \downarrow Q(q) \oplus \\ \oplus \overline{\pi_5} \downarrow Q(q) \oplus \ldots \oplus \overline{\pi_N} \downarrow Q(q) \end{aligned}$$

or, according to 4.333

(4.337)
$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{Q(2^e)} &= \pi_{G(2^e)} \downarrow Q(q) \cong \pi_1 \oplus \pi_2 \oplus \pi_3 \oplus \pi_4 \oplus \\ \oplus \overline{\pi_5} \downarrow Q(q) \oplus \ldots \oplus \overline{\pi_N} \downarrow Q(q) \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand, according to Lemma 4.28, for $4 \le \alpha \le \overline{N}$ we can assume that

(4.338)
$$\overline{\pi}_i \downarrow Q(q) = \pi_i, \quad 1 \le i \le \alpha$$

and

(4.339)
$$\overline{\pi}_i \downarrow Q(q) = \pi_i \oplus \pi'_i, \quad \alpha < i \le \overline{N}$$

where π_i and π'_i are non-isomorphic irreducible representations of $Q(2^e)$. Since all subrepresentations $\overline{\pi}_i$ of $\pi_{G(2^e)}$ are non-isomorphic, from the last part of Lemma 4.28 it follows that the irreducible representations π_i and π'_i of $Q(2^e)$ for $\alpha \leq i \leq \overline{N}$ are non-isomorphic. But for $5 \leq i \leq \alpha$ it can happen that some of π_i 's are isomorphic. Hence, from (4.337) for the number N of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(2^e)}$ it follows that

$$(4.340) N \le \alpha + 2(\overline{N} - \alpha).$$

Comparing this with the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $\pi_{Q(2^e)}$ in Lemma 4.23 and (4.335) it follows that (4.340) holds if and only if $\alpha = 4$ and this yields equality in (4.340). That is, the decomposition of $\pi_{Q(2^e)}$ for $e \geq 5$ can be written as

(4.341)
$$\begin{aligned} \pi_{Q(2^e)} &\cong \pi_1 \oplus \pi_2 \oplus \pi_3 \oplus \pi_4 \oplus \\ \oplus \pi_5 \oplus \pi'_5 \oplus \ldots \oplus \pi_{\overline{N}} \oplus \pi'_{\overline{N}} \end{aligned}$$

Since all representations in the right hand side of this equation are nonisomorphic irreducible representations of $Q(2^e)$, $\pi_{Q(2^e)}$ is multiplicityfree. Now we can prove the following:

LEMMA 4.30. The representations $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(n)}$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$ are multiplicity-free.

PROOF. First we note that if (G_1, H_1) and (G_2, H_2) are Gelfand pairs then $(G_1 \times G_2, H_1 \times H_2)$ is a Gelfand pair, where \times denotes the direct product of groups ([**20**], page 279, Lemma 2.4). We proved that $U_{\Gamma_0(q)}$ for $q = p^e$ and hence $\pi_{Q(q)} = ind_{K(q)}^{Q(q)}(1)$ is multiplicity-free. Thus (Q(q), K(q)) is a Gelfand pair. But as shown in section 4.1, for coprimes q and q' the group Q(qq') is the direct product of the groups Q(q) and Q(q') and K(qq') is the direct product of the groups K(q)and K(q'). Therefore for any $n = \prod_i p_i^{e_i} (Q(n), K(n))$ is a Gelfand pair. Thus $\pi_{Q(n)} = ind_{K(n)}^{Q(n)}(1)$ and hence $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ is multiplicity-free. Since the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ is obtained by the restriction of $U_{\overline{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ to PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), it follows that $U_{\overline{\Gamma_0(n)}}$ must be multiplicity-free too. \Box

CHAPTER 5

Atkin-Lehner type theory of old and new eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator

In this chapter we consider the decomposition of Mayer's transfer operator and the space of its eigenfunctions. We use the Mathematica software for the calculations including matrix multiplication of vectors of high dimensions.

5.1. Decomposition of Mayer's transfer operator and Atkin-Lehner theory

First, we recall from [23] the notion of old and new Maass cusp forms for the Hecke congruence subgroups with trivial character. This is analogous to Atkin-Lehner's notion of old and new for the classical holomorphic automorphic functions [3].

For simplicity reasons, whenever χ is the trivial character, we put $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma;\chi) = \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma)$ and $\mathcal{S}(\Gamma;\chi) = \mathcal{S}(\Gamma)$. Consider the matrix

(5.1)
$$\omega_d := \begin{pmatrix} d & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

By simple calculation, one can show that for $m \mid n$ and for any $dm \mid n$,

(5.2)
$$\omega_d \Gamma_0(n) \omega_d^{-1} \subseteq \Gamma_0(m).$$

Hence, if $v \in \mathcal{S}(\Gamma_0(m))$ we have for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_0(n)$

(5.3)
$$v(d\gamma z) = v(\omega_d \gamma z) = v(\omega_d \gamma \omega_d^{-1} \omega_d z)$$

But v is $\Gamma_0(m)$ invariant and according to (5.2) $\omega_d \gamma \omega_d^{-1} \in \Gamma_0(m)$, hence, for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_0(n)$ we have

(5.4)
$$v(d\gamma z) = v(dz),$$

that is, $v(dz) \in \mathcal{S}(\Gamma_0(n))$.

DEFINITION 5.1. For $m \mid n$ let $v(z) \in \mathcal{S}(\Gamma_0(m))$. Then for any dwith $dm \mid n, u(z) := v(dz) \in \mathcal{S}(\Gamma_0(n))$ is called an old Maass cusp form of $\Gamma_0(n)$ coming from $\Gamma_0(m)$. We denote by $\mathcal{S}^{old}(\Gamma_0(n))$ the space of all old Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(n)$. The space of old Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(n)$ with spectral parameter s is defined to be

(5.5)
$$\mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n)) := \mathcal{S}^{old}(\Gamma_0(n)) \cap \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(n)).$$

DEFINITION 5.2. The space of new Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(n)$ is defined to be the orthogonal complement of $\mathcal{S}^{old}(\Gamma_0(n))$ in $\mathcal{S}(\Gamma_0(n))$. The space of new Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(n)$ with spectral parameter s is defined to be

(5.6)
$$\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(n)) := \mathcal{S}^{new}(\Gamma_0(n)) \cap \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(n)).$$

Thus, by definition we have

(5.7)
$$\mathcal{S}(\Gamma_0(n)) = \mathcal{S}^{old}(\Gamma_0(n)) \oplus \mathcal{S}^{new}(\Gamma_0(n))$$

and

(5.8)
$$\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(n)) = \mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n)) \oplus \mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(n)).$$

As we mentioned in section 3.2, the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ is isomorphic to the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ and this isomorphism is described by the map *B* given in (3.26). Hence, we can distinguish the new and old subspaces of $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ as follows

(5.9)
$$\mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) = B\mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \Gamma_0(n)),$$
$$\mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) = B\mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$$

Indeed, for $u \in S^{old}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ and $v \in S^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ with notations as in Lemma 3.2, we have

$$(5.10) \int_{F} \langle Bu(z), Bv(z) \rangle_{V} d\mu(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{\mu_{\Gamma_{0}(n)}} \int_{F} \langle u(r_{i}z), v(r_{i}z) \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) = \sum_{i=1}^{\mu_{\Gamma_{0}(n)}} \int_{r_{i}F} \langle u(z), v(z) \rangle_{W} d\mu(r_{i}^{-1}z) = \int_{\bigcup_{i=1}^{\mu_{\Gamma_{0}(n)}} r_{i}F} \langle u(z), v(z) \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) = \int_{F_{\Gamma_{0}(n)}} \langle u(z), v(z) \rangle_{W} d\mu(z) = 0$$

where in the third equality we used invariance of the measure $d\mu(z)$ under the $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ action, in the fourth equality we used the fact that $F_{\Gamma_0(n)} = \bigcup_{i=1}^{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}} r_i F$ with F the fundamental domain of $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$, and the last equality follows from the orthogonality of the old Maass cusp form u and the new Maass cusp form v. Therefore the space of new Maass cusp forms $\mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ is the orthogonal complement of $\mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ in $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ and we have

(5.11)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) &= \\ \mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) \oplus \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}). \end{aligned}$$

Besides this decomposition of $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ into the subspaces of old and new forms, we can also decompose this space using a

decomposition of the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$. Evidently, for a representation χ of Γ with $\chi = \chi_1 \oplus \chi_2$ we have

(5.12)
$$\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma,\chi) = \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma,\chi_1) \oplus \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma,\chi_2).$$

Thus a decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ provides us with a decomposition of $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ and hence of $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma_0(n))$. As we see in the next section for some examples, in general this decomposition does not coincide with the Atkin-Lehner decomposition into old and new Maass cusp forms. In particular this decomposition of $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ via a decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ does not allow in general to characterize the space of new forms. But we can distinguish this way part of $\mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$. For instance, as mentioned in Section 4.4, the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(d)}$ with $d \mid n$ occurs in a decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ and hence

(5.13)
$$\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(d)}) \subset \mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$$

or equivalently $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(d)) \subset \mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n))$ as expected from Atkin-Lehner's theory.

Recall from Theorem 3.10 that $F(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ denotes the space of eigenfunctions of the transfer operator $\mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+}$ in $\bigoplus_{i=1}^{\mu_{\Gamma_0(n)}\dim\chi}B(D)$ with eigenvalue $\lambda = \pm 1$. For χ the trivial character we put $F(s; \Gamma; \chi) =$ $F(s; \Gamma)$ and $\mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma,\chi,+} = \mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma,+}$. According to Theorem 3.10 the space $F(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ and the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)})$ are in bijection via the transformation $\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I}$. Hence we can distinguish the old and new subspace of $F(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ as follows

(5.14)
$$F^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(n)) := \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{IS}^{new}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) = \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(n))$$

and

(5.15)
$$F^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n)) := \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{IS}^{old}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}), U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) = \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B\mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n)).$$

Now let \mathcal{M} be a matrix which decomposes the representation $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ into its irreducible components, that is,

(5.16)
$$\mathcal{M}U_{\Gamma_0(n)}\mathcal{M}^{-1} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^N \theta_i,$$

and decomposes the symmetry P as

(5.17)
$$\mathcal{M}P\mathcal{M}^{-1} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} P_i,$$

where N is the number of non-isomorphic irreducible subrepresentations of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$, θ_i denotes an irreducible subrepresentation of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$, and dim $P_i = \dim \theta_i$. That such a decomposition is possible will be shown later. Then the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(n),+}$ is decomposed via conjugation by \mathcal{M} as follows:

(5.18)
$$\mathcal{M}P\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma_{0}(n),+}\mathcal{M}^{-1} = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{N} P_{i}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),\theta_{i},+}.$$

Obviously, the spectra of $\mathcal{MPL}_s^{\Gamma_0(n),+}\mathcal{M}^{-1}$ and $\mathcal{PL}_s^{\Gamma_0(n),+}$ are the same and we have

(5.19)
$$\det(1 \pm P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(n),+}) = \prod_{i=1}^N \det(1 \pm P_i \mathcal{L}_s^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),\theta_i,+}).$$

This and (3.23) lead to a factorization of Selberg's zeta function of the form

(5.20)
$$Z(s;\Gamma_0(n)) = \prod_{i=1}^N Z(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \theta_i).$$

Moreover, the space $F(s; \Gamma_0(n))$ is decomposed as

(5.21)
$$F(s;\Gamma_0(n)) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^N F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \theta_i).$$

In the same way we have

102

(5.22)
$$\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_{\Gamma_0(n)}) = \bigoplus_{i=1}^N \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); \theta_i).$$

As we illustrate in the next section by an example, the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ into irreducibles leads in general to a subspace containing part of $F^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n))$ and a mixed subspace of $F(s;\Gamma_0(n))$ which contains both $F^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(n))$ and another part of $F^{old}(s;\Gamma_0(n))$. Hence, if (5.16) is a decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(n)}$ into irreducibles then (5.21) can be considered as an Atkin-Lehner type decomposition of the space $F(s;\Gamma_0(n))$ of eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator.

5.2. Decomposition of Mayer's transfer operator for $\Gamma_0(6)$

In this section we discuss in detail the decomposition of the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(6),+}$ for $\Gamma_0(6)$ with trivial character and the space of its eigenfunctions $F(s;\Gamma_0(6))$. We fix the set of representatives for this group as follows

(5.23)
$$R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus PGL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = \{id, S, ST, ST^2, STS, ST^3, ST^2S, ST^4, ST^3S, ST^2ST, ST^3ST, ST^2ST^2\}.$$

Then the induced representations $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}(6)}$ for the generators of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $PGL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, respectively, are given by (5.24)

As mentioned in Lemma 4.7,

(5.27)
$$U_{\Gamma_0(6)} = U_{\Gamma_0(2)} \otimes U_{\Gamma_0(3)}, \quad U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)} = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)} \otimes U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(3)}.$$

From this together with the decompositions of $U_{\Gamma_0(2)}$ and $U_{\Gamma_0(3)}$ into irreducible representations given in Lemma 4.12 and the decompositions of $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(2)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(3)}$ into irreducible representations given in Lemma 4.13, we obtain the decompositions of $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}(6)}$ into irreducible representations, namely

(5.28)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(6)}U_{\Gamma_0(6)}M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1} = U_t \oplus U_2 \oplus U_3 \oplus (U_2 \otimes U_3)$$

and

(5.29)
$$M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}^{-1} = \overline{U}_t \oplus \overline{U}_2 \oplus \overline{U}_3 \oplus (\overline{U}_2 \otimes \overline{U}_3)$$

where the representations in the right hand sides are given in the Examples 4.1 and 4.2. Having the right hand sides of these decompositions we can calculate the matrices $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ and $M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}$ as follows

	$M_{\Gamma_0(6)}$	$) = M_{\overline{\Gamma}_0}$	(6) =									
	/ 1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	ω	ω^2	ω	ω^2	ω^2	1	ω	ω^2	1	ω	1
	1	ω^2	ω	ω^2	ω	ω	1	ω^2	ω	1	ω^2	1
	1	1	1	-3	-3	1	1	1	1	-3	1	1
	1	1	-3	1	1	1	-3	-3	1	1	1	1
(5.30)	1	-3	1	1	1	-3	1	1	1	1	1	-3
	1	ω	ω^2	-3ω	$-3\omega^2$	ω^2	1	ω	ω^2	-3	ω	1
	1	ω^2	ω	$-3\omega^2$	-3ω	ω	1	ω^2	ω	-3	ω^2	1
	1	ω	$-3\omega^2$	ω	ω^2	ω^2	-3	-3ω	ω^2	1	ω	1
	1	ω^2	-3ω	ω^2	ω	ω	-3	$-3\omega^2$	ω	1	ω^2	1
	1	-3ω	ω^2	ω	ω^2	$-3\omega^2$	1	ω	ω^2	1	ω	-3
	$\backslash 1$	$-3\omega^2$	ω	ω^2	ω	-3ω	1	ω^2	ω	1	ω^2	$^{-3}$ /

where $\omega = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{3})$. This way we get the following decomposition of the space of Maass cusp forms

(5.31)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_{\Gamma_0(6)}) &\cong \\ \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})) \oplus \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2) \oplus \\ \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_3) \oplus \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3). \end{aligned}$$

As mentioned in Section 3.2, $S(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_{\Gamma_0(6)})$ is isomorphic to $S(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ via the isomorphism B given in (3.26). The map B^{-1} induces isomorphisms between the subspaces in the right hand side of (5.31) and certain subspaces of $S(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ which we are going to determine next. For this we define first the following spaces (5.32)

$$\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s;\Gamma_0(6)) := \left\{ v(z) \in \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(2)) \mid \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} v(rz) = 0 \right\},$$
(5.33)

$$\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s;\Gamma_0(6)) := \left\{ v(z) \in \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(3)) \mid \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(3) \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} v(rz) = 0 \right\}$$

and
(5.34)

$$S_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s;\Gamma_0(6)) :=$$

 $\left\{ v(z) \in S(s;\Gamma_0(6)) \mid \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} v(rz) = \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(3))} v(rz) = 0 \right\}.$

Let $u \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}))$. Then obviously we have

(5.35)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} u(rz) = 3u(z) \neq 0$$

and hence $u \notin S_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$. Thus $S_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ is the space of old Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(6)$ which are $\Gamma_0(2)$ Maass cusp forms and not PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) Maass cusp forms. In particular, $S_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ contains the old form

(5.36)
$$v(z) = u(2z) - \frac{1}{3} \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} u(2rz).$$

and the new forms of $\Gamma_0(2)$. In fact, by definition for $v \in \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma_0(2))$ and $u \in \mathcal{S}(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ we have

(5.37)
$$\int_{F_{\Gamma_0(2)}} \langle v(z), u(z) \rangle \, d\mu(z) = 0$$

where $F_{\Gamma_0(2)}$ denotes the fundamental domain of $\Gamma_0(2)$ and $\langle a, b \rangle = a\bar{b}$ with \bar{b} the complex conjugate of b. On the other hand, we have

(5.38)
$$F_{\Gamma_0(2)} = \sqcup_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} r F$$

where F denotes the fundamental domain of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$. Inserting this into (5.37), using the $PSL(2, \mathbb{R})$ -invariance of the measure and observing that $u \in \mathcal{S}(s; PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ we get

(5.39)
$$\int_{F} \left\langle \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_{0}(2) \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} v(rz), u(z) \right\rangle d\mu(z) = 0$$

and hence

(5.40)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} v(rz) = 0,$$

because otherwise for u(z) coinciding with the first argument in the Hermitian form we get a contradiction. That means all new forms of $\Gamma_0(2)$ fulfil the desired condition to be an element of $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$. Similarly, $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$ is the space old Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(6)$ which are $\Gamma_0(3)$ Maass cusp forms and not PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) Maass cusp forms. In particular, $S_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ contains the new forms of $\Gamma_0(3)$ and the old form

(5.41)
$$v(z) = u(3z) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(3) \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} u(3rz)$$

where $u \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$. Moreover, $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ is the space of Maass cusp forms of $\Gamma_0(6)$ which are neither $\Gamma_0(3)$ nor $\Gamma_0(2)$ Maass cusp forms.

LEMMA 5.1. The following isomorphisms of spaces hold:

(5.42)
$$\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s;\Gamma_0(6)) \cong \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2),$$

(5.43)
$$\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s;\Gamma_0(6)) \cong \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_3),$$

and

(5.44)
$$\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s;\Gamma_0(6)) \cong \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3).$$

PROOF. We denote by r_i , the *i*-th element of $R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ given in (5.23). We fix

(5.45)
$$R(\Gamma_0(2) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = \{r_1, r_2, r_3\}.$$

Recall that the isomorphism

(5.46)
$$B: \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma_0(6)) \to \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_{\Gamma_0(6)})$$

is given by

(5.47)
$$B\mathfrak{f}(z) = (\mathfrak{f}(r_1 z), \mathfrak{f}(r_2 z), \dots, \mathfrak{f}(r_1 z))^t$$

Consider then the restriction of B to $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$. For an element v in $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$, Bv has the components

(5.48)
$$(Bv)_i = v(r_i z), \quad 1 \le i \le 12.$$

It is easy to verify that

(5.49)
$$r_1 \equiv r_7 \equiv r_{10} \equiv r_{12} \mod \Gamma_0(2)$$
$$r_2 \equiv r_4 \equiv r_8 \equiv r_{11} \mod \Gamma_0(2)$$
$$r_3 \equiv r_6 \equiv r_5 \equiv r_9 \mod \Gamma_0(2)$$

where $r_i \equiv r_j \mod \Gamma_0(2)$ means that $\Gamma_0(2)r_i = \Gamma_0(2)r_j$. Hence, observing that v(z) is $\Gamma_0(2)$ -invariant we get

$$(Bv)_1 = (Bv)_7 = (Bv)_{10} = (Bv)_{12}$$

(5.50)
$$(Bv)_2 = (Bv)_4 = (Bv)_8 = (Bv)_{11}$$

 $(Bv)_3 = (Bv)_6 = (Bv)_5 = (Bv)_9.$

From these identities it follows that for $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ given in (5.30) one finds (5.51) $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv = (0, (M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_2, (M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_3, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)^t$ with

(5.52)
$$(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_2(z) = 4[v(z) + \omega^2 v(r_2 z) - \omega v(r_3 z)]$$

106

respectively

(5.53)
$$(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_3(z) = 4[v(z) - \omega v(r_2 z) + \omega^2 v(r_3 z)].$$

Thus, $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2).$

On the other hand, let

$$(5.54) \qquad (w_1, w_2)^t \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}), U_2).$$

Then from the transformation property of the elements of this space under the representation U_2 of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we get (see (4.134))

(5.55)
$$(w_1(Tz), w_2(Tz))^t = (w_2(z), w_1(z))^t, (w_1(Sz), w_2(Sz))^t = (\omega w_2(z), \omega^2 w_1(z))^t.$$

For

(5.56)
$$w = (0, w_1, w_2, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)^t$$

we can calculate $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1} w$ and get

(5.57)
$$v := (M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1} w)_1 = \frac{1}{12} (w_1 + w_2).$$

Now we are going to prove that $v \in S_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$. From the identities in (5.55) it follows that $v = \frac{1}{12}(w_1+w_2)$ is invariant under the generators of $\Gamma_0(2)$, namely T and ST^2S (see for example [42]) and that $v(r_1z) + v(r_2z) + v(r_3z) = 0$. This completes the proof of the first assertion.

For the second assertion the proof follows the same line of arguments. We fix

(5.58)
$$R(\Gamma_0(3) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = R(\overline{\Gamma}_0(3) \setminus PGL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = \{r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4\}$$

and consider the restriction of R to $S = r_1(r_1, r_2, r_3, r_4)$

and consider the restriction of B to $S_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$

(5.59)
$$(Bv)_i = v(r_i z), \quad 1 \le i \le 12, \quad v \in \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s; \Gamma_0(6)).$$

For the representatives of $\Gamma_0(6) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we have

(5.60)
$$r_{1} \equiv r_{9} \equiv r_{11} \mod \Gamma_{0}(3)$$
$$r_{2} \equiv r_{6} \equiv r_{12} \mod \Gamma_{0}(3)$$
$$r_{3} \equiv r_{7} \equiv r_{8} \mod \Gamma_{0}(3)$$
$$r_{4} \equiv r_{5} \equiv r_{10} \mod \Gamma_{0}(3),$$

By using this and the fact that v is $\Gamma_0(3)$ -invariant we get

(5.61)
$$\begin{array}{l} M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv = \\ (0,0,0,(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_4,(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_5,(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_6,0,0,0,0,0,0)^t \end{array}$$

with

(5.62)
$$(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_4(z) = 3[v(z) + v(r_2z) + v(r_3z) - 3v(r_4z)],$$

(5.63)
$$(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_5(z) = 3[v(z) + v(r_2z) - 3v(r_3z) + v(r_4z)],$$

and

108

(5.64)
$$(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv)_6(z) = 3[v(z) - 3v(r_2z) + v(r_3z) + v(r_4z)].$$

Hence, $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_3).$

On the other hand, let

(5.65)
$$(w_1, w_2, w_3)^t \in \mathcal{S}(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_3).$$

Then from the transformation property of $(w_1, w_2, w_3)^t$ under the representation U_3 of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we get from (4.141)

(5.66)
$$(w_1(Tz), w_2(Tz), w_3(Tz))^t = (w_3(z), w_1(z), w_2(z))^t$$

and (5.67)

$$(w_1(Sz), w_2(Sz), w_3(Sz))^t = (w_2(z), w_1(z), -w_1(z) - w_2(z) - w_3(z))^t.$$

Now for

(5.68)
$$w = (0, 0, 0, w_1, w_2, w_3, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)^t$$

we get by a simple calculation

(5.69)
$$v := (M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1}w)_1 = \frac{1}{12}(w_1 + w_2 + w_3).$$

But from the identities (5.66) and (5.67), it follows that v is invariant under the generators of $\Gamma_0(3)$, namely T and ST^3S (see for example [42]) and also $v(r_1z) + v(r_2z) + v(r_3z) + v(r_4z) = 0$. Thus $v \in S_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ and this completes the proof of the second assertion.

To prove the third assertion we fix

(5.70)
$$R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(2)) = \{r_1, r_7, r_{10}, r_{12}\}$$

and

(5.71)
$$R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(3)) = \{r_1, r_9, r_{11}\}.$$

Then for $v \in \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ we have by definition

(5.72)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} v(rz) = v(r_1z) + v(r_7z) + v(r_{10}z) + v(r_{12}z) = 0$$

and

(5.73)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(3))} v(rz) = v(r_1 z) + v(r_9 z) + v(r_{11} z) = 0.$$

Hence we get

$$v(r_1Sz) + v(r_7Sz) + v(r_{10}Sz) + v(r_{12}Sz) = 0,$$

$$v(r_1STz) + v(r_7STz) + v(r_{10}STz) + v(r_{12}STz) = 0,$$

(5.74)
$$v(r_1Sz) + v(r_9Sz) + v(r_{11}Sz) = 0,$$
$$v(r_1STz) + v(r_9STz) + v(r_{11}STz) = 0,$$
$$v(r_1ST^2z) + v(r_9ST^2z) + v(r_{11}ST^2z) = 0.$$

But for the representatives $r_i \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ we have

$$(5.75)$$

$$r_{1}S \equiv r_{2} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{7}S \equiv r_{4} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{10}S \equiv r_{8} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{12}S \equiv r_{11} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{1}ST \equiv r_{3} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{7}ST \equiv r_{6} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{10}ST \equiv r_{5} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{12}ST \equiv r_{9} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

respectively

$$r_{1}S \equiv r_{2} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{9}S \equiv r_{6} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{11}S \equiv r_{12} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{1}ST \equiv r_{3} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{9}ST \equiv r_{7} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{11}ST \equiv r_{8} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{1}ST^{2} \equiv r_{4} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{9}ST^{2} \equiv r_{5} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

$$r_{11}ST^{2} \equiv r_{10} \mod \Gamma_{0}(6),$$

Therefore, (5.72), (5.73), and (5.74) can be written in terms of $(Bv)_i = v(r_i z)$ as

$$(Bv)_{1} + (Bv)_{7} + (Bv)_{10} + (Bv)_{12} = 0,$$

$$(Bv)_{2} + (Bv)_{4} + (Bv)_{8} + (Bv)_{11} = 0,$$

$$(Bv)_{3} + (Bv)_{6} + (Bv)_{5} + (Bv)_{9} = 0,$$

$$(Bv)_{1} + (Bv)_{9} + (Bv)_{11} = 0,$$

$$(Bv)_{2} + (Bv)_{6} + (Bv)_{12} = 0,$$

$$(Bv)_{3} + (Bv)_{7} + (Bv)_{8} = 0,$$

$$(Bv)_{4} + (Bv)_{5} + (Bv)_{10} = 0.$$

By using these identities, we get for $v \in \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s; \Gamma_0(6))$

(5.78)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(6)}Bv = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4, w_5, w_6)^t,$$

where the components w_i can again be written explicitly in terms of the components of Bv. Conversely, let

(5.79)
$$(w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4, w_5, w_6)^t \in \mathcal{S}(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3).$$

Then we have

(5.80)
$$(w_1(Tz), w_2(Tz), w_3(Tz), w_4(Tz), w_5(Tz), w_6(Tz))^t = (U_2 \otimes U_3)(T)(w_1(z), w_2(z), w_3(z), w_4(z), w_5(z), w_6(z))^t$$

and

(5.81)
$$(w_1(Sz), w_2(Sz), w_3(Sz), w_4(Sz), w_5(Sz), w_6(Sz))^t = (U_2 \otimes U_3)(S)(w_1(z), w_2(z), w_3(z), w_4(z), w_5(z), w_6(z))^t$$

where

(5.82)
$$(U_2 \otimes U_3)(T) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$(5.83) \qquad (U_2 \otimes U_3)(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & \omega & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \omega^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \omega & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \omega^2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\omega & 0 & -\omega & 0 & -\omega \\ -\omega^2 & 0 & -\omega^2 & 0 & -\omega^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Inserting (5.82) respectively (5.83) into (5.80) respectively (5.81) gives

(5.84)
$$w_{1}(Tz) = w_{6}(z) \\ w_{2}(Tz) = w_{5}(z) \\ w_{3}(Tz) = w_{2}(z) \\ w_{4}(Tz) = w_{1}(z) \\ w_{5}(Tz) = w_{4}(z) \\ w_{6}(Tz) = w_{3}(z)$$

and

(5.85)

$$\begin{array}{c}
w_1(Sz) = \omega w_4(z) \\
w_2(Sz) = \omega^2 w_3(z) \\
w_3(Sz) = \omega w_2(z) \\
w_4(Sz) = \omega^2 w_1(z) \\
w_5(Sz) = -\omega w_2(z) - \omega w_4(z) - \omega w_6(z) \\
w_6(Sz) = -\omega^2 w_1(z) - \omega^2 w_3(z) - \omega^2 w_5(z).
\end{array}$$

For

(5.86)
$$w = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4, w_5, w_6)^t$$

we get by a simple calculation

(5.87)
$$v := (M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1}w)_1 = \frac{1}{12}(w_1 + w_2 + w_3 + w_4 + w_5 + w_6).$$

5.2. DECOMPOSITION OF MAYER'S TRANSFER OPERATOR FOR $\Gamma_0(6)$ 111

Using identities (5.84) and (5.85), we can show that $(M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1}w)_1$ is invariant under the generators of $\Gamma_0(6)$, namely the elements T, ST^6S and $ST^{-2}ST^3ST^2ST$ ([42], page 69), and that the identities

(5.88)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} v(rz) = \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(3))} v(rz) = 0$$

are fulfilled. Thus the proof is complete.

According to this Lemma, we can characterize the old subspaces of $\mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$ coming from the over groups $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$, $\Gamma_0(2)$, and $\Gamma_0(3)$ via the irreducible representations U_t , U_2 , and U_3 , respectively. Furtheremore, the representation $U_2 \otimes U_3$ characterizes $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$. This space contains evidently the new subspace $\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$. But for $u \in \mathcal{S}(s;\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$ one can check that

(5.89)
$$v(z) := u(6z) - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} u(6rz) \\ - \frac{1}{3} \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \Gamma_0(3))} u(6rz) + \frac{1}{12} \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma_0(6) \setminus \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))} u(6rz).$$

also belongs to $\mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$. Now the question arises, if this Maass cusp form v is really nontrivial. Unfortunately, this is a difficult question which one can not answer easily. Nevertheless the transfer operator approach supports the nontriviality of v. Indeed, according to (4.134) and (4.141), the cusp at infinity is open for both representations U_2 and U_3 and hence they are regular representations. Therefore the tensor product $U_2 \otimes U_3$ is also regular and the cusp of $\Gamma_0(6)$ at infinity is open. From this it follows that the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z});U_{2}\otimes U_{3};+}$ has a meromorphic continuation to the left of the line $\Re(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ and therefore its Fredholm determinant and hence Selberg's zeta function $Z(s; PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$ is a meromorphic function in the complex s-plane. If $\mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$ would be isomorphic to $\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$ and hence in bijection with $F^{new}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$, then according to the Jacquet-Langlands correspondence $Z(s; PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$ must coincide with Selberg's zeta function for a cocompact group and hence it must be a holomorphic function. But this is in contradiction with the aforementioned meromorphy of $Z(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$, which supports the nontriviality of (5.89).

Thus $S_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s;\Gamma_0(6))$ must be a mixture of old and new Maass cusp forms. Therefore, the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ into irreducible representations does not characterize the space of new forms.

Since

(5.90)
$$MT = T^{-1}M, \quad MS = SM, \quad M^2 = id_{2\times 2}$$

and $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}$ is a representation of $\mathrm{PGL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ obviously we have

(5.91)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(6)}(M)U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(6)}(T) = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(6)}(T)^{-1}U_{\overline{\Gamma}_{0}(6)}(M),$$

(5.92)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(M)U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(S) = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(S)U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(M).$$

and

112

(5.93)
$$U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(M)^2 = id_{12 \times 12}.$$

Let $P = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(M)$. Then observing that the restriction of $U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}$ to $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ coincides with $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$, from the identities (5.91), (5.92), and (5.93) we get

(5.94)
$$PU_{\Gamma_0(6)}(T) = U_{\Gamma_0(6)}(T)^{-1}P,$$

(5.95)
$$PU_{\Gamma_0(6)}(S) = U_{\Gamma_0(6)}(S)P,$$

and

(5.96)
$$P^2 = id_{12 \times 12}.$$

Thus P is a symmetry of Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(6)}$ (see Definition 3.3).

We consider now the transfer operator $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(6),+}$ with the symmetry operator $P = U_{\overline{\Gamma}_0(6)}(M)$. Evidently, we have

(5.97)
$$M_{\Gamma_{0}(6)}P\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma_{0}(6),+}M_{\Gamma_{0}(6)}^{-1} = P_{1}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),+} \oplus P_{2}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2},+} \oplus P_{3}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{3},+} \oplus P_{2\times 3}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2}\otimes U_{3},+}$$

where

(5.98)
$$M_{\Gamma_0(6)} P M_{\Gamma_0(6)}^{-1} = P_1 \oplus P_2 \oplus P_3 \oplus P_{2\times 3}$$

and (5.99)

$$P_1 = \overline{U}_t(M), \quad P_2 = \overline{U}_2(M), \quad P_3 = \overline{U}_3(M), \quad P_{2\times 3} = \overline{U}_2 \otimes \overline{U}_3(M)$$

The representations \overline{U}_t , \overline{U}_2 , and \overline{U}_3 are given in Example 4.1 and 4.2. Then the space of eigenfunctions $F(s; \Gamma_0(6))$ of $P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma_0(6),+}$ is decomposed as the following

$$(5.100)$$

$$F(s;\Gamma_0(6)) \cong M_{\Gamma_0(6)}F(s;\Gamma_0(6)) = F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) \oplus$$

$$F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2) \oplus F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_3) \oplus F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3).$$

According to Theorem 3.11 and Lemma 5.1 we get the following bijections

$$(5.101)$$

$$\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ M_{\Gamma_0(6)} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})) \to F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}))$$

$$\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ M_{\Gamma_0(6)} \circ B : \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(2)}(s; \Gamma_0(6)) \to F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2)$$

$$\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ M_{\Gamma_0(6)} \circ B : \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(3)}(s; \Gamma_0(6)) \to F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_3)$$

$$\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ M_{\Gamma_0(6)} \circ B : \mathcal{S}_{\Gamma_0(6)}(s; \Gamma_0(6)) \to F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$$

where $M_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ acts on the vector Bv as a matrix.

5.3. The space of new eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator for $\Gamma(2)$

As we mentioned in the previous section, by the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma_0(6)}$ into irreducibles we cannot distinguish the subspace of new eigenfunctions of Mayer's transfer operator. Indeed, we obtained in the case of the group $\Gamma_0(6)$ the mixed subspace $F(s; \text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_2 \otimes U_3)$, which contains the subspace of the new eigenfunctions and part of the old eigenfunctions. But there are examples where we can distinguish the subspace consisting only of new eigenfunctions via an irreducible representation of $\text{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})$. Here we recall the example of Maass cusp forms for the principal congruence group $\Gamma(2)$ from Balslev and Venkov [5] and Mayer's transfer operator for $\Gamma(2)$ with trivial character as already discussed by Chang [13].

First, we need to determine the representation $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) induced from the trivial character on $\Gamma(2)$. For this we fix the following ordered set of representatives of the right cosets of $\Gamma(2)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})

(5.102)
$$R(\Gamma(2) \setminus PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})) = \{id, S, T, ST, TS, STS\}.$$

With this choice of representatives the induced representations $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ of the generators S and T of $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ are given by

$$U_{\Gamma(2)}(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since $\Gamma(2)$ is a normal subgroup of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, the set of right and left cosets of $\Gamma(2)$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is the same and has a group structure.

We denote this group by $\mathcal{G}(2)$, that is (see for example [40], page 90, Proposition 2.2.),

(5.104)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}(2) &:= \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \backslash \Gamma(2) = \\ \{\Gamma(2), S \, \Gamma(2), T \, \Gamma(2), ST \, \Gamma(2), TS \, \Gamma(2), STS \, \Gamma(2) \} \end{aligned}$$

Now we are going to relate the representation $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ to the regular representation of $\mathcal{G}(2)$. Let V_6 be a 6-dimensional Hermitian vector space with an orthonormal basis $\{e_{g\Gamma(2)}\}$ indexed by the elements $g\Gamma(2) \in \mathcal{G}(2)$. Then the regular representation $\rho : \mathcal{G}(2) \to V_6$ is defined by

(5.105)
$$\rho(\gamma \Gamma(2))e_{g\Gamma(2)} = e_{\gamma g\Gamma(2)}.$$

LEMMA 5.2. For the representation $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial character on $\Gamma(2)$ and the regular representation ρ of the group $\mathcal{G}(2)$ defined in (5.105) we have, up to a conjugation,

(5.106)
$$U_{\Gamma(2)}(\gamma) = \rho(\gamma \Gamma(2)), \quad \gamma \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

PROOF. In the basis $\{e_{g\Gamma(2)}\}, \rho(\gamma\Gamma(2))$ is a 6×6 permutation matrix with the entries given by

(5.107)
$$[\rho(\gamma\Gamma(2))]_{i,j} = \left\langle e_{g_i\Gamma(2)}, \rho(\gamma\Gamma(2))e_{g_j\Gamma(2)} \right\rangle = \left\langle e_{g_i\Gamma(2)}, e_{\gamma g_j\Gamma(2)} \right\rangle$$

where $g_i\Gamma(2)$'s, $1 \leq i \leq 6$, are the elements of $\mathcal{G}(2)$, and \langle,\rangle denotes the scalar product in V_6 . Then we have

(5.108)
$$[\rho(\gamma\Gamma(2))]_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1, & e_{g_i\Gamma(2)} = e_{\gamma g_j\Gamma(2)} \Leftrightarrow g_i\Gamma(2) = \gamma g_j\Gamma(2), \\ 0, & e_{g_i\Gamma(2)} \neq e_{\gamma g_j\Gamma(2)} \Leftrightarrow g_i\Gamma(2) \neq \gamma g_j\Gamma(2). \end{cases}$$

Or,

(5.109)
$$[\rho(\gamma \Gamma(2))]_{i,j} = \begin{cases} 1, & g_i^{-1} \gamma g_j \in \Gamma(2), \\ 0, & g_i^{-1} \gamma g_j \notin \Gamma(2) \end{cases} = \delta_{\Gamma(2)}(g_i^{-1} \gamma g_j)$$

where

(5.110)
$$\delta_{\Gamma(2)}(\gamma) = \begin{cases} 1, & \gamma \in \Gamma(2), \\ 0, & \gamma \notin \Gamma(2). \end{cases}$$

But a set of representatives $\{r_1, r_2, \ldots, r_6\}$ of the set of right cosets $\Gamma(2) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ can be chosen such that $r_i = g_i^{-1}$. Then we have

(5.111)
$$[\rho(\gamma\Gamma(2))]_{i,j} = \delta_{\Gamma(2)}(g_i^{-1}\gamma g_j) = \delta_{\Gamma(2)}(r_i\gamma r_j^{-1}) = [U_{\Gamma(2)}(\gamma)]_{ij}$$
which completes the proof. \Box

Therefore, the study of the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ into irreducibles is reduced to that of ρ . To decompose the representation ρ into irreducible representations we use the fact that in the regular representation of a given group all the irreducible representations of the group appear with multiplicity equal to their dimensions ([**52**], page

114

18). Hence, we determine first the irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$. To begin with, we note that $\mathcal{G}(2)$ contains the subgroups

(5.112)
$$A = \{a_1 := \Gamma(2), a_2 := ST \, \Gamma(2), a_3 := TS \, \Gamma(2)\}$$

is a cyclic group of order 3 generated the the element a_2 and

(5.113)
$$H = \{h_1 := \Gamma(2), h_2 := T \Gamma(2)\}$$

which is a cyclic group of order 2 generated the the element h_2 . Furtheremore, one can easily check that $A \triangleleft \mathcal{G}(2)$, $\mathcal{G}(2) = AH$, and $A \cap H = id$. Hence,

$$(5.114) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{G}(2) = A \rtimes H$$

where \rtimes denotes the semidirect product of groups.

REMARK 5.1. The group $\mathcal{G}(2)$ is called the modulary group of level 2 ([43], page 21). This group is generated by the elements $S\Gamma(2)$ and $T\Gamma(2)$ (see for example [33], page 285) and it is isomorphic to the symmetric group S_3 . The alternating group A_3 of order 3 is the unique normal subgroup of S_3 (see for example [33], page 286). The group A, which is a cyclic group of order 3 generated by the element $ST\Gamma(2)$, is isomorphic to A_3 and hence it is the unique normal subgroup of $\mathcal{G}(2)$.

As mentioned in (5.114), $\mathcal{G}(2)$ has a semidirect product structure with H an abelian group. Thus we can apply Wigner's and Mackey's little group method to obtain all irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ (see for example [52], page 62). We illustrate this method for the group $\mathcal{G}(2)$.

Step 1. In the first step we determine the irreducible representations of A. Since A is abelian, all its irreducible representations are of degree one coinciding with the corresponding characters of A. The characters of A form a group,

(5.115)
$$X = Hom(A, \mathbb{C}^*), \qquad \mathbb{C}^* = \mathbb{C} - \{0\}.$$

As mentioned already A is a cyclic group of order 3 generated by the element $ST\Gamma(2)$. We denote its elements by a_i , $1 \le i \le 3$. Thus the character table of A with $\omega = \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{3})$ is given by

X\A	a_1	a_2	a_3
χ_1	1	1	1
χ_2	1	ω	ω^2
χ_3	1	ω^2	ω

TABLE 1. Character table of A.

Step 2. In the next step we determine the orbits of H in X. The action of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ on X is defined by

(5.116)
$$(s\chi)(a) = \chi(s^{-1}as), \quad s \in \mathcal{G}(2), \quad \chi \in X, \quad a \in A.$$

We note that A is normal in $\mathcal{G}(2)$ and hence $s^{-1}as \in A$ for all $s \in \mathcal{G}(2)$ and for all $a \in A$. Next we determine the orbits of H in X. For the trivial representation $\chi_1 \in X$ obviously we have

(5.117)
$$(h\chi_1)(a) = \chi_1(h^{-1}ah) = \chi_1(a), \quad \forall h \in H, \quad \forall a \in A.$$

That means $\{\chi_1\}$ is an orbit of H in X. Then according to Table 1, we calculate the action of H on χ_2 . Since $h_1 \in H$ acts trivially we have to consider only $h_2 \in H$:

(5.118)

$$(h_2\chi_2)(a_1) = \chi_2(a_1) = \chi_3(a_1),$$

$$(h_2\chi_2)(a_2) = \chi_2(h_2^{-1}a_2h_2) = \chi_2(a_3) = \chi_3(a_2),$$

$$(h_2\chi_2)(a_3) = \chi_2(h_2^{-1}a_3h_2) = \chi_2(a_2) = \chi_3(a_3),$$

and hence $h_2\chi_2 = \chi_3$. Thus $\{\chi_2, \chi_3\}$ is another orbit of H in X and evidently there is no other orbit. Therefore the set of orbits of H in X is given by

(5.119)
$$X/H = \{\{\chi_1\}, \{\chi_2, \chi_3\}\}.$$

We choose the following system of representatives of X/H:

(5.120)
$$R(X/H) = \{\chi_1, \chi_2\}.$$

Step 3. We determine the subgroups of H which are the stabilizer groups of χ_1 and χ_2 . Let H_i be the subgroup of H consisting of the elements h such that for $\chi_i \in R(X/H)$, $h\chi_i = \chi_i$. Then evidently we have

(5.121)
$$H_1 = H, \quad H_2 = \{h_1\}.$$

Step 4. We define the groups G_1 and G_2 as follows:

(5.122)
$$G_1 := AH_1 = AH = \mathcal{G}(2), \quad G_2 := AH_2 = A.$$

Step 5. In this step we extend the representations χ_1 and χ_2 of the abelian group A to the groups G_1 and G_2 . For i = 1, 2 the extension $\tilde{\chi}_i$ of $\chi_i \in R(X/H)$ to G_i is given by

(5.123)
$$\widetilde{\chi}_i(ah) = \chi_i(a), \quad \forall a \in A, \quad \forall h \in H_i.$$

Evidently, $\tilde{\chi}_i$ is an irreducible representation of G_i (see also [52], page 62). The representation $\tilde{\chi}_1$ is the trivial representation of $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$ and the representation $\tilde{\chi}_2$ of $G_2 = A$ is identical with the representation χ_2 of A.

116

Step 6. In this step, we define certain irreducible representations of G_1 and G_2 by tensor products of representations. For i = 1, 2 let ρ_i be an irreducible representation of H_i . Then by composing ρ_i with the canonical projection $G_i \to H_i$, we obtain an irreducible representation $\widetilde{\rho}_i$ of G_i . Finally by taking the tensor product of $\widetilde{\chi}_i$ and $\widetilde{\rho}_i$ we obtain another irreducible representation $\widetilde{\chi}_i \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_i$ of G_i .

Since the group $H_1 = H$ is a cyclic group of order two, it has only two irreducible representations as given in the following table:

	Rep.\H	h_1	h_2	
	$\rho_{1,t}$	1	1	
	$\rho_{1,s}$	1	-1	
. O T 1	•1 1		1 1	· c

TABLE 2. Irreducible representations of $H_1 = H$.

The extension of the representations of $H_1 = H$ to $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$ leads to a trivial representation and a sign representation of $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$ as given in the following table:

Rep. $\setminus G_1$	g_1	g_2	g_3	g_4	g_5	g_6
$\widetilde{\rho}_{1,t}$	1	1	1	1	1	1
$\widetilde{\rho}_{1,s}$	1	-1	-1	1	1	-1

TABLE 3. The extension of the representations of $H_1 = H$ to $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$ where g_i denotes the *i*th element of the set of elements of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ given in (5.104) and $g_1 = a_1h_1$, $g_2 = a_2h_2$, $g_3 = a_1h_2$, $g_4 = a_2h_1$, $g_5 = a_3h_1$, $g_6 = a_3h_2$.

On the other hand, the representation $\widetilde{\chi}_1$ is the trivial representation of $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$. Hence we obtain the tensor product representations $\widetilde{\chi}_1 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_{1,t}$ and $\widetilde{\chi}_1 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_{1,s}$ of $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$ as given in the following Table 4.

Rep. $\setminus G_1$	g_1	g_2	g_3	g_4	g_5	g_6
$\widetilde{\chi}_1 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_{1,t}$	1	1	1	1	1	1
$\widetilde{\chi_1\otimes \widetilde{\rho}_{1,s}}$	1	-1	-1	1	1	-1

TABLE 4. The tensor product representations of $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$ where g_i denotes the *i*th element of the set of elements of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ given in (5.104).

The group H_2 is trivial and hence has only the trivial representation. Its extention to $G_2 = A$ is simply the trivial representation $\tilde{\rho}_2$ of $G_2 = A$. Using the representation $\tilde{\chi}_2 = \chi_2$ of $G_2 = A$ as given in Table 1, the representation $\tilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \tilde{\rho}_2$ of $G_2 = A$ is then given in the following Table 5.

Rep. $\setminus G_2$	a_1	a_2	a_3
$\widetilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \widetilde{ ho}_2$	1	ω	ω^2

TABLE 5. The tensor product representation $\tilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \tilde{\rho}_2$ of $G_2 = A$.

Step 7. All the irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ are obtained via induction from the representations of G_1 and G_2 given in Tables 4 and 5, respectively (see for example [52], page 62, Proposition 25). First, we derive the representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ induced from the representations of G_1 given in Table 4. Since $G_1 = \mathcal{G}(2)$, the representations in Table 4 are already irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$. Next, we derive the representation of $\mathcal{G}(2)$, induced from the representation $\tilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \tilde{\rho}_2$ of G_2 given in Table 5. Let us now for $\gamma \in \mathcal{G}(2)$ define:

(5.124)
$$\delta_{G_2,\widetilde{\chi}_2\otimes\widetilde{\rho}_2}(\gamma) := \begin{cases} \widetilde{\chi}_2\otimes\widetilde{\rho}_2(\gamma), & \gamma \in G_2, \\ 0, & \gamma \notin G_2. \end{cases}$$

Then

$$(5.125) \left[\rho_2(\gamma)\right]_{ij} := \left[ind_{G_2}^{\mathcal{G}(2)}(\widetilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_2)(\gamma)\right]_{i,j} = \delta_{G_2,\widetilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_2}(h_i \gamma h_j^{-1}), \quad 1 \le i,j \le 2$$

where $H = \{\Gamma(2), T\Gamma(2)\} = \{h_1, h_2\}$ can be taken as the set of representatives of the right cosets of $G_2 = A$ in $\mathcal{G}(2)$. Since $\mathcal{G}(2)$ is generated by $g_2 := S\Gamma(2)$ and $g_3 := T\Gamma(2)$, it is enough to calculate the induced representation of these generators. By a simple calculation we have

(5.126)
$$h_1 g_3 h_1^{-1} = T\Gamma(2) \notin A,$$
$$h_1 g_3 h_2^{-1} = \Gamma(2) = a_1 \in A,$$
$$h_2 g_3 h_1^{-1} = \Gamma(2) = a_1 \in A,$$
$$h_2 g_3 h_2^{-1} = T\Gamma(2) \notin A.$$

Thus according to Table 5 we get

(5.127)
$$ind_{G_2}^{\mathcal{G}(2)}(\widetilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_2)(g_3) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

For the element $g_2 = S\Gamma(2)$ we have

(5.128)
$$h_1g_2h_1^{-1} = S\Gamma(2) \notin A,$$
$$h_1g_2h_2^{-1} = ST\Gamma(2) = a_2 \in A,$$
$$h_2g_2h_1^{-1} = TS\Gamma(2) = a_3 \in A,$$
$$h_2g_2h_2^{-1} = STS\Gamma(2) \notin A.$$

Hence according to Table 5

(5.129)
$$ind_{G_2}^{\mathcal{G}(2)}(\widetilde{\chi}_2 \otimes \widetilde{\rho}_2)(g_2) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \omega \\ \omega^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus we obtained all irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ as listed in the following table:

Rep. $\langle \mathcal{G}(2) \rangle$	$S\Gamma(2)$	$T\Gamma(2)$
$ ho_t$	1	1
ρ_s	-1	-1
ρ_2	$\left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & \omega \\ \omega^2 & 0 \end{array}\right)$	$\left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$

TABLE 6. The irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$.

Recall that $\rho : \mathcal{G}(2) \to V_6$ is the regular representation of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ given in (5.105). Hence, as mentioned, all irreducible representations of $\mathcal{G}(2)$ occur in the irreducible decomposition of ρ with multiplicity equal to their dimensions. Therefore, there is a matrix $M_{\Gamma(2)}$ such that

(5.130)
$$M_{\Gamma(2)}\rho M_{\Gamma(2)} = \rho_t \oplus \rho_s \oplus \rho_2 \oplus \rho_2$$

where the irreducible representations in the right hand side are given in Table 6. The matrix $M_{\Gamma(2)}$ can be calculated explicitly to be

Hence, Lemma 5.2 yields the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ into its irreducible subrepresentations which has been given already in [13]:

LEMMA 5.3. Let ρ be the regular representation of $\mathcal{G}(2)$, given in 5.105, and $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ be the representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial character on $\Gamma(2)$. Then the decomposition of $U_{\Gamma(2)}$ into its irreducible components is given by

(5.132)
$$M_{\Gamma(2)}U_{\Gamma(2)}M_{\Gamma(2)}^{-1} = U_t \oplus U_s \oplus U_2 \oplus U_2$$

where $M_{\Gamma(2)}$ is given in (5.131) and for $\gamma \in PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ we have

(5.133)
$$U_t(\gamma) = \rho_t(\gamma\Gamma(2)),$$
$$U_s(\gamma) = \rho_s(\gamma\Gamma(2)),$$
$$U_2(\gamma) = \rho_2(\gamma\Gamma(2)).$$

We recall the notion of old and new Maass forms for $S(s; \Gamma(2))$ from [5]. Let

(5.134)
$$\Gamma^{0}(2) := \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid b = 0 \mod 2 \right\}.$$

Then the old forms in $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma^0(2))$ are given by ([5], page 446, formula 14)

(5.135)
$$\mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma^0(2)) := \left\{ f_1(z) + f_2(\frac{z}{2}) \mid f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z})) \right\}.$$

The space of new forms in $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma^0(2))$ is defined as the orthogonal complement of $\mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \Gamma^0(2))$ in $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma^0(2))$, that is,

(5.136)
$$\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma^0(2)) := \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma^0(2)) \ominus \mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma^0(2)).$$

The old forms in $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma(2))$ are given by ([5], page 446, Formula 16)

(5.137)
$$\mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma(2)) := \{f_1(z) + f_2(\frac{z}{2}) + f_3(2z) + g_1(z) + g_2(2z) \mid f_1, f_2, f_3 \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})), g_1, g_2 \in \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma^0(2))\}.$$

That $f_1(z)$, $f_2(\frac{z}{2})$, $f_3(2z)$, $g_1(z)$, and $g_2(2z)$ are indeed $\Gamma(2)$ Maass cusp forms was proved in ([5], page 445, Lemma. 5.1.). Then by definition, the space of new forms in $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma(2))$ is defined as the orthogonal complement of $\mathcal{S}^{old}(s; \Gamma(2))$ in $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma(2))$, that is,

(5.138)
$$\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma(2)) := \mathcal{S}(s;\Gamma(2)) \ominus \mathcal{S}^{old}(s;\Gamma(2)).$$

Further, one shows that ([5], page 446, Theorem 1)

$$\begin{aligned} & (5.139) \\ & \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma(2)) = \\ & \left\{ h \in \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma(2)) \mid \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma(2) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} h(rz) = 0, \quad \sum_{r \in R(\Gamma(2) \setminus \Gamma^0(2)} h(rz) = 0 \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Now we can characterize the new forms in the space $\mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma(2))$ via the representation U_s .

LEMMA 5.4. The spaces $\mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$ and $\mathcal{S}(s; PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_s)$ are isomorphic. Indeed, the map

(5.140)
$$M_{\Gamma(2)}B: \mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma(2)) \to \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_s)$$

is an isomorphism where B is defined in (3.26) and $M_{\Gamma(2)}$ is given in (5.131).

PROOF. Let $u \in \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$ and let

(5.141)
$$Bu = \begin{pmatrix} u(z) \\ u(Sz) \\ u(Tz) \\ u(STz) \\ u(TSz) \\ u(STSz) \\ u(STSz) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u_1(z) \\ u_2(z) \\ u_3(z) \\ u_4(z) \\ u_5(z) \\ u_6(z) \end{pmatrix}.$$

120

Then we have

(5.142)
$$M_{\Gamma(2)}Bu = \begin{pmatrix} u_1 + u_2 + u_3 + u_4 + u_5 + u_6 \\ -u_1 + u_2 + u_3 - u_4 - u_5 + u_6 \\ \omega^2 u_2 + \omega u_3 + u_6 \\ \omega u_1 + \omega^2 u_4 + u_5 \\ \omega^2 u_1 + \omega u_4 + u_5 \\ \omega u_2 + \omega^2 u_3 + u_6 \end{pmatrix}$$

We fix the following sets of representatives of $\Gamma(2)$ in $\Gamma_0(2)$.

(5.143)
$$R(\Gamma(2)\backslash\Gamma_0(2)) = \{id, T\}$$

respectively in $\Gamma^0(2)$

(5.144)
$$R(\Gamma(2)\backslash\Gamma^{0}(2)) = \{id, STS\}.$$

By definition, for $u \in \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$ the following identities hold:

(5.145)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma(2) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} u(rz) = u_1 + u_3 = 0$$

and

(5.146)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma(2) \setminus \Gamma^0(2))} u(rz) = u_1 + u_6 = 0.$$

From (5.145) we have

(5.147)
$$u_1 = -u_3 \text{ or } u(z) = -u(Tz).$$

By replacing z by Sz and z by STz in this identity, we get

(5.148)
$$u(Sz) = -u(TSz), \text{ or } u_2(z) = -u_5(z)$$

respectively

(5.149)
$$u(STz) = -u(TSTz), \text{ or } u_4(z) = -u_6(z).$$

Similarly, from (5.146), we get the identities

(5.150)
$$u_1(z) = -u_6(z), \quad u_2(z) = -u_4(z), \quad u_3(z) = -u_5(z).$$

Summarizing all these identities, we have

$$(5.151) u_1 = u_5 = u_4 = -u_2 = -u_3 = -u_6.$$

From these identities together with the fact that $1 + \omega + \omega^2 = 0$, we get

(5.152)
$$M_{\Gamma(2)}Bu = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ -6u(z) \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_s).$$

•

Conversely, let

(5.153)
$$\mathfrak{v} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ v(z) \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{S}(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}); U_s)$$

Then we find

(5.154)
$$M_{\Gamma(2)}^{-1}\mathfrak{v} = \frac{1}{6} \begin{pmatrix} -v \\ v \\ v \\ -v \\ -v \\ -v \\ v \end{pmatrix}.$$

Now we must show that $u := (M_{\Gamma(2)}^{-1} \mathfrak{v})_1 = -v \in \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$. For this we note first, that

(5.155)
$$u(\gamma z) = U_s(\gamma)u(z), \quad \gamma \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}).$$

From this one can show that u is invariant under the generators of $\Gamma(2)$, namely T^2 and ST^2S and that (5.156)

$$Bu := \begin{pmatrix} u_1(z) \\ u_2(z) \\ u_3(z) \\ u_4(z) \\ u_5(z) \\ u_6(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(r_1z) \\ u(r_2z) \\ u(r_3z) \\ u(r_4z) \\ u(r_5z) \\ u(r_5z) \\ u(r_6z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} u(z) \\ -u(z) \\ u(z) \\ u(z) \\ -u(z) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -v(z) \\ v(z) \\ v(z) \\ -v(z) \\ v(z) \\ v(z) \end{pmatrix}.$$

with r_i the *i*-th element of the set of representatives of $\Gamma(2)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) (see for example [40], page 90, Proposition 2.2.)

$$R(\Gamma(2) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})) = \{ id, S, T, ST, TS, STS \}.$$

Moreover, from (5.156) it follows that

(5.157)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma(2) \setminus \Gamma_0(2))} u(rz) = u_1 + u_3 = 0,$$

and

(5.158)
$$\sum_{r \in R(\Gamma(2) \setminus \Gamma^0(2))} u(rz) = u_1 + u_6 = 0.$$

Therefore $u := (M_{\Gamma(2)}\mathfrak{v})_1 \in \mathcal{S}^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$ and this completes the proof.

Now we consider Mayer's transfer operator $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2)}$ for $\Gamma(2)$ with trivial character. A symmetry operator for this transfer operator is given

122

by $P = U_{\overline{\Gamma}(2)}(M) = id_{6\times 6}$ and hence we have $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2)} = \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2),+} = \mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2),-}$. Evidently, Lemma 5.3 yields the following decomposition of $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2)}$:

(5.159)
$$\begin{aligned} M_{\Gamma(2)}\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma(2)}M_{\Gamma(2)}^{-1} &= \\ \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})} \oplus \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{s}} \oplus \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2}} \oplus \mathcal{L}_{s}^{\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}),U_{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, we find the space $F(s; \Gamma(2))$ of eigenfunctions of $\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma(2)}$ is decomposed as

(5.160)

$$M_{\Gamma(2)}F(s;\Gamma(2)) = F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) \oplus$$

$$F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_s) \oplus F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2) \oplus F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_2).$$

According to Theorem 3.11 there is a bijection

(5.161)
$$\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B : \mathcal{S}(s; \Gamma(2)) \to F(s; \Gamma(2)).$$

We define the space of new periodic functions in the space $F(s; \Gamma(2))$ by

(5.162)
$$F^{new}(s;\Gamma(2)) := \mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I} \circ B(\mathcal{S}^{new}(s;\Gamma(2))).$$

Then Lemma 5.4 and linearity of $\mathcal{P} \circ \mathcal{I}$, lead to the following bijection

(5.163) $M_{\Gamma(2)}F^{new}(s;\Gamma(2)) \cong F(s; \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}); U_s)$

which characterizes $F^{new}(s; \Gamma(2))$ by the representation U_s .

CHAPTER 6

Congruence properties of the induced representation

This chapter reviews my joint work with Dieter Mayer and Alexei Venkov [31]. We show first that a unitary representation χ of a group $\Gamma \leq \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is congruence, that is, ker χ contains a principal congruence group, if and only if the induced representation ρ_{χ} is congruence. This provides us with a new method to determine if a representation is congruence or not. We illustrate this method in the example of Selberg's character on $\Gamma_0(4)$ and we compare it with Zograf's geometric approach.

6.1. Congruence representations, Selberg's character and its induction to $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$

Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ and χ be a unitary representation of Γ on the Hermitian vector space W.

DEFINITION 6.1. A unitary representation χ of $\Gamma \leq PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is called a congruence representation if ker χ is a congruence subgroup of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), that is, if ker χ contains a principal congruence subgroup of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}).

The motivation for this definition comes from the belief that the spectrum of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma; \chi)$ and hence the position of the zeros of Selberg's zeta function $Z(s; \Gamma; \chi)$ strongly depends on the representation χ being congruence or not (see for example [40]). We illustrate this by an example from [5]. Consider the principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(2)$ with two generators given by

(6.1)
$$A := T^2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B := ST^2S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -2 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Each element $\gamma \in \Gamma(2)$ can be presented uniquely as a product

(6.2)
$$\gamma = A^{n_1} B^{m_1} A^{n_2} B^{m_2} \dots A^{n_k} B^{m_k}, \quad n_j, m_j \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad 1 \le j \le k.$$

Then an integer valued function on elements of $\Gamma(2)$ is defined by

$$(6.3) P_A(\gamma) = n_1 + \dots n_k.$$

Using this a character on $\Gamma(2)$ is defined by

(6.4)
$$\widehat{\chi}_{\alpha}(\gamma) = \exp(2\pi i \alpha P_A(\gamma))$$

126 6. CONGRUENCE PROPERTIES OF THE INDUCED REPRESENTATION

In [41], it is shown under a multiplicity assumption on the eigenvalues of the automorphic Laplacian, that for at most countably many $\alpha \in$ (0,1) the pair $(\Gamma(2), \alpha)$ is essentially cuspidal, namely the eigenvalues of $\Delta(\Gamma(2); \hat{\chi}_{\alpha})$ fulfil a Weyl law. As an example where a special case of the congruence property of a representation plays a role we mention the Phillips-Sarnak conjecture saying that $(\Gamma(2), \alpha)$ is essentially cuspidal only for α -values for which $\hat{\chi}_{\alpha}$ is a congruence character.

Consequently, the problem arises of finding the α -values for which $\widehat{\chi}_{\alpha}$ is congruence. For α -values with

(6.5)
$$\alpha = \frac{n}{d}, \quad n, d \in \mathbb{Z}_+, \quad (n, d) = 1,$$

ker $\widehat{\chi}_{\alpha}$ is given by the group Γ_d defined by Balslev and Venkov in [5]:

(6.6)
$$\Gamma_d := \{ \gamma \in \Gamma(2) \mid P_A(\gamma) = 0 \mod d \},\$$

which is a normal subgroup of $\Gamma(2)$ of genus zero. The groups Γ_d , as defined by Balslev and Venkov, coincide with the groups Γ_{6d} of G. Sansone [48] and studied in [37] by M. Newman. He solved indeed the congruence problem for these subgroups of $\Gamma(2)$ by showing Γ_{6d} to be congruent only for d = 1, 2, 4, 8 with $\Gamma(2d) \leq \Gamma_{6d}$. In terms of the α -values in [0, 1) this means that $\alpha = \frac{j}{8}$ with $j = 0, 1, \ldots, 7$ ([5], page 439). This was also reproved in [40].

Recall the Hecke congruence subgroup of $\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ of level 4 defined by

(6.7)
$$\Gamma_0(4) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) \in \operatorname{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \mid c = 0 \mod 4 \right\}.$$

This group is freely generated by

(6.8)
$$T = \pm \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $ST^4S = \pm \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 4 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$.

Selberg's character

(6.9)
$$\chi_{\alpha}: \Gamma_0(4) \to \operatorname{Aut}\mathbb{C}, \quad 0 \le \alpha \le 1,$$

on the group $\Gamma_0(4)$ is defined by the following assignments:

(6.10)
$$\chi_{\alpha}(T) = \exp(2\pi i\alpha), \quad \chi_{\alpha}(ST^4S) = 1.$$

Indeed, Selberg defined originally a character $\tilde{\chi}_{\alpha}$ by the assignments $\tilde{\chi}_{\alpha}(T) = 1$ and $\tilde{\chi}_{\alpha}(ST^4S) = \exp(i\alpha)$ where $-\pi \leq \alpha \leq \pi$ and then he proved that each point on the critical line $\Re(s) = \frac{1}{2}$ is a limit point of zeros of $Z(s; \Gamma_0(4); \tilde{\chi}_{\alpha})$ as $\alpha \to 0$ ([51], page 15).

In Mayer's transfer operator approach to Selberg's zeta function for the group $\Gamma_0(4)$ with Selberg's character χ_{α} this character is replaced by the representation U_{α} of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) induced from χ_{α} [19]. Selberg's zeta function $Z(\Gamma_0(4); \chi_{\alpha}; s)$ thereby gets expressed as

(6.11)
$$Z(s;\Gamma_0(4);\chi_\alpha) = \det(1 - P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi_\alpha,+})\det(1 + P\mathcal{L}_s^{\Gamma,\chi_\alpha,+})$$

where P is a symmetry of Mayer's transfer operator and

(6.12)
$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{\Gamma,\chi_{\alpha},+}f(z) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\frac{1}{z+n})^{2s} U_{\alpha}(ST^{n}) f(\frac{1}{z+n}), \quad f \in B(D).$$

We fix the ordered set of representatives of $\Gamma_0(4) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ to be

(6.13)
$$R(\Gamma_0(4) \setminus \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) = \left\{ id, S, ST, ST^2, ST^3, ST^2S \right\}$$

With this choice of representatives, the induced representations U_{α} for the generators S and T of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ are given by

(6.14)
$$U_{\alpha}(S) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \exp(-2\pi i\alpha) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & \exp(2\pi i\alpha) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and

(6.15)
$$U_{\alpha}(T) = \begin{pmatrix} \exp(2\pi i\alpha) & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \exp(-2\pi i\alpha) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The eigenvalues and resonances of the automorphic Laplace operator $A(\Gamma_0(4), \chi_\alpha)$ determine the nontrivial zeros of $Z(\Gamma_0(4); \chi_\alpha; s)$ and hence, because of (6.11) depend on the induced representation U_α being congruence or not. Indeed, this is the case as one knows from the work of Selberg and confirmed also by numerical calculations of Fraczek [18]. Indeed we show U_α is congruence iff χ_α is congruence, that is, iff $\alpha = \frac{j}{8}, \ 0 \le j \le 7$ for $\alpha \in [0, 1)$. Using identity (6.11), Fraczek [18] was able to calculate the zeros of $Z(s; \Gamma_0(4); \chi_\alpha)$ and trace them as α varies. His numerical calculations confirm that $\alpha = \frac{j}{8}, \ 0 \le j \le 7$ are the only congruence values for U_α respectively for χ_α . Based on these numerical calculations Mayer et al studied the zeros of Selberg's zeta function $Z(s; \Gamma_0(4); \chi_\alpha)$ in detail and give in particular a detailed description of Selberg's phenomenon mentioned above [8]. Motivated by this works of Mayer and Fraczek, we can prove the more general result:

THEOREM 6.1. Let Γ be a subgroup of finite index in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, χ be a unitary representation of Γ on the Hermitian vector space W and ρ_{χ} be the induced representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ given in Definition 3.1. Then χ is congruence if and only if ρ_{χ} is congruence.

PROOF. According to the definition of ρ_{χ} an element $g \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ is in the kernel ker ρ_{χ} of the representation iff for all elements r in

128 6. CONGRUENCE PROPERTIES OF THE INDUCED REPRESENTATION

R, the set of representatives of the right cosets $\Gamma \setminus PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$, one has $\delta_{\Gamma,\chi}(rgr^{-1}) = id_{\dim\chi}$. But according to (3.9) this is equivalent to $rgr^{-1} \in \ker\chi$ for all $r \in R$. Therefore we have

(6.16)
$$\ker \rho_{\chi} = \left\{ g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}) \mid rgr^{-1} \in \ker \chi, \forall r \in R \right\}.$$

From this and the fact that $id_{2\times 2} \in R$ it follows that ker ρ_{χ} is a subgroup of ker χ ,

(6.17)
$$\ker \rho_{\chi} \le \ker \chi$$

Thus, if ker ρ_{χ} is a congruence subgroup then also ker χ is a congruence subgroup and hence if ρ_{χ} is a congruence representation then χ is a congruence representation too. To prove the converse, we note that the kernel ker ρ_{χ} in (6.16) can be written as the intersection of the sets given by

(6.18)
$$\ker \rho_{\chi} = r_1 \ker \chi r_1^{-1} \cap r_2 \ker \chi r_2^{-1} \cap \ldots \cap r_6 \ker \chi r_6^{-1}, \quad r_i \in \mathbb{R}.$$

If χ is a congruence representation and hence ker χ is a congruence group, then $\Gamma(n) \leq \ker \chi$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\Gamma(n)$ is normal in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) one gets $\Gamma(n) \subset r \ker \chi r^{-1}$ for all $r \in R$. Therefore, according to (6.18), $\Gamma(n) \leq \ker \rho_{\chi}$. Hence ker ρ_{χ} is also a congruence subgroup and therefore ρ_{χ} is a congruence representation. \Box

Hence the problem to determine if a representation χ is congruence or not, is reduced to determine if ρ_{χ} is congruence or not. This provides us with an alternative method to study the congruence properties of χ via that of ρ_{χ} . In the following sections, we apply this method to study the congruence properties of Selberg's character.

6.2. The kernel of the induced representation U_{α}

In this section we study the group ker $U_{\alpha} \triangleleft \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$. For this we need some auxiliary results for the U_{α} -image of $\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$, namely the group

(6.19) $G_{\alpha} := U_{\alpha}(\mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})) = \{U_{\alpha}(g) \mid g \in \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})\}.$

Since $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is generated by S and T, the group G_{α} is generated by $U_{\alpha}(S)$ and $U_{\alpha}(T)$.

Before proceeding further we recall some definitions and results. The general linear group $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{C})$ is the group of all invertible $n \times n$ matrices with entries in \mathbb{C} . A matrix is called monomial if each row and column has exactly one nonzero element ([1], page 48). We denote by $M(6, \mathbb{C})$ the group of all monomial matrices in $\operatorname{GL}(6, \mathbb{C})$. We further denote by $\Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ the group of all diagonal matrices in $\operatorname{GL}(6, \mathbb{C})$. The group $M(6, \mathbb{C})$ is the normalizer of $\Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ in $\operatorname{GL}(6, \mathbb{C})$ (see [1], page 48, Exercise 7). Hence, $\Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ is normal in $M(6, \mathbb{C})$. A permutation matrix is a monomial matrix in which all nonzero elements are equal to one. We denote by W the set of all permutation matrices in $\operatorname{GL}(6, \mathbb{C})$. W is a subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}(6, \mathbb{C})$ which is called the Weyl group (see [1], page 42, Proposition 4). The group W is isomorphic to S_6 , the symmetric group of degree 6. The group $M(6, \mathbb{C})$ has the following semidirect product structure (see [1], page 48, Exercise 7)

(6.20)
$$M(6,\mathbb{C}) = \Delta(6,\mathbb{C}) \rtimes W.$$

Hence, each element m in $\in M(6, \mathbb{C})$ has a unique expression as $m = \delta w$ where $\delta \in \Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ and $w \in W$ (see [1], page 21, second item).

The generators of G_{α} , namely $U_{\alpha}(S)$ and $U_{\alpha}(T)$ belong to $M(6, \mathbb{C})$. Hence, G_{α} is a subgroup of $M(6, \mathbb{C})$:

(6.21)
$$G_{\alpha} \le M(6, \mathbb{C}).$$

LEMMA 6.2. Let U_0 be the representation of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ induced from the trivial one- dimensional representation of $\Gamma_0(4)$. Then each element $U_{\alpha}(g) \in G_{\alpha}$ has a unique representation as

(6.22)
$$U_{\alpha}(g) = D_{\alpha}(g)U_0(g),$$

where $D_{\alpha}(g) \in \Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$.

PROOF. To $g \in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z})$ we assign the diagonal matrix $D_{\alpha}(g) \in \Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ with entries

(6.23)
$$[D_{\alpha}(g)]_{ik} = \delta_{ik} \chi_{\alpha}(r_i gr(i)^{-1}), \quad 1 \le i, k \le 6.$$

Here, r_i and r(i) are elements of the set $R(\Gamma_0(4) \setminus PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}))$ with r(i)uniquely determined by the condition $r_i gr(i)^{-1} \in \Gamma_0(4)$. Then we have

(6.24)
$$[D_{\alpha}(g)U_{0}(g)]_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{6} [D_{\alpha}(g)]_{ik} [U_{0}(g)]_{kj}.$$

Inserting (6.23) into this identity we get

(6.25)
$$[D_{\alpha}(g)U_0(g)]_{ij} = \chi_{\alpha}(r_i gr(i)^{-1}) [U_0(g)]_{ij}.$$

But according to the definition of the induced representation (Definition 3.1) U_0 we get

(6.26)
$$[D_{\alpha}(g)U_0(g)]_{ij} = \chi_{\alpha}(r_i gr(i)^{-1})\delta_{\Gamma_0(4)}(r_i gr_j^{-1}).$$

Hence

(6.27)
$$[D_{\alpha}(g)U_{0}(g)]_{ij} = \begin{cases} \chi_{\alpha}(r_{i}gr_{j}^{-1}) & \text{if } r_{i}gr_{j}^{-1} \in \Gamma_{0}(4), \\ 0 & \text{if } r_{i}gr_{j}^{-1} \notin \Gamma_{0}(4) \end{cases}$$

or

(6.28)
$$[D_{\alpha}(g)U_0(g)]_{ij} = \delta_{\Gamma_0(4),\chi_{\alpha}}(r_i g r_j^{-1}).$$

That is, we have

$$(6.29) D_{\alpha}(g)U_0(g) = U_{\alpha}(g).$$

Since $U_0(g)$ is a permutation matrix in W and G_{α} is a subgroup of $M(6, \mathbb{C})$, this decomposition according to (6.20) is unique.

130 6. CONGRUENCE PROPERTIES OF THE INDUCED REPRESENTATION

As already mentioned, the group $\Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ is normal in the group of monomial matrices $M(6, \mathbb{C})$ and G_{α} is a subgroup of $M(6, \mathbb{C})$. Hence $A_{\alpha} := G_{\alpha} \cap \Delta(6, \mathbb{C})$ is normal in G_{α} . By definition A_{α} is the group of all diagonal matrices in G_{α} . Hence, according to lemma 6.2, A_{α} is the image of the kernel of the representation U_0 under the map U_{α} , that means

(6.30)
$$A_{\alpha} = \{U_{\alpha}(\gamma) | \gamma \in \ker U_0\}.$$

But from Lemma 4.4 we have

(6.31)
$$\ker U_0 = \Gamma(4)$$

Hence the normal subgroup A_{α} of G_{α} in (6.30) is given by

(6.32)
$$A_{\alpha} = \{U_{\alpha}(\gamma) | \gamma \in \Gamma(4)\}$$

According to this, generators of A_{α} can be calculated explicitly from generators of $\Gamma(4)$. A set of generators of $\Gamma(4)$ is given for instance by (see for example [26], page 104)

$$g_{1} = T^{4} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$g_{2} = ST^{-4}S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 4 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$g_{3} = T^{-1}ST^{4}ST = \begin{pmatrix} -5 & -4 \\ 4 & 3 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$g_{4} = T^{-2}ST^{-4}ST^{-2} = \begin{pmatrix} 7 & -12 \\ -4 & 7 \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.33)
$$g_{5} = TST^{-4}ST^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} -5 & 4 \\ -4 & 3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The corresponding generators of A_{α} are obtained by calculating the induced representation U_{α} for each generator of $\Gamma(4)$:

(6.34)
$$A_1(\alpha) := U_{\alpha}(g_1) = \text{diag}(\exp(8\pi i\alpha), 1, 1, 1, 1, \exp(-8\pi i\alpha)),$$

(6.35)
$$A_2(\alpha) := U_\alpha(g_2) = \text{diag}(1, \exp(-8\pi i\alpha), 1, \exp(8\pi i\alpha), 1, 1),$$

(6.36)
$$A_3(\alpha) := U_\alpha(g_3) = \text{diag}(1, 1, \exp(8\pi i\alpha), 1, \exp(-8\pi i\alpha), 1)$$

where diag (a_1, \ldots, a_6) denotes a 6 dimensional diagonal matrix with entries a_i . The generators g_4 and g_5 do not lead to new generators for A_{α} . In fact, one finds

-1

(6.37)
$$U_{\alpha}(g_5) = U_{\alpha}(g_3), \quad U_{\alpha}(g_4) = [U_{\alpha}(g_1)U_{\alpha}(g_2)]^{-1}.$$

Thus, A_{α} is an abelian group, generated by three elements:

(6.38)
$$A_{\alpha} = \langle A_1(\alpha), A_2(\alpha), A_3(\alpha) \rangle.$$

Next we consider the factor group G_{α}/A_{α} .

LEMMA 6.3. The factor group G_{α}/A_{α} is isomorphic to the modulary group $G(4) = \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma(4)$.

PROOF. First, we consider the group homomorphisms

(6.39)
$$h_1 : \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}) \to G_{\alpha}$$
$$h_1(g) = U_{\alpha}(g)$$

and

(6.40)
$$h_2: \Gamma(4) \to A_\alpha$$
$$h_2(g) = U_\alpha(g).$$

According to lemma 6.2, ker $h_1 \leq \ker U_0 = \Gamma(4)$. Thus ker $h_1 \leq \Gamma(4)$. Moreover, h_2 is the restriction of h_1 to $\Gamma(4)$ and hence ker $h_1 = \ker h_2 \leq \Gamma(4)$. From the definitions of h_1 and h_2 it is also clear that

(6.41)
$$\ker U_{\alpha} = \ker h_1 = \ker h_2.$$

Since $G_{\alpha} = h_1(\text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$ and $A_{\alpha} = h_2(\Gamma(4))$, the following isomorphisms hold

(6.42)
$$\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\ker U_{\alpha} \cong G_{\alpha} = U_{\alpha}(\operatorname{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z}))$$

and

(6.43)
$$\Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha} \cong A_{\alpha}.$$

Then the "second isomorphism theorem" (see [1], page 12) yields the desired result,

(6.44)
$$G_{\alpha}/A_{\alpha} \cong \mathrm{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})/\Gamma(4) = \mathrm{G}(4).$$

We denote by $N = N(\alpha)$ the order of a generator of the group A_{α} defined in (6.38). Obviously all generators of this group have the same order, which for α irrational for example is given by $N = \infty$. We recall that (see (6.43))

(6.45)
$$\Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha} \cong A_{\alpha}.$$

Hence, the index $\mu(\alpha) = [PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}) : \ker U_{\alpha}]$ of $\ker U_{\alpha}$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ is equal to the number of elements of A_{α} times $[PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}) : \Gamma(4)] = 24$, the index of $\Gamma(4)$ in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Thus we have

(6.46)
$$\mu(\alpha) = 24N^3 = 24N(\alpha)^3.$$

From this formula it is clear that for irrational α the subgroup ker U_{α} is of infinite index in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}). In the following let α be a rational number with $N(\alpha) = N, N \in \mathbb{N}$.

Based on the Gauss-Bonnet formula, we can determine the number of generators of ker U_{α} . As can be seen from (6.29) and (6.31) ker $U_{\alpha} \leq \Gamma(4)$ and hence ker U_{α} has no elliptic elements (see for example [23], page 44). The Gauss-Bonnet formula for a group Γ without elliptic elements shows (see for example [57], page 15), that

(6.47)
$$|F| = 2\pi(2g - 2 + h),$$

where |F| is the area of the fundamental domain, g its genus, and h is the number of cusps of Γ . It is also known that the number of generators of Γ is 2g + h (see [57], page 14). For the group ker U_{α} we have

(6.48)
$$|F| = \mu(\alpha) \frac{\pi}{3},$$

where $\pi/3$ is the area of the fundamental domain of $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $\mu(\alpha)$ is the index of ker U_{α} in $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ as given in (6.46). Hence, the number of generators of ker U_{α} is given by

$$(6.49) 2g + h = 4N^3 + 2.$$

The number of free generators on the other hand is given by (see [57], page 14)

(6.50)
$$\mathcal{N}(\alpha) = 2g + h - 1 = 4N^3 + 1.$$

Before continuing further we recall the concept of the width of a cusp (see [58], page 529).

DEFINITION 6.2. For $x \in \mathbb{Q} \cup \{\infty\}$ a cusp of the group $\Gamma \leq PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $\sigma \in PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ with $\sigma\infty = x$, let $P \in \Gamma$ be a primitive parabolic element with Px = x. If

(6.51)
$$\sigma P \sigma^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & m \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{PSL}(2, \mathbb{Z}).$$

then |m| is called the width of the cusp x of Γ .

Next we recall Wohlfahrt's definition of the level of a group (see [58], page 530)

DEFINITION 6.3. Let $\Gamma \leq \text{PSL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ and $C(\Gamma) \subset \mathbb{N}$ be the set of widths of the cusps of Γ . If $C(\Gamma)$ is nonempty and bounded in \mathbb{N} , the level $n(\Gamma)$ of Γ is defined to be the least common multiple of the elements of $C(\Gamma)$. Otherwise the level is defined to be zero.

For congruence subgroups $\Gamma \leq PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$ F. Klein on the other hand defined the level as follows (see [58] and the references there)

DEFINITION 6.4. The level of a congruence subgroup is defined to be the smallest integer n such that $\Gamma(n) \subset \Gamma$.

The following theorem, which is crucial for our purpose, shows that for congruence groups Wohlfahrt's and F. Klein's definition of the level coincide (see [58] and the references there).

THEOREM 6.4. If Γ is a congruence subgroup of level n in the sense of Wohlfahrt then n is the smallest integer with $\Gamma(n) \leq \Gamma$. Next we determine the level of ker U_{α} in the sense of Wohlfahrt. To this end, we note that ker U_{α} is normal in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}). Hence, all cusps of ker U_{α} have the same width (see [57], page 160 third paragraph). Thus it is enough to find the width just for one cusp. According to (6.34), for α with $N(\alpha) = N \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $U_{\alpha}(g_1)^N = Id_{6\times 6}$ where

$$(6.52) g_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

is given in (6.33). Hence

$$(6.53) g_1^N = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4N \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

belongs to ker U_{α} and it is obviously primitive. Thus Wohlfahrt's level $n(\alpha)$ of ker U_{α} is given for α with $N(\alpha) = N$ by

$$(6.54) n(\alpha) = 4N$$

Next, based on a formula due to Morris Newman [38], we derive a formula for the genus of ker U_{α} . Let Γ be a normal subgroup of PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) with index μ , genus g, and h the number of cusps, respectively with Wohlfahrt's level n. Put $t := \frac{\mu}{n}$. Then according to Newman (see [38], page 268 and also [57] page 160) one has

(6.55)
$$g = 1 + \frac{\mu}{12} - \frac{t}{2}.$$

For the group ker U_{α} according to (6.46) and (6.54) we get $t = 6N^2$. Inserting this and (6.46) into (6.55) we get for the genus of ker U_{α}

(6.56)
$$g(\alpha) = 1 + 2N^3 - 3N^2$$

From this formula and (6.49) we obtain the number $h(\alpha)$ of cusps of ker U_{α} as follows

$$h(\alpha) = 6N^2.$$

Let us summarize the information obtained for $\ker U_\alpha$ in the following theorem

THEOREM 6.5. For α with $N(\alpha) = N \in \mathbb{N}$ the order of the generators of A_{α} , let $\mu(\alpha)$ be the index of the group ker U_{α} in PSL(2, Z), $g(\alpha)$ its genus, $h(\alpha)$ the number of its cusps, $n(\alpha)$ its Wohlfahrt's level, and $\mathcal{N}(\alpha)$ the number of its free generators. Then we have

- $\mu(\alpha) = 24N^3$
- $g(\alpha) = 1 + 2N^3 3N^2$
- $h(\alpha) = 6N^2$
- $n(\alpha) = 4N$
- $\mathcal{N}(\alpha) = 4N^3 + 1.$

6.3. Determination of the α -values for U_{α} to be congruent

In this section we determine the α -values for which the representation U_{α} is congruence. As mentioned in the previous section, for irrational α the index $\mu(\alpha)$ of ker U_{α} in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}) is infinite and hence ker U_{α} can not be congruence. Thus we restrict α to be rational with $N = N(\alpha) \in \mathbb{N}$. Since the Wohlfahrt level of ker U_{α} is given by n = 4N, one finds in the case where ker U_{α} is a congruence group

(6.58)
$$\Gamma(4N) \le \ker U_{\alpha}.$$

From this one determines easily those values of α for which ker U_{α} is indeed a congruence subgroup. Since the index of $\Gamma(4N)$ in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), given by

(6.59)
$$[PSL(2,\mathbb{Z}):\Gamma(4N)] = \frac{1}{2}(4N)^3 \prod_{p|4N} (1-\frac{1}{p^2}),$$

must then be larger or equal to the index $\mu(\alpha)$ of ker U_{α} in PSL(2, \mathbb{Z}), one finds

(6.60)
$$\frac{1}{2}(4N)^3 \prod_{p|4N} (1 - \frac{1}{p^2}) \ge 24N^3$$

or

(6.61)
$$\frac{4}{3} \prod_{p|4N} (1 - \frac{1}{p^2}) \ge 1.$$

Obviously this inequality holds if and only if $N = 2^k$, $0 \le k < \infty$.

LEMMA 6.6. If $N(\alpha) = 2^k$ and ker U_{α} is a congruence group then ker $U_{\alpha} = \Gamma(2^{k+2})$ and hence $A_{\alpha} \cong \Gamma(4)/\Gamma(2^{k+2})$.

PROOF. For α with $N(\alpha) = 2^k$ the group A_{α} has order 2^{3k} . If ker U_{α} is a congruence subgroup then $\Gamma(2^{k+2}) \leq \ker U_{\alpha}$. On the other hand one finds for the index $[\Gamma(4):\Gamma(2^{k+2})]$ by a simple calculation $[\Gamma(4):\Gamma(2^{k+2})] = 2^{3k}$. But $\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(2^{k+2}) \geq \Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha} \cong A_{\alpha}$ and hence $2^{3k} = |A_{\alpha}| \leq |\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(2^{k+2})| = 2^{3k}$. Therefore ker $U_{\alpha} = \Gamma(2^{k+2})$.

Next we show, that only for k = 0, 1, 2 the principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(2^{k+2})$, that means, only $\Gamma(4)$, $\Gamma(8)$ and $\Gamma(16)$ can coincide with the group ker U_{α} . This follows immediately from the following lemma

LEMMA 6.7. The group
$$\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(2^{k+2})$$
 is abelian iff $k=0,1,2$.

Since we did not find this result, which is presumably well known, in the literature, we give a simple proof. PROOF. For $h_i = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + 4a_i & 4b_i \\ 4c_i & 1 + 4d_i \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma(4), i = 1, 2$, one finds for $h_{i,j} := h_i h_j, i, j = 1, 2$:

$$h_{1,2} = h_{2,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 + 4(a_1 + a_2) & 4(b_1 + b_2) \\ 4(c_1 + c_2) & 1 + 4(d_1 + d_2) \end{pmatrix} \mod 16$$

respectively

But $4|(a_i + d_i), i = 1, 2$, and therefore $h_{1,2} = h_{2,1} \mod \Gamma(16)$. Hence $\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(2^{k+2})$ is abelian for k = 0, 1, 2. To show that this group is not abelian for $k \ge 3$ take the two elements $h_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 4 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ respectively $h_2 = \begin{pmatrix} -1 & 0 \\ 4 & -1 \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma(4)$. Then one finds $h_{1,2}^{-1}h_{2,1} = \begin{pmatrix} 17 & 64 \\ 64 & 241 \end{pmatrix}$ which does not belong to $\Gamma(2^{k+2})$ for $k \ge 3$.

Next we show, that $\Gamma(16)$ cannot be a subgroup of ker U_{α} . Assume this is the case. By lemma 6.6 ker $U_{\alpha} = \Gamma(16)$. But according to (6.37) $U_{\alpha}(g_5) = U_{\alpha}(g_3)$ for the generators g_3 and g_5 of $\Gamma(4)$ in (6.33) and hence $g_3^{-1}g_5 \in \ker U_{\alpha}$. But $g_3^{-1}g_5 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 8 \\ 8 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \mod 16$ which does not belong to $\Gamma(16)$. Hence ker $U_{\alpha} > \Gamma(16)$, which is a contradiction. This proves

COROLLARY 6.1. The group ker U_{α} can be a congruence group only for $N(\alpha) = 1, 2$.

Let then α_1 and α_2 denote the α -values for which $N(\alpha_1) = 1$ and $N(\alpha_2) = 2$, respectively. We are going to prove ker U_{α_1} and ker U_{α_2} are indeed congruence groups. To this end recall that $\Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha} \cong A_{\alpha}$. Since A_{α_1} is the trivial group, ker $U_{\alpha_1} = \Gamma(4)$ and hence is a congruence group.

It remains to prove the congruence property of ker U_{α_2} . Since $N(\alpha_2) = 2$ and $U_{\alpha_2}(\Gamma(4)) = A_{\alpha_2}$, it follows that $(U_{\alpha_2}(g))^2 = id$ for all $g \in \Gamma(4)$ and hence $g^2 \in \ker U_{\alpha_2}$ for all $g \in \Gamma(4)$. But $g^2 \in \Gamma(8)$ for $g \in \Gamma(4)$. Therefore also the group $\langle g^2 : g \in \Gamma(4) \rangle$ generated by $\Gamma(4)^2$ belongs to ker U_{α_2} and hence ker $U_{\alpha_2} \cap \Gamma(8) \neq \emptyset$. Next we will show that the groups $\Gamma(8)$ and ker U_{α_2} coincide. To this end we note that $A_{\alpha_2} \cong C_2 \times C_2 \times C_2$ where C_2 is the cyclic group of order 2. But $A_{\alpha_2} \cong \Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha_2}$ under the following well known natural group isomorphism $i_1 : \Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha_2} \to A_{\alpha_2}$:

(6.62)
$$\iota_1(g \ker U_{\alpha_2}) = U_{\alpha_2}(g).$$

136 6. CONGRUENCE PROPERTIES OF THE INDUCED REPRESENTATION

Thereby the generators $A_i(\alpha_2), 1 \leq i \leq 3$ of the group A_{α_2} in (6.34)-(6.36) are mapped to the generators $g_i \ker U_{\alpha_2}, 1 \leq i \leq 3$ of the group $\Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha_2}$ with the $\{g_i\}$ as given in (6.33). Indeed, from equation (6.33) it follows that $g_3 = g_5 \mod \ker U_{\alpha_2}$ and $g_4 = g_2^{-1}g_1^{-1} \mod \ker U_{\alpha_2}$. On the other hand, it is known [**33**], that $\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(8)$ is also isomorphic to $C_2 \times C_2 \times C_2$. Indeed, the elements $g_i\Gamma(8), 1 \leq i \leq 3$ with $\{g_i, 1 \leq i \leq 5\}$ defined in (6.33), are generators of the group $\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(8)$: we know that the five elements $g_i, 1 \leq i \leq 5$, generate the group $\Gamma(4)$ and fulfill $g_i^2 = id \mod \Gamma(8)$. Furthermore one checks easily that $g_3 = g_5 \mod \Gamma(8)$ and $g_4 = g_2^{-1}g_1^{-1} \mod \Gamma(8)$. Therefore the following map of their generators defines an isomorphism i of the two groups $\Gamma(4)/\ker U_{\alpha_2}$ and $\Gamma(4)/\Gamma(8)$

(6.63)
$$i: \Gamma(4) / \ker U_{\alpha_2} \to \Gamma(4) / \Gamma(8)$$

defined by

(6.64)
$$i(g_i \ker U_{\alpha_2}) = g_i \Gamma(8)$$

Indeed we have

 $i(g_i \ker U_{\alpha_2} g_j \ker U_{\alpha_2}) = i(g_1 g_2 \ker U_{\alpha_2}) = g_i g_j \Gamma(8) = g_i \Gamma(8) g_j \Gamma(8).$

Since any $g \in \Gamma(4)$ can be expressed both modulo ker U_{α_2} and modulo $\Gamma(8)$ in terms of the generators $g_i, 1 \leq i \leq 3$, this implies for all $g \in \Gamma(4)$ $i(g \ker U_{\alpha_2}) = g\Gamma(8)$. For $g \in \ker U_{\alpha_2}$ this implies necessarily $g \in \Gamma(8)$, that means $\Gamma(8) \geq \ker U_{\alpha_2}$. Similar arguments as in lemma 6.6 then imply, that the two groups must coincide. This shows

COROLLARY 6.2. The kernel ker U_{α_2} is given by $\Gamma(8)$ and hence U_{α_2} is a congruence representation.

From the definition of the generators of A_{α} in (6.34), (6.35), and (6.36) it is clear that $N(\alpha_1) = 1$ iff $8\pi i\alpha_1 = 2\pi ik$ iff $\alpha_1 = (1/4)k$ with $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Moreover, $N(\alpha_2) = 2$ iff $8\pi i\alpha_2 = \pi ik$ iff $\alpha_2 = (1/8)k$ with $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ and (k, 2) = 1.

Summarizing our discussion of the congruence properties of the kernels ker U_{α} we have

THEOREM 6.8. The representation $U_{\alpha}, 0 \leq \alpha \leq 1/2$ is congruence only for the α -values $0, \frac{1}{8}, \frac{2}{8}, \frac{3}{8}, \frac{4}{8}$. Moreover we have

(6.65) $\ker U_0 = \ker U_{\frac{2}{8}} = \ker U_{\frac{4}{8}} = \Gamma(4),$

respectively

(6.66)
$$\ker U_{\frac{1}{8}} = \ker U_{\frac{3}{8}} = \Gamma(8).$$

This obviously implies the well known result of Newman et al. on the congruence properties of the character χ_{α} . Contrary to the latter case, where the principal congruence groups $\Gamma(2d)$, d = 1, 2, 4, 8appear as subgroups for the congruence character χ_{α} , for the induced representation U_{α} only the two groups $\Gamma(4)$ and $\Gamma(8)$ are related to the congruence properties of its representations.

6.4. Zograf's criterion

As mentioned in Section 6.1, for $\alpha = \frac{n}{d}$, $n, d \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ with (n, d) = 1we have $\Gamma_d = \ker \hat{\chi}_{\alpha}$ and Γ_d is congruence only for d = 1, 2, 4, 8. In terms of α -values in [0, 1), this means that $\ker \hat{\chi}_{\alpha}$ is congruence for $\alpha = \frac{j}{8}$ with $j = 0, 1, \ldots, 7$.

The fact that Γ_d for large *d* cannot be a congruence subgroup follows already from a remarkable geometric result of Zograf (see [**61**], [**62**]), based on previous results of Yang and Yau [**59**] respectively Hersh [**22**], together with Selberg's famous theorem on small eigenvalues (see [**50**]). We recall here these two Theorems of Zograf [**60**] and Selberg [**50**]:

THEOREM 6.9 (Zograf). Let Γ be a discrete cofinite subgroup of PSL(2, \mathbb{R}) of signature $(g; m_1, m_2, \ldots, m_k; h)$ and $a(F_{\Gamma})$ be the hyperbolic area of its fundamental domain F_{Γ} . Assume $a(F_{\Gamma}) \geq 32\pi(g+1)$. Then the set of eigenvalues of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma)$ in (0, 1/4) is not empty and

(6.67)
$$\lambda_1 < \frac{8\pi(g+1)}{a(F_{\Gamma})}$$

where $\lambda_1, 0 < \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2, \dots$ is the first non zero eigenvalue of $\Delta(\Gamma)$.

THEOREM 6.10 (Selberg). Let Γ be a congruence subgroup of the projective modular group $PSL(2,\mathbb{Z})$. Then

(6.68)
$$\frac{3}{16} \le \lambda_1$$

where the notations are the same as in Theorem 6.9.

Selberg's eigenvalue conjecture for congruence subgroups is indeed $\lambda_1 \geq 1/4$ (see [50]). Notice, that the interval [0, 1/4) is free from the continuous spectrum of the automorphic Laplacian $\Delta(\Gamma)$ which is real and given by $[1/4, \infty)$. If we assume now Γ to be congruence and that $a(F_{\Gamma}) \geq 32\pi(g+1)$ then the following inequality holds

(6.69)
$$3/16 < \frac{8\pi(g(\Gamma)+1)}{a(F_{\Gamma})}$$

If we assume that for a given d the group Γ_d , which has vanishing genus g, is a congruence subgroup, we get from (6.69) that $3/16 < 8\pi/2\pi d$ or d < 64/3 and hence there are only finitely many d with Γ_d a congruence subgroup.

The groups $\Gamma_0(4)$ and $\Gamma(2)$ are conjugate, that is,

(6.70)
$$\Gamma_0(4) = V_2 \Gamma(2) V_2^{-1}, \quad V_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Also for the characters χ_{α} and $\widehat{\chi}_{\alpha}$ we have

(6.71)
$$\chi_{\alpha}(\gamma) = \widehat{\chi}_{\alpha}(V_2^{-1}\gamma V_2), \quad \gamma \in \Gamma_0(4).$$

Hence ker $\chi_{\alpha} = V_2 \ker \widehat{\chi}_{\alpha} V_2^{-1}$. Thus for $\alpha = \frac{n}{d}$ with $(n, d) = 1, n, d \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ we have

(6.72)
$$\ker \chi_{\alpha} = V_2 \Gamma_d V_2^{-1}.$$

From this it follows that ker χ_{α} has the same genus and area of its fundamental domain as Γ_d . Then from Zograf's criterion it follows that ker χ_{α} is congruent only for finitely many α in the interval [0, 1).

Contrary to χ_{α} , the congruence property of U_{α} can not be detected by Zograf's criterion. Indeed, according to Theorem 6.5 we have (6.73)

$$a(F_{\ker U_{\alpha}}) = \frac{\pi}{3}(24N^3), \quad 32\pi(g(\ker U_{\alpha}) + 1) = 32\pi(2 + 2N^3 - 3N^2).$$

Then one can easily check that the group ker U_{α} does not satisfy Zograf's assumption.

Bibliography

- J. L. Alperin and Rowen B. Bell. Groups and representations, volume 162 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.
- [2] Nalini Anantharaman. Eigenfunctions of the Laplacian on negatively curved manifolds: a semiclassical approach. In *Homogeneous flows, moduli spaces and arithmetic*, volume 10 of *Clay Math. Proc.*, pages 389–438. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010.
- [3] A. O. L. Atkin and J. Lehner. Hecke operators on Γ₀(m). Math. Ann., 185:134– 160, 1970.
- [4] Andrew Baker. Representation of finite groups, 2011. http://www.maths.gla.ac.uk/ ajb.
- [5] E. Balslev and A. Venkov. The Weyl law for subgroups of the modular group. Geom. Funct. Anal., 8(3):437–465, 1998.
- [6] Tim Bedford, Michael Keane, and Caroline Series, editors. Ergodic theory, symbolic dynamics, and hyperbolic spaces. Oxford Science Publications. The Clarendon Press Oxford University Press, New York, 1991. Papers from the Workshop on Hyperbolic Geometry and Ergodic Theory held in Trieste, April 17–28, 1989.
- [7] J. Bolte and S. Johansson. A spectral correspondence for Maaß waveforms. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 9(6):1128–1155, 1999.
- [8] Roelof Bruggeman, Markus Fraczek, and Dieter Mayer. Perturbation of zeros of the Selberg zeta function for $\Gamma_0(4)$. *Exp. Math.*, 22(3):217–242, 2013.
- [9] Daniel Bump. *Lie groups*, volume 225 of *Graduate Texts in Mathematics*. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004.
- [10] Tullio Ceccherini-Silberstein, Daniele D'Angeli, Alfredo Donno, Fabio Scarabotti, and Filippo Tolli. Finite Gelfand pairs: examples and applications. In *Ischia group theory 2008*, pages 7–41. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, NJ, 2009.
- [11] Tullio Ceccherini-Silberstein, Fabio Scarabotti, and Filippo Tolli. Harmonic analysis on finite groups, volume 108 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2008. Representation theory, Gelfand pairs and Markov chains.
- [12] C.-H. Chang and D. Mayer. Thermodynamic formalism and Selberg's zeta function for modular groups. *Regul. Chaotic Dyn.*, 5(3):281–312, 2000.
- [13] Cheng-Hung Chang. Die Transferoperator-Methode fuer Quantenchaos auf den Modulflaechen Γ\H. PhD thesis, Clausthal University, 1999.
- [14] Cheng-Hung Chang and Dieter H. Mayer. An extension of the thermodynamic formalism approach to Selberg's zeta function for general modular groups. In *Ergodic theory, analysis, and efficient simulation of dynamical systems*, pages 523–562. Springer, Berlin, 2001.
- [15] Anton Deitmar and Joachim Hilgert. A Lewis correspondence for submodular groups. Forum Math., 19(6):1075–1099, 2007.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [16] L. D. Faddeev. The eigenfunction expansion of Laplace's operator on the fundamental domain of a discrete group on the Lobačevskiĭ plane. *Trudy Moskov. Mat. Obšč.*, 17:323–350, 1967.
- [17] Chelo Ferreira and José L. López. Asymptotic expansions of the Hurwitz-Lerch zeta function. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 298(1):210–224, 2004.
- [18] Markus Fraczek. Character deformation of the Selberg zeta function for congruence subgroups via the transfer operator. PhD thesis, Clausthal University, 2012.
- [19] Markus Fraczek and Dieter Mayer. Symmetries of transfer operator for $\Gamma_0(n)$ and a character deformation of the Selberg zeta function for $\Gamma_0(4)$. Algebra and number theory, 6(3):587–610, 2012.
- [20] Benedict H. Gross. Some applications of Gel'fand pairs to number theory. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 24(2):277–301, 1991.
- [21] Jacques Hadamard. Les surfaces courbures opposes et leurs lignes godsiques. Journal de mathmatiques pures et appliques : ou recueil mensuel de mmoires sur les diverses parties des mathmatiques / publi par Joseph Liouville, 4:27–73, 1898.
- [22] Joseph Hersch. Quatre propriétés isopérimétriques de membranes sphériques homogènes. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B, 270:A1645–A1648, 1970.
- [23] Henryk Iwaniec. Spectral methods of automorphic forms, volume 53 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second edition, 2002.
- [24] Gordon James and Martin Liebeck. *Representations and characters of groups*. Cambridge University Press, New York, second edition, 2001.
- [25] Gareth A. Jones and John S. Thornton. Automorphisms and congruence subgroups of the extended modular group. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 34(1):26–40, 1986.
- [26] Ian Kiming, Matthias Schütt, and Helena A. Verrill. Lifts of projective congruence groups. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 83(1):96–120, 2011.
- [27] Neal Koblitz. Introduction to elliptic curves and modular forms, volume 97 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1993.
- [28] Peter D. Lax and Ralph S. Phillips. Scattering theory for automorphic functions. Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1976. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 87.
- [29] J. Lewis and D. Zagier. Period functions for Maass wave forms. I. Ann. of Math. (2), 153(1):191–258, 2001.
- [30] D. Mayer. Thermodynamic formalism and quantum mechanics on the modular surface. In *From phase transitions to chaos*, pages 521–529. World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1992.
- [31] Dieter Mayer, Arash Momeni, and Alexei Venkov. Congruence properties of induced representations and their applications. 2012.
- [32] Dieter H. Mayer. The thermodynamic formalism approach to Selberg's zeta function for PSL(2, Z). Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 25(1):55–60, 1991.
- [33] Donald L. McQuillan. Classification of normal congruence subgroups of the modular group. Amer. J. Math., 87:285–296, 1965.
- [34] M. H. Millington. Subgroups of the classical modular group. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 1:351–357, 1969.
- [35] Toshitsune Miyake. Modular forms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989. Translated from the Japanese by Yoshitaka Maeda.
- [36] T. Mühlenbruch. Hecke operators on period functions for $\Gamma_0(n)$. J. Number Theory, 118(2):208–235, 2006.

140

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [37] Morris Newman. On a problem of G. Sansone. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 65:27–33, 1964.
- [38] Morris Newman. Classification of normal subgroups of the modular group. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 126:267–277, 1967.
- [39] Frank W. J. Olver, Daniel W. Lozier, Ronald F. Boisvert, and Charles W. Clark, editors. *NIST handbook of mathematical functions*. U.S. Department of Commerce National Institute of Standards and Technology, Washington, DC, 2010. With 1 CD-ROM (Windows, Macintosh and UNIX).
- [40] R. Phillips and P. Sarnak. The spectrum of Fermat curves. Geom. Funct. Anal., 1(1):80–146, 1991.
- [41] R. Phillips and P. Sarnak. Cusp forms for character varieties. Geom. Funct. Anal., 4(1):93–118, 1994.
- [42] Markus Pueschel. Ueber $\Gamma_0(n)$ und seinem normalizator in den rationalen Faellen. PhD thesis, University of Karlsruhe, 1994.
- [43] Robert A. Rankin. Modular forms and functions. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1977.
- [44] Paulo Ribenboim. *Classical theory of algebraic numbers*. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2001.
- [45] David Ruelle. Dynamical zeta functions for piecewise monotone maps of the interval, volume 4 of CRM Monograph Series. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1994.
- [46] David Ruelle. Dynamical zeta functions and transfer operators. Notices Amer. Math. Soc., 49(8):887–895, 2002.
- [47] David Ruelle. Thermodynamic formalism. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2004. The mathematical structures of equilibrium statistical mechanics.
- [48] G. Sansone. Problemi insoluti nella teoria delle sostituzioni lineari. In Conv. Internaz. di Teoria dei Gruppi Finiti (Firenze, 1960), pages 5–19. Edizioni Cremonese, Rome, 1960.
- [49] A. Selberg. Harmonic analysis and discontinuous groups in weakly symmetric Riemannian spaces with applications to Dirichlet series. J. Indian Math. Soc. (N.S.), 20:47–87, 1956.
- [50] Atle Selberg. *Collected papers. Vol. I.* Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1989. With a foreword by K. Chandrasekharan.
- [51] Atle Selberg. *Collected papers. Vol. II.* Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991. With a foreword by K. Chandrasekharan.
- [52] Jean-Pierre Serre. Linear representations of finite groups. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. Translated from the second French edition by Leonard L. Scott, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Vol. 42.
- [53] S. Sternberg. Group theory and physics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- [54] Andreas Johan Strombergsson. Studies in the analytic and spectral theory of automorphic forms. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2001. Thesis (Ph.D.)– Uppsala Universitet (Sweden).
- [55] A. B. Venkov. Spectral theory of automorphic functions. Proc. Steklov Inst. Math., (4(153)):ix+163 pp. (1983), 1982. A translation of Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. 153 (1981).
- [56] A. B. Venkov and P. G. Zograf. Analogues of Artin factorization formulas in the spectral theory of automorphic functions associated with induced representations of Fuchsian groups. *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, 259(3):523–526, 1981.
- [57] Alexei B. Venkov. Spectral theory of automorphic functions and its applications, volume 51 of Mathematics and its Applications (Soviet Series). Kluwer

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Academic Publishers Group, Dordrecht, 1990. Translated from the Russian by N. B. Lebedinskaya.

- [58] Klaus Wohlfahrt. An extension of F. Klein's level concept. Illinois J. Math., 8:529–535, 1964.
- [59] Paul C. Yang and Shing Tung Yau. Eigenvalues of the Laplacian of compact Riemann surfaces and minimal submanifolds. Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4), 7(1):55–63, 1980.
- [60] P. Zograf. A spectral proof of Rademacher's conjecture for congruence subgroups of the modular group. J. Reine Angew. Math., 414:113–116, 1991.
- [61] P. G. Zograf. The spectrum of automorphic Laplacians in spaces of parabolic functions. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 269(4):802–805, 1983.
- [62] P. G. Zograf. Small eigenvalues of automorphic Laplacians in spaces of cusp forms. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 134:157–168, 1984. Automorphic functions and number theory, II.

Eidesstattliche Erklärung

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides Statt, dass ich die bei der Fakultät für Naturund Materialwissenschaften der Technischen Universität Clausthal eingereichte Dissertation selbständig und ohne unerlaubte Hilfe verfasst und die benutzten Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben habe.

Clausthal-Zellerfeld, den 12 Dezember 2013

Arash Momeni

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides Statt, dass die eingereichte Dissertation weder in Teilen noch in Ihrer Gesamtheit einer anderen Hochschule zur Begutachtung vorliegt oder vorgelegen hat und dass ich bisher noch keinen Promotionsversuch unternommen habe.

Clausthal-Zellerfeld, den 12 Dezember 2013

Arash Momeni